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PART |
Iltem 1. Business.

INTRODUCTION

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. was incorporated in the State of Texas in 1994. Throughsidiases,as of Decemberl,

2011, weown andbr operate a total of twentyree adult nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment, aesint and bar
operations. Eighof our clubs operate under the name "Rick's Cabaret"; four operate underthe@ @ame& b Ony x 0, up s
that welcome all customers but cater especially to urban professionals, businessmen and professional athletes; sidavperate |
the name " XTC Cabaret"; one club operatdashmagse DpPpeohsksdas
Cabareb pne operates asdiGakaroeter B a e sAddaianallyi Weecowp & 40%iinterest @ T h e
Ma n s inghiclub in Austin, Texas.Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Dallas and ForthVdexas;
Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesota; New York, New York; Miami Gardens, Florida; Philadelphia, Petiasylva
and Indianapolis, IndianaVe also own a media division, including the leading trade magazine serving thdiwaitidollar

adult nightclubs industry. Included in the media division are two industry trade shows, two other industry trade pulaliwhtions
more than 25 industry websites.

We also own and operate premiere adult entertainment Internet websites. Our onttagnergat sites are, CouplesTouch.com,
NaughtyBids.com and xxxpassword.com. CouplesTouch.com is a personals site for those in the swinging lifestyl
Naughtybids.com is our online adult auction site. It contains consimitiated auctions for items sucts adult videos, apparel,
photo sets, adult paraphernalia and other erotica. There are typically approximately 10,000 active auctions at thisgiiterat a
time. We charge the seller a fee for each successful auction. The site xxxPassword.com fhdturestant licensed through
Voice Media, Inc. Most of our sites use proprietary software platforms written by us to deliver the best experienceeto the us
without being constrained by efifie-shelf software solutions.

Our website addresswvw.Rickscom We al so have an wivwricksisvestor.cendUpanaviitteni réqeest, we
make available free of charge our Annual Report on Fori{,1Quarterly Reports on Form 49, Current Reports on Formkg

and all amendments to those reports amsas reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with the SEC
under Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Information contained in the website shall not be construed as part of
Form 10K.

References tor fitultse 0 BdRME&kdys®d® aore to Rickds Cab awned 85%nt er
owned and 51%wned consolidated subsidiaries.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES --NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaret in 1983 in Houston, Texas, tkesgopyhtclub business was characterized by
small establishments generally managed by their owner. Operating policies of these establishments were often laxgetke sites
generally dimly lit, standards for performers' personal appearance and perseeadityot maintained and it was customary for
performers to alternate between dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and quality of bar service was low and food was
frequently offered. Music was usually "hard" rock and roll, played at a loud leval digc jockey. Usually, only cash was
accepted. Many businessmen felt uncomfortable in such environments. Recognizing a void in the market-fdass fadult
nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabaret to target the more affluent customer by providingqua goality entertainment
environment. The following summarizes our areas of operation that distinguish us:

Female Entertainer®Our policy is to maintain high standards for both personal appearance and personality for the
entertainers and waitresses. €@fual importance is a performer's ability to present herself attractively and to talk with

customers. We prefer that performers who work at our clubs be experienced entertainers. We make a determination a
whether a particular applicant is suitabledsh®n such factors of appearance, attitude, dress, communication skills and
demeanor. At all clubs, except for our Minnesota location, the entertainers are independent contractors. We do 1
schedule their work hours.

ManagementWe often recruit staffrbm inside the topless industry, as well as from large restaurant and club chains, in
the belief that management with experience in the sector adds to our ability to grow and attract quality entertaine
Management with experience is able to train newuiecfrom outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/Employeéd/e have a policy of ensuring that our businesses are operated in conformity with local,
state and federal laws. In particular, we have a "no tolerance" policy as to illegal drug useonndrthe premises.
Posters placed throughout the nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do periodic unannounced searches of the entertain
lockers. Entertainers and waitresses who arrive for work are not allowed to leave the premises without thenpefmissio
management. If an entertainer does leave the premises, she is not allowed to return to work until the next day. \
continually monitor the behavior of entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensure that proper standards of behaviol
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observed.

Compliance Policies/Credit CardgVe review all credit card charges made by our customers. We have in place a formal
policy requiring that all credit card charges must be approved, in writing, by management before any charges &
accepted.Management is tiaed to review credit card charges to ensure that the only charges approved for payment ar
for food, drink and entertainment.

Food and Drink We believe that a key to the success of our branded adult nightclubs is a qualitjagsdbar and
restaurat operation to compliment our adult entertainment. We employ service managers who recruit and trail
professional wait staff and ensure that each customer receives prompt and courteous service. We employ chefs v
restaurant experience. Our bar managedeminventory and schedule bar staff. We believe that the operation of a first
class restaurant is a necessary component to the operation of a premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of pren
wine, liquor and beer in order to ensure that the custgraeceives and obtains good value. At most locations, our
restaurant operations provide business lunch buffets and full lunch and dinner menu service with hot and cold appetize
salads, seafood, steak, and lobster. An extensive selection of qualiyisvanailable at most locations.

Controls Operational and accounting controls are essential to the successful operation of a cash intensive nightclub ¢
bar business. At each location, we have designed and implemented internal procedures andtacantsoie the
integrity of our operational and accounting records. Wherever practicable, we separate management personnel from
cash handling so that management is isolated from and does not handle any cash. We use a combination of accour
and physial inventory control mechanisms to maintain a high level of integrity in our accounting practices. Information
technology plays a significant role in capturing and analyzing a variety of information to provide management with th
information necessary tdfieiently manage and control each nightclub. Deposits of cash and credit card receipts are
reconciled each day to a daily income report. In addition, we review on a daily basis (i) cash and credit card summari
which tie together all cash and credit cér@hsactions occurring at the front door, the bars in the club and the cashier
station, (i) a summary of the daily bartenders' chegkreports, and (iii) a daily cash requirements analysis which
reconciles the previous day's cash on hand to the reggimts for the next day's operations. These daily computer reports
alert local management of any variances from expected financial results based on historical norms. We conduct
monthly overview of our financial condition and operating results.

Atmosphee. We maintain a high design standard in our facilities and decor. The furniture and furnishings in the
nightclubs create the feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound system provides quality sound at levels at wh
conversations can still take placeneTenvironment is carefully monitored for music selection, entertainer and waitress
appearance and all aspects of customer service on a continuous basis.

VIP Room In keeping with our emphasis on serving the uggret of the businessmen's market, someunfnightclubs
include a VIP room, which is open to individuals who purchase memberships. A VIP room provides a higher level c
service and luxury.

Advertising and Promotion Our consumer marketing strategysasmemiere pcC
entertainment facilities that provide exceptional topless entertainment in a fun, yet discreet, environment. We use
variety of highly targeted methods to reach our customers including hotel publications, local radio, cable televisiol
newsmpers, billboards, taxdab reader boards, and the Internet, as well as a variety of promotional campaigns. Thes
campaigns ensure that the Rick's Cabaret name is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amount of media exposarethe years in national magazines such as
Playboy, Penthouse, Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time Magazine, Time Out New York, and Tex
Mont hly Magazine. Segments about Rick's havel 2a0ior,ed" Eoxr
and "Inside Edition", and we have provided entertainers forFRayiew features as well. Business stories about Rick's
Cabaret have appeared in Forbes, Newsweek, The Wall Street Journal, The New York Times, The New York Post, L
Angeles Times, Houston Business Journal, and numerous other national and regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs wunder the name fARi @kMimeafbhsh ar €
Minnesota; New YorkNew York; Austin, Texasand Indianapolis, IndianaVe also operate a similar nightclub under the name
AfTootsiedbs Cabareto in Miami Gardens, Fl orida. We alimo o
Charlotte, North Carolinammed one i n Phil adel phia, Pennsylvania), as #fAClI

cater especially to urban professionals, businessmen and professional athletes. Additionally, we own six nightclulsetes oper
AXTC Cabar etonio, Austin, alas, FoktWorth and two in Houston, Texas, oneth@ per at es aacne ACa
that operates as "Cabaret North" in Fort Wathd one t hat operates as fAWealsobowavn C
40% interest irone club thatopr at es as fAnfTAugin. We sold buo Nedv Orleans, Louisiana nightclub in March
1999, but it continues to use the name fARickds Cabareto



RECENT TRANSACTIONS
2009 Acquisition

On September 30, s2aM®kYd,ditarey ,CaRnCdamE)N&sert ai nment (North
100% of the outstanding common shares &NIowhadndaperdtes &dho r t
adult entertainment cabaretdo)kndwrcad e di@ab br3elt6 MNamptelr d «
Texas 76106The Company paid the Sellers total aggredhkete co
Purchase Price was payable as follows:

() $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for th@yment of outstanding liabilities;

(i) $2 million to the Sellers; and

(iii) $160,000 to be held in an escrow account to pay any liabilities or obligations of CNI which were
incurred but unpaid as of Closing and to be held in connection with the outd¢@®etain pending
litigation.

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered into a five yearQdonpetition Agreement, and CNI obtained a consent
from its landlord to the sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellers to the purchaser and entered intmdunrati the
lease agreement by and betwe@NI and the landlord of the premises where the Club is located.

2010 Acquisitions

Joy of Austin

On December 18, 2009, our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment (33@)l , l nc. (ARCd 0) ,
closed a Stock Purchase Agreement (the ARCI Purchase
Joy Club of Austin, BbBc.dnyed3oOment andl Nort RANHII 0) ,
outstanding stock of JOY and 4986the outstanding stock of NIIIJOY is the owner and operator of the adult nightclub
business known as AJoy of Austind which | eases and oc¢
IH-3 5, Round Rock, T e x a sNIll 7s8ttge 6owner (of thee ProfieRy angh leasds ythi )Property to
JOY. Contemporaneously with entry into the RCI Purchase Agreement, RClI and Karamalegos entered into &
Assignment and Assumption Agreement (the fedtsRGlgsright nt
to acquire the remaining 49% of the outstanding stock of JOY and the remaining 51% of the outstanding stock of NI
which right Karamalegos obtained pursuant to a Purchase Agreement entered into between Karamalegos, Evang
Polycrate (APolycrateso), JOY and NI I I Pgrdudne to thé® BCI yParchase e s
Agreement and the Assignment Agreement, RCI acquired and owns 100% of the outstanding stock of JOY and 100%
the outstanding stock of NIII.

Pursuant tofte terms of the RCI Purchase Agreement and the Assignment Agreement, RCI paid aggregate considerati
of $4.6 million, plus assumption of a promissory note with First State -Bamky | o r (the HAPurcha:
acquisition of JOY and NIll.The Purchse Price was payable as follows:

0] $1.8 million by wire transfer to Karamalegos;
(i) $880,000 by wire transfer to Polycrates;

(iii) $530,000 evidenced by a five year secured promissory note to Karamalegos, bearing interest at the rate
4.75% per anum and payable in 60 equal monthly installments of principal and interest of $9,941 (the
i Kar amal e gThe Kafdroalegos Nate is secured by a third lien in favor of Karamalegos against the
Property and improvements located thereon and a secormhligihof the shares of JOY and NIll;

(iv) $1.3 million evidenced by a five year secured promissory note to Polycrates, bearing interest at the rate
4.75% per annum and payable in 60 equal monthly installments of principal and interest of $24,759 (th
APol ycr atThe Policmtess Nobe .is individually guaranteed by Karamalegos for the first thirty (30)
months and is secured by a second lien in favor of Polycrates against the Property and improvements loca
thereon and a first lien on all of tkkares of JOY and NIlI; and

(v) The assumption of a Promissory Note dated September 10, 2004, in the original principal amount of $850,00
6



executed by NIIl and payable to First State Bamlylor, which Promissory Note had a current balance of
$652,489 a of the date of acquisition, and is secured by the Property and improvements located iezeon.
note bears interest at the rate of 7.25%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest of 3% 761.
interest rate is subject to adjustment®eptember 10, 2014 to the rate of prime plus 2.5 note is due and
payable on or before September 10, 2019.

Also pursuant to the agreements described above, Karamalegos entered into a four y@ampletition Agreement
with RCI, and Polycrates esred into a three year NgBompetition Agreement with RCI.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the acquisitic
date.

(in thousands)

Net current assets $ 44
Property and equipent and other assets 2,95¢
Non-compete agreement 20C
Goodwill 2,031
SOB licenses 2,004
Deferred tax liability (2,030
Net assets acquired $ 5,20:

The Company incurred approximately $43,000 in legal costs assouititethe acquisition, which are included in legal
and professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offset to the deferred tax liability recorded as a result of the diffetence in
basis of the net assets for tax and financial purpoBes. goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposéke
results of operations of this entity are included in
2009.Thisagui si ti on was made to further the Companybds gr
contribute to the CoRrpf@maydsdts of gperations ltpge nagt been peovided, as.the amounts
were not deemed material to thensolidated financial statements.

This c¢club is currentiNorthApsint at ed as Rickds Cabaret

Fort Worth Gentl emends Club

On June 1, 2010, our wholly owned subsidiary RCI En:
completedthe@aqui si ti on of certain assets (the fAPurchased /
(the fiSellero) pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agr eeme
LLC, a Texas limited liability cmpany (fAVol dar o) , Sherri Mofid (AMofid

Noryi an ( fiiédurchasa Agte¢ment was executed and closed on June 1S2l20.owned and operated
an adult entertainment cabasr eGl ukbnoo wnt haes fnCourbtd )Wo rltohc
Fort Worth, Texas 76106 (the fAReal Propertyo).

At closing, Purchaser paid Seller $2.2 million cash by svaesfer for the Purchased Asselurchaser also entered into

two lease agreements, a leagerae e ment f or t he Real Property with Vol c
for uni mproved property adjacent to the Real PrEagher t
lease agreement has a term of five years with areeyiear option to extend at the discretion of PurchaSach lease
agreement also grants Purchaser an option to purchase the respective properties from Voldar afmiidiofiser may
exercise the options to purchase any time after the twelfth montbelfote the expiration of the lease agreements
(including their optional extensions).he option to purchase the Real Property and the option to purchase the Adjacent
Property must be exercised contemporaneously. The purchase price upon exercise tdrii® pprchase the Real
Property will range from $4.5 million to $5.2 million during the fiyear term.The purchase price upon exercise of the
option to purchase the Adjacent Property will range from $500,000 to $575,000 during theafivterm.

Also pursuant to the agreements described above, Mofid and Voldar entered inteyearfivdorCompetition
Agreement with RCI.



The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the acquisitic
date.

(in thousands)

Net current assets $ 42
Property and equipment and other assets 1,301
Norn-compete agreement 20C
Goodwill 613
Net assets acquired $ 2,15¢

The Company incurred approximately $23,000 in legal costiassd with the acquisition, which are included in legal
and professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The results of operations of this entity are inell ude
2010Thi's acquisition was made to further the Companyé
contribute to the CoRrpf@maydsdts of gperations ltpge nagt been provided, as.the amounts
were not deemenhaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

This club is currently operated as XTC Cabareort Worth.

Golden Productions JGC Fort Worth, LLC

On July 16, 2010, our wholly owned subsi di ampletedrtizl Ent
acquisition of certain assets (the fiPurchased Asset so
liability company (AGolden Productionso) and VCG Hol d

Asset Purchase Aggeme nt (t he APurchase Agreemento) betWeen Pur.
Purchase Agreement was executed and closed on July 16, @0lden Productions owned and operated an adult

entertainment cabaret prevFousl|l Wokbhbwn(abefid&@hubhops L
Cemetery Road, Fort Wor t hVYCGHewhedshe imgrévémerits of thenPeemiBeB,r e mi s €
including the building ahhle fCiIxuhiries ndw eo ffid rmptred eane nfi

At closing, Purchaser paid aggregate consideration to Golden Production and/or VCGH for the Purchased Assets of
$1 million cash by wirdgransfer and (2) 467,497 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001, of \Gtthaser also
entered into a gund lease agreement for the land where the Premises is located with Bryan S. Foster, the current owr
of the | and (t heThefltaseafAgreeménghasademe af fivedypars with four options to extend the lease
for five years, at the discreti of PurchaserThe initial monthly rental rate during its term is $20,000 per momntie

Lease Agreement also grants Purchaser or its assigns an option to purchase the land from Mr. Foster, which option r
be exercised any time after the 12th annisgrdate of the Lease Agreement and before the expiration of the Lease
Agreement (including its option term) at a purchase price of fair market value, but in no event less than $3 million.

Also at closing, Purchaser entered a Mimpetition Agreement witMr. Foster, pursuant to which Mr. Foster agreed

(1) not to engage, directly or indirectly, in any adult entertainment or any business or enterprise which is the same as,
substantially the same as the Club, within a radius of 50 miles of Fort Woras,Texcluding Jaguars Gold Club Fort
Worth #2 and the club operated in Dallas, Texas, doing business as Jaguars Gold Club and (2) not to solicit, divert,
hire away, or attempt to solicit, divert, or hire away from the employment of the Club any pergtmyed by the Club

or any entertainer who has performed at the Cilite term of the Not€Competition Agreement ends on September 17,
2012.

The terms and conditions of the Purchase Agr ee mdhet w
parties.

This club is currentlpperated a€abaret East.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the acquisitic
date.

(in thousands)

Property and equipment $ 1,95¢
Non-compete agreement 5C




Net assets acquired $ 2,00¢

The Company incurred approximately $22,000 in legal costs associated with the acquisition, which are included in lec
and professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statémpetations.

The results of operations of this entity are include
2010Thi' s acquisition was made to further the Companyé
cont i bute to the Comp @mfgrdasresalta of nperatigrns hapeenot beem @aviged, as the amounts
were not deemed material to the consolidated financial statements.

2011 Acquisitions and Openings

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)

OnJanuary 3, 2011, the Companydés wholly owned subsid
Diningd) and RCI Hol di ngs, l nc. (ARCI 0) compl eted t he
the DallasFt. Worth Internabnal Airport and the purchase of the underlying real property, for an aggregate price of
$4,565,000. A Purchase Agreement and ButlotSuit Turnkey Construction Agreement had previously been entered
into in December 2009, which agreement provided fer ¢bnstruction of the new club and the purchase of the real
property located at 15000 Airport Freeway (Highway 183), Fort Worth, Tekads.i s ¢l ub is current
Cabaret.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair valassigned to the assets and liabilities at the purchase

date.
(in thousands)
Building, land and contents $ 3,12¢
Equipment and signs 289
SOB license 1,150
Net assets $ 4,56¢

Gold Club of Indy, LLC

The Compang s wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Servic
(ARCI Hol dingso), entered into a Third Amendment to |
the Gold Club of Estate gf Albett Pf€iffer dece@aseéddoand Lort Piedfer, personal representative of
the Estate of Albert Pfeiffer, deceased, and sole member of GCl.owned and operated an adult entertainment cabaret
known as @AThe Gol d CIl ub ,oad, Ihd@amapotiselddiara t46225&15also dwaefl thy edl t e
property where The Gold Club is locateihe Amended Purchase Agreement transactions closed on April 22, 2011,
whereby (i) RCI Indiana acquired from Pfeiffer all assets which are used for tmessisif The Gold Club for $825,000

and (ii) RCI Holdings acquired from GCI the real property where The Gold Club is located, including the improvement:
thereon, for $850,000, for total aggregate consideration of $1,657,000, net of certain accruedtprasefhis club is
currently operated as Rickds Cabaret.

Also at closing of the Amended Purchase Agreement, Lori Pfeiffer entered into-@dvigpetition Agreement with RCI
Indiana, pursuant to which she agreed not to compete with The Gold Club witlémdpolis, Indiana or any of the
adjacent counties for a period of five years.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the purcha

date.
(in thousands)
Building, land and contents $ 75C
Equipment and furniture a0
Noncompete 10C
Goodwill 708
Net assets $ 1,648
The results of operations of this entity are include
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2011.Thisacgi si ti on was made to further the Companyds gro
contribute to the CoRrpf@maydsdts of gperations ltpge ngt been peovided, as.the amounts
were not deemed material to the solidated financial statements.

Schiekés Palace Royal e

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Services MN (
entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Classic Affairs, Inc., a Minnegota coat i on ( ACIl as si
Hol ding Corp., a Col o rChlskio is a wholly @wnad sulsidiary(ofi WCGIE Enal owned and
operated an adul t entertainment cabaret known as fi
Minneapols, Minnesota.The parties amended the Asset Purchase Agreement on April 14, 2011 and on May 31, 2011
which amendments reduced the purchase price and extended the closing date of the trahbacfisset Purchase
Agreement, as amended, closed JulyZZR,1, whereby RCI Minnesota acquired substantially all of the assets associated
or used in connection with the operation of TBsdubisk 6s
currently operated as Downtown Cabaret.

In connection wh the Asset Purchase Agreement, on March 22, 2011, our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc
(ARCI Holdingso), entered into a Real Estate Purchase
l'iabil ity 1 i mitreedetpda)r,t nwehrischhi po wnfieddt ht hSet r e a | pr oplhe ty
parties amended the Real Estate Purchase Agreement on May 31, 2011 and on July Z&he&EhI Estate Purchase
Agreement, as amended, closed on July 28, 2011, wherédly RHol di ngs acquired the r
Palace Royale is located for a purchase price of $3,250,000.

At closing of the above transactions, VCGH, Classic, Troy Lowrie (the Chief Executive Officer of VCGH) and Micheal
Ocello (the Chief Operatg Officer and President of VCGH) each entered into a-Slompetition Agreement pursuant

to which each agreed not to compete with RCI Mi nnesot
five years in the seven county, twiity metropolitan area of MinneapoliSt. Paul, Minnesota.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the purcha

date.
(in thousands)
Building, land and contents $ 3,80
Equipment ad furniture 526
Noncompete 300
Goodwill 2,027
Net assets $ 6,12

The results of operations of this entity are Juy@§ ude
2011.This acquisition was made to futhe t he Companyés growth objective of
contribute to the Cohbhrof@maydsdts of@erations ltpge ngt been peovided, a&s.the amounts
were not deemed material to the consolidated financial stateme

Fiscal Year2012 Acquisition
The New West

Our wholly owned subsidiary, R@i ni ng Services (Tarrant County), ol)nc.
enterednto an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membership Withd=r e d Mc Dscenld ledr 0()fi f or t
of 100% of the membership wunit sl1229T CBWawhédland OiMted ab Bdalt ( |
entertainment ThdaNew Weasntwh lascdted at 12 2. 9he Adteemept B o
for Purchase andale of Membership Units closed October 5, 2011, whereby RCI Tarrant Cacatyredthe
membership units of 12291 CBWdr the purchase price of $380,000he Company now operates the BYOB club as
ATemptationso.

Silver City

On November 17, 2011, ourwhd vy owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Seryv
Dining Services (Il nwood), Il nc. (ARCI l nwoodo) and RC
into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Mr. Thanasi Mantass @8re St ar , l nc. (AGreen St a
(AFine Diningo) and Blue Star Entertainment Il nc. (AB

cabaret known as fASilver City Cabar et xa®75240. EieetDmidg hasta 7 '
concession to provide alcohol sales and services to Green Star at the Silver City Cabaret. Blue Star holds a licens
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operate an adult cabaret at 1449 Inwood Road, Dallas, Texas 75247. Mr. Mantas owns 100% of the stenkSt&Gre
Fine Dining and Blue Star.

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Mr. Mantas will sell all the stock of Green Star, Fine Dining and Blue Star
RCI Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Inwood, respectively, for the aggregate purchase price oD8$2,50the form of

three promissory notes. Each of the promissory notes will be payable over 11 years and have an adjustable interest ra
5.5%. The transaction will close on the later of January 2, 2012 or five business days after the purchadetaeae o

all required licenses needed to operate the Silver City Cabaret and an adult cabaret to be located at 1449 Inwood Roa

Adel phi Group Ltd. (AAdel phi 6) owns the real propert
Partnershif APNYX0) owns certain real properties at and ad
Stock Purchase Agreement, Adelphi and PNYX each entered into a real estate purchase agreement with our whe
owned subsidiary, CRCHoHdIi dgsdy, WherebyvwR(i) Adel phi F
Silver City Cabaret is located to RCI Holdings for the aggregate purchase price of $6,500,000, including $300,000
cash and $6,200,000 in the form of an adjustable 5.5% psomyi note that is payable over 11 years, and (i) PNYX
agreed to sell certain real properties at and adjacent to 1449 Inwood Road for the aggregate purchase price of $3,500,
including $1,200,000 in cash and $2,300,000 in the form of an adjustablepBoBdissory note that is payable over 11
years. The real estate transactions are to close contemporaneously with the Stock Purchase Agreement.

At closing of the above transactions, Mr. Mantas will enter into aGlampetition Agreement providing for hiro thot
compete with our subsidiaries by owning, participating or operating an establishment featuring adult entertainme
within Dallas County and all contiguous counties.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES --INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT WEB SITES

In 1999, we began attunternet website operations. Our xxxPassword.com website features adult content licensed through Voic
Media, Inc. We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a dating site catering to those in the swinging lifestyle. In 2005 \
purchased CouplesClick.net, angpeting site of our CouplesTouch.com site, in order to broaden our membership throughout the
United States. As part of this transaction, we organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operates as an additionrtebur inte
operations, to acquire CouplegBlnet from ClickMatch, LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouch.com to RCI
Dating and, as a result of the transaction, we obtained an 85% interest in RCI Dating, with the remaining 15% owned
ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated tlugh the purchase of traffic from thiprty adult sites or Internet domain owners and the
purchase of banner advertisements or "key word" searches from Internet search engines. In addition, the bulk of aw traffic n
comes from search engines on whice wd o n 6 t pay for preferential l' i stings. T
Internet that compete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES --INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SITES

Our adult auction site features erotica and other adult materidlarhpurchased in a bask method. We charge the seller a fee

for each successful auction. Where previously we operated six individual auctions sites, now we have combined these into
main site, NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name recogwiithis site. The site contains new and used adult oriented
consumer initiated auctions for items such as adult videos, apparel, photo sets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBids.com
approximately 10,000 items for sale at any given time. NaughtyBidsoffems third party webmasters an opportunity to create
residual income from web surfers through the NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third party webmasters a percentage
every closing auction sale in which the buyer originally came from tHeasdfivebmaster's site. There are numerous auction sites
on the Internet that offer adult products and erotica.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES i MEDIA GROUP

Our Media Group is the leading trade magazine serving the-hillith dollar adult nightclubs industry. llso owns two
industry trade shows, two other industry trade publications and more than 25 industry websiteded in 1991, Exotic Dancer

is the only national business magazine serving the 3,800 adult nightclubs in North America, which have\amues e excess

of $2 billion, according to AVN Media Network. ED Publications currently publishes the Annual VIP Guide of adult nightclubs,
touring entertainers and industry vendors, &hgb Bulletin a bimonthly news magazine for the owners and operatbadult
nightclubs. ED Publications also produces the an@ggitlemen's Club Owners Expitve only national convention for the adult
nightclub and feature entertainment industries, and offers the exclEBIVEIP Club Cardhonored at more than 850 didu
nightclubs.

COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment business is highly competitive with respect to price, service and location. All of o
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nightclubs compete with a number of locally owned adult clubs, some of whose names may have nantenebad equals

that of ours. While there may be restrictions on the location ofcaléed "sexually oriented business"”, there are low barriers to
entry into the adult cabaret entertai nment anbaarrkeettd., T'hXT
and AClub Onyx0 are proprietary. We believe that the <co
entertainment environment that we have created will allow us to compete effectively in the industry anthevithiies where we
operate. The sexually oriented business industry is highly competitive with respect to price, service and locations déisewell a
professionalism of the entertainers. Although we believe that we are well positioned to competduiyctbese can be no
assurance that we will be able to maintain our high level of name recognition and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws affecting our business adtiviiteaicular, in Texas the authority to issue

a permit to sell alcoholic beverages is governed by th
authority, in its discretion, to issue the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MixethBe Permit and a Late Hour Permit at
numerous Texas locations. Previously subject to annual renewal, the TABC recently changed to a renewal every two ye:
provided we have complied with all rules and regulations governing the permits. Renewatmftaspsubject to protest, which

may be made by a law enforcement agency or by the public. In the event of a protest, the TABC may hold a hearing a which ti
the views of interested parties are expressed. The TABC has the authority after such hetriilsgum a renewal of the protested
alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's has never been the subject of a protest hearing against the renewal of Permits.Ndirthesota,
Carolina, Nevada, Pennsylvania, Florida, and New York have similar laws that mayhknatvailability of a permit to sell
alcoholic beverages or that may provide for suspension or revocation of a permit to sell alcoholic beverages in cert:
circumstances. It is our policy, prior to expanding into any new market, to take steps to engli@nce with all licensing and
regulatory requirements for the sale of alcoholic beverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements affecting the sale of alcoholic beverages, in many cities where we eperate,

location of a topless cabaret is subject to restriction by city ordinance. For example, topless nightclubs in Houston, Texas .
subject to "The Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the location of an adult cabaret (¢
i L e g ackedifys" herein). The prohibitions deal generally with distance from schools, churches, and other sexually orient
businesses and contain restrictions based on the percentage of residences within the immediate vicinity of the setadhlly orie
businessThe granting of a Sexually Oriented Business Permit is not subject to discretion; the Business Permit must be grante
the proposed operation satisfies the requirements of the Ordinance. In all states where we operate, management beliaves we
comgdiance with applicable city, county, state or other local laws governing the sale of alcohol and sexually oriented businesses

TRADEMARKS

Qur rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Ri ck' s Caablishedce t " ,
under common law, based upon our substantial and continuous use of these tradenames in interstate commerce since at le
early as 1987. We have registered our service mark, i R
Trademak Office. We have also obtained service mark registrations from the Patent and Trademark Officdif& thE K 6 S 6

"RI CK'"S CABARET", ACLUB ONYXo, AXTC CABARETO and AEXOTI C
numerous tradenames associated with media division. There can be no assurance that the steps we have taken to protect ot
service marks will be adequate to deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 201bur subsidiariefiad appoximately 1,20mployees, of which approximately 120e in management
positions, including corporate and administrative and Internetatipns and approximately 1,080 which are engaged in
entertainment, food and beverage service, including bartenders, waitresdesntartainers. None of our employees are
represented by a union. We consider our employee relations to be good. AdditionallySepterhber 30, 201we had
independent contractor relationships with approximately 3,000 entertainers, who @&w@eled and conduct business at our
locations on a noexclusive basis as independent contractors. Our entertainers in Minneapolis, Minnesota act as commissior
employees. We believe that the adult entertainment industry standard of treating entertaimeseasi@mt contractors provides

us with safe harbor protection to preclude payroll tax assessment for prior years. We have prepared plans that wel believe
protect our profitability in the event that the sexually oriented business industry is requatiestates to convert entertainers who

are now independent contractors into employees.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of our common stock. Duri
the fiscal year ende8eptember 30, 2011ve purchased 283,3&hares of common stock in the open kearat prices ranging

from $6.45 to $8.9@&nd during the fiscal year ended Septembe28@( 57,450 shares of common stock in the open market at
prices ranging from $5.98 to6$11. Under he Boards authority, we have $2,141,95@llion remaining to purchase additional
shares.During the fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, no shares were purchased under this program.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in oucommonstock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below
before deciding to purchase shares of common stock. If any of the events, contingencies, circumstances or conditions
described in the risks below actually ocgurar business, financial condition or results of operations could be seriously harmed.
The trading price of ourtommonstock could, in turn, decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Requlatoryetimiaties Which May Affect Our Ability to Continue Operations of
Existing Nightclubs, Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to local, state and federal regulations. Our business is regulatecbhinndakal

and state liquor licensing, local ordinances and state and federal time place and manner restrictions. The adult entertainr
provided by our nightclubs has elements of speech and expression and, therefore, enjoys some protection ursier the |
Amendment to the United States Constitution. However, the protection is limited to the expression, and not the conduct of
entertainer. While our nightclubs are generally well established in their respective markets, there can be no assioeale that
state and/or federal licensing and other regulations will permit our nightclubs to remain in operation or profitabléunethe f

Beginning January 1, 2008ur Texas clubs became subject to a new state law requiring each club to collect an§5ay a
surcharge for every club visitoA | awsuit was filed by the Texas Entertaini
we are a member, alleging the fee amounts to be an unconstitution&naMarch 28, 2008, a State District Court Judge in
Travis County, Texas ruled that the new state law violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution dackis there
invalid. The judgeds order enjoined the TBheat st dtreomapgmddlednd i i
Texas, when cities or the State give notice of appeal, it supersedes and suspends the judgment, including
injunction. Therefore, the judgment of the District Court cannot be enforced until the appeals are contlstedthe
suspension of the figment, the State has opted to collect the tax pending the outcome of itshappaletn no affirmative action

to enforce that decisiorOn June 5, 20009, the Court of Appeals for th
judgment thattt Sexually Oriented Business (AS. O.B.0) Felbutoni ol
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversed the judgment of the Court of Appeals, ruling that the SOB Fee does
violate the First Amendment the U.S. Constitution, and remanded the case to the District Court to determine whether the fes
violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEAhasappeatdthe Texas Supreme Court's decision to the U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutionality of the fe
under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitutiodlditionally, our claims regarding the Texas Constitution have not yet been
addressed by the courtg/e do not plan to make any payments of these taxes while the case is pending in the courts, Howeve
we will continue to accrue and expense the potential tax liability on our finataiaments, so any ultimate negative ruling will

not have any effect on our income statement and will only affeataslr positionif the decision is ultimately foundhiour favor,

as we believe it will be, then we will have a déimae gain of the entire amount previously expensed.

We have paid the tax for the first five calendar quarters under protest and expensed the tax in the accompanying consolida
financial statments, except for two locations in Dallas where the taxes have not been paid dreaccruing and expensing the
liabilty. For t he subsequent quarters, waaccreedtheder, bltdid motfpaytthe St&el hi r
of September 30, 201 ive haveapproximately $6.8nillion in accrued liabilities for this taxWe havepaid more than $2 million

to the State of Texas since the inception of the @ax.Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit against the iStateich we

raise additional challenges to the statute imposing the fee oratakdemand repayment of the taxeShe courts have not yet
addressed these additional claimsf t he St at e ds oawemme auccessfulinthevanamihgylitighfieni clrent
amount paid under protest would be repaid or applied to future admission tax and other Texas state tax liabilities.

Our Business has been, and may Continue to be, Adversely Affected by Conditions in the U.S. Financial Markets and Econol
Condiions Generally

Our nightclubs are often acquired with a purchase price based on historical EBITDA. This results in certain nightclogsacarryi
substantial amount of intangible value, mostly allocated to licenses and goodwill. Generally acceptedngcpdnoiples
require an annual impairment review of these indefinite lived assets. If difficult market and economic conditions caattithge ov
next year and/or we experience a decrease in revenue at one or more nightclubs, we could incur a @@clinriendf one or
more of our nightclubs. This could result in future impairment charges of up to the total value of the indefinite ligghléntan
assets.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Business Expansion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insufficient to satisfy our working capital and capital expenditure requirerethts, we
need to raise additional funds through the public or private sale of our equity or debt securities. The timing and auapunt of
capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including cash flow and cash requirements for nightclub acdfuisitions
additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownearshgnof ou
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existing shareholders will be reduced. We cannot assure you that additional financing will be available on terms fausrable to
at all. Any future equity financing, if available, may result in dilution to existing shareholders, and debhfnéhaiailable,

may include restrictive covenants. Any failure by us to procure timely additional financing will have material adverse
consequences on our business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclub Entertainment Industrychay Affect Our Ability to Operate Profitably or
Acquire Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these competitors may have greater financial and management resources than we
Additionally, the industry is subject to unpredictabtampetitive trends and competition for general entertainment dollars. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to remain profitable in this competitive industry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restadrand bar industry has been an extremely volatile industry. The industry tends to be
extremely sensitive to the general local economy, in that when economic conditions are prosperous, entertainment indu:
revenues increase, and when economic conditiomsuafavorable, entertainment industry revenues decline. Coupled with this
economic sensitivity are the trendy personal preferences of the customers who frequent adult cabarets. We continuausly mot
trends in our customers' tastes and entertainmergrprefes so that, if necessary, we can make appropriate changes which will
allow us to remain one of the premiere adult cabarets. However, any significant decline in general corporate conditions
uncertainties regarding future economic prospects thattadfnsumer spending could have a material adverse effect on our
business. In addition, we have historically catered to a clientele base from the upper end of the market. Accordingly, furtt
reductions in the amounts of entertainment expenses alloweddastins from income under the Internal Revenue Code of
1954, as amended, could adversely affect sales to customers dependent upon corporate expense accounts.

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenues fribra sale of alcoholic beverages. States in which we operate may have laws
which may limit the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beverages or which may provide for suspension or revoeation of
permit to sell alcoholic beverages in certain circtamses. The temporary or permanent suspension or revocations of any such
permits would have a material adverse effecbonrevenues, financial condition and results of operations. In all states where we
operate, management believes we are in compliatitteapplicable city, county, state or other local laws governing the sale of
alcohol.

Activities or Conduct at our Nightclubs may Cause us to Lose Necessary Business Licenses, Expose us to Liability,ror Resul

Adverse Publicity, Whichmay Increased@io st s and Divert Management 6s Attenti or

We are subject to risks associated with activities or conduct at our nightclubs that are illegal or violate the ternssasf/ nece
business licenses. Our nightclubs operate under licenses follgexiented businesses and some protection under the First
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. While we believe that the activities at our nightclubs comply with the terms ofreed) lice
and that the element of our business that constitutes an erpredsiree speech under the First Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution is protected, activities and conduct at our nightclubs may be found to violate the terms of such licenses or
unprotected under the U.S. Constitution. This protection is limited t@xpeession and not the conduct of an entertainer. An
issuing authority may suspend or terminate a license for a nightclub found to have violated the license terms. llliggaloactivi
conduct at any of our nightclubs may result in negative publicititigation. Such consequences may increase our cost of doing
busi ness, divert management és attention from our busdi nes
potential investors, thereby lowering our profitability and our sfrate.

We have developed comprehensive policies aimed at ensuring that the operation of each nightclub is conducted in conforme
with |l ocal, state and feder al |l aws. We have a fdAnotnuallyl er a
monitor the actions of entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensure that proper behavior standards are met. However,
policies, no matter how well designed and enforced, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatstide polic
objectives are being achieved. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems and policies, there can baa® assur
that our policies will prevent deliberate acts by persons attempting to violate or circumvent them. Notwithstandiegahey for

limitations, management believes that our policies are reasonably effective in achieving their purposes.

Our Acqui sitions may Resul't in Disruptions in our Busi ne:

We have made and may continue to make atipms of complementary nightclubs, restaurants or related operations. Any
acquisitions will require the integration of the operations, products and personnel of the acquired businesses andytaadraini
motivation of these individuals. Such acquisite may di srupt our operations amddy di v
operations, which could impair our relationships with current employees, customers and partners. We may also incisugebt or is
equity securities to pay for any future acatiisis. These issuances could be substantially dilutive to our stockholders. In addition,
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our profitability may suffer because of acquisiti@tated costs or amortization, or impairment costs for acquired goodwill and
other intangible assets. If managemisninable to fully integrate acquired business, products or persons with existing operations,
we may not receive the benefits of the acquisitions, and our revenues and stock trading price may decrease.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Conid Listing Requirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently |isted for trading on the N
listing requirements or risk delisting which would have an adverse effect on dnedridf our securities are ever-ligted from
NASDAQ, they may trade on the ovllec ount er mar ket , which may be a | ess ||

ability to trade or obtain quotations of the market value of shares of our comrokimstold be severely limited because of lower
trading volumes and transaction delays. These factors could contribute to lower prices and larger spreads in the pittaad ask
for our securities. There is no assurance that we will be able to maintaplianoee with the NASDAQ continued listing
requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increased Costs as a Result of Operating as a Public Company, and Our Managem
Will Be Required to Devote Substantial Time to New Compliance Initiatives

In the future, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. The Satharlee y Act of 2002
Oxl ey Acto), as well as new rules subsequently i mpl emen
companies, ricluding requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel will need
devote a substantial amount of time to these new compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations witiiincrease
legal and finan@l compliance costs and will make some activities more-tiomsuming and costly. For example, we expect
these new rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liabilit
insurance, and we may bequired to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbané3xley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal controls for financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedureahticular, commencing in fiscal 2008, we have been required to perform
system and process evaluation and testing on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, dsyrequirec
Section 404 of the Sarban€xley Act. Then, beginnig in fiscal 2010, our independent registered public accounting firm has
reported on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the(®ddyanes
Act. In the future, our testing, or the subsequentingsby our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal
deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses. Our compliance v
Section 404 will require that we incur substantial accogreixpense and expend significant management efforts. Moreover, if we
are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, or if we or our independent registered puk
accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal colstrover financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses,
the market price of our stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or atibrgr regul
authorities, which would require additional finan@ald management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adequate for personal injury and property damage to which the business of
Company may be subject. However, there can be no assurance that uninsured liabditeess of the coverage provided by
insurance, which liabilities may be imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statute or similar "Dram Shop" statutes
common law theories of liability in other states where we operate or expand. For example, abe'Omn Shop" statute
provides a person injured by an intoxicated person the right to recover damages from an establishment that wrongfully ser
alcoholic beverages to such person if it was apparent to the server that the individual being soldr ggoxeded with an
alcoholic beverage was obviously intoxicated to the extent that he presented a clear danger to himself and others. Ais employ
not liable for the actions of its employee who eserves if (i) the employer requires its employees tendta seller training
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee has actually attended such a training program; and (iii) the employer has |
directly or indirectly encouraged the employee to violate the law. It is our policy to require thaveis sdralcohol working at

our clubs in Texas be certified as servers under a training program approved by the TABC, which certification gives statutc
immunity to the sellers of alcohol from damage caused to third parties by those who have consurokd lade@inages at such
establishment pursuant to the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code. There can be no assurance, however, that uninsuredyiabilities
not arise in the markets in which we operate which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Cabaret",
under the common law based upon our substantial and continuous use of these tafemenstate commerce since at least as
early as 1987. "RI CK'"S AND STARS DESI GN" |l ogo, "RI CK" S

AEXOTI C DANCERO are registered through service mark r ec¢
Office. We also own the rights to numerous tradenames associated with our media division. There can be no assurance that t
stepswe havetaken to protect its Service Marks will be adequate to deter misappropriation of its protected intellectual propert
rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to protect our rights from infringement, which may be costly and timegonsu
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The loss of the intellectual property rights owned or claimed by us could have a material adverse affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in one or more series, to fix
number of shares constituting any such series, and to fix the rights dadkepces of the shares constituting any series, without
any further vote or action by the stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock by the Board of Directors could adsetrsely afi
the rights of the holders @bmmonstock. For example, such issuanarild result in a class of securities outstanding that would
have preferences with respect to voting rights and dividends and in liquidation oveontingon stock, and could (upon
conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of the rights appurtenaatitamonstock. The Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock could
discourage potential takeover attempts and could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company through merger, tel
offer, proxy contest or otherwise by making such attempts more difficulthi@\aec or more costly. There are no issued and
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock; there are no agreements or understandings for the issuance of Preferred Stock, ar
Board of Directors has no present intention to issue Preferred Stock.

We Do Not Anicipate Paying Dividends on Common Shares in the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying any dividends in
foreseeable future. We expect that future earnings, if atiyheviused for working capital and to finance growth.

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress Our Stock Price

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of substantial amounts of our common stockdn the pu
market,or as a result of the perception that these sales could occur. In addition, these factors could make it more diffiwult for us
raise funds through future offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuate in the Future

Thetrading price of our securities may fluctuate significantly. This price may be influenced by many factors, including:

our performance and prospects;

the depth and liquidity of the market for our securities;

sales by selling shareholders of shares issued or issuable in connection with certain convertible notes;
investor perception of us and the industry in whichowerate;

changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recommendations by analysts;

general financial and other market conditions; and

domestic economic conditions.

O¢ O¢ O¢ O¢ O¢ O¢ O«

Public stock markets have experienced, and may experience, extreme price and tiaiegwolatility. These broad market
fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our securities.

Our Management Controls a Significant Percentage of Our Current Qutstanding Common Stock and Their Interests May Conf
With Those of Our Sharelders

As of Decemberl, 2011 our Directors and executive officers and their respective affiliates collectively andciatyedwned
approximatelyl5.3% of our outstanding common stock, including all warrants exercisable within 60 days. This coioceatrat
voting control gives our Directors and executive officers and their respective affiliates substantial influence overeagy matt
which require a shareholder vote, including, without limitation, the election of Directors, even if their interestnifialywith

those of other shareholders. It could also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of or otherwi
discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us. This could have a material adverse bfeotdret

price of our common stock or prevent our shareholders from realizing a premium over the then prevailing market priges for th
shares of common stock.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large part, amimeg the services of Mr. Eric Langan, our President and Chief Executive
Officer. Mr. Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive knowledge of our industry. While Mr. Langan has no present plar
leave or retire in the near future, his loss could havegative effect on our operating, marketing and financial performance if we
are unable to find an adequate replacement with similar knowledge and experience within our industry. We mamtainifey
insurance with respect to Mr. Langan. Although Manban is under an employment agreement (as described herein), there car
be no assurance that Mr. Langan will continue to be employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could have a negative effect on
operating, marketing, and financing performance.
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Cumulaive Voting is Not Available to Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors is expressly denied in our Articles of Incorporation. Accordingly, theoholder
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock may elect all o u r Directors. M
percentage ownership of our outstanding common stock helps enable them to maintain their positions as such and tHus contr
our business and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liability and Have Regtat Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide, as permitted by governing Texas law, that our Directors and officeos shall
be personally liable to us or any of our stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciay airector or officer,

with certain exceptions. The Articles further provide that we will indemnify our Directors and officers against expenses an
liabilities they incur to defend, settle, or satisfy any civil litigation or criminal action broughtsighiem on account of their
being or having been its Directors or officers unless, in such action, they are adjudged to have acted with gross pegligenct
willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articles may have the effect ofirgfdthe likelihood of derivative litigation against
Directors and officers, and may discourage or deter stockholders or management from bringing a lawsuit against Directors
officers for breach of their duty of care, even though such an action, ésafof might otherwise have benefited us and our
stockholders.

The Articles provide for the indemnification of our officers and Directors, and the advancement to them of expensegionconnec
with any proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent gexdhby Texas law. The Articles include related provisions meant to
facilitate the indemnitee's receipt of such benefits. These provisions cover, among other things: (i) specificationtioddhef me
determining entitlement to indemnification and the ctd® of independent counsel that will in some cases make such
determination, (ii) specification of certain time periods by which certain payments or determinations must be made and actic
must be taken, and (iii) the establishment of certain presumptidagor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officersratithg
persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been advised that in the opittien Sefcurities and Exchange
Commission, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Other Risk Factors May Adversely Affect Our Financial Performance

Other risk factors that could cseiour actual results to differ materially from those indicated in the forwakihg statements by
affecting, among many things, pricing, consumer spending and consumer confidence, include, without limitation, changes
economic conditions and financiahd credit markets, credit availability, increased fuel costs and availability for our employees,
customers and suppliers, health epidemics or pandemics or the prospects of these events (such as reports on aviameflu), con:
perceptions of food safetghanges in consumer tastes and behaviors, governmental monetary policies, changes in demograpl
trends, terrorist acts, energy shortages and rolling blackouts, and weather (including, major hurricanes and regiooahshow st
and other acts of God.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive office is located at 10959 Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, and consists of a 9,000 square
office/warehouse building. We purchased this property in December 209812739, payable with $86,279 cash at closing and
$426,460 in a promissory note carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The monthly payment is $3,88eptasndier 30,

2011, the balancef the mortgage was $287,576he last mortgage payment is due2idl9. We believe that our offices are
adequate for our present needs and that suitable space will be available to accommodate our future needs.

We own the real property for seveacations of Rick's Cabaret (in Houstakystin, San Antonio, Minneapoljdndianapolisand

Fort Worth(2)), three Club Onyx locations, (in Houston, Dallas and Philadelphia) and three locations of XTC (in Austin, Dallas
and San Ardnio). We also own the property for a location in Minneapaligerating as Downtown Cabaréh Houston, we also
ownonepropertywhich isleased ta thirdparty We | ease property for our XTC Sout |
CabaretNew York Club Onyx Charlotte, Cabaret NortRdrt Worth), XTC Cabaret (Fort Worth), Cabaret East (Forth) and
Tootsiebs Cabaret ( Mi ami Gardens, Florida) |l ocations.
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PROPERTIES WE OWN:

10.

Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, has an aggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In December 2004,
paid off the old mortgage and obtained a new onh wiit initial balance of $1.3 million and an interest rate of 10% per
annum over a 10 year term. The money received from this new note was used to finance the acquisition of the New Y
club. As ofSeptember 30, 201thebalance of the mortgage was.$million. During fiscal year 2011we paid $12,256

in monthly principal and interest payments. The monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 year amortization schedt
The last mortgage payment is due in 2015.

The Rick's Cabaret, located on North BBlive in Houston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In November 2004, we
obtained a mortgage using this property as collateral. The principal balatheerngfw mortgage was $1 milliowith an
annual interest rate of 10% over a 10 year term. The momeyes from this new note was used to finance the
acquisition of the New York club. As &eptember 30, 2011the balace of the mortgage was $881,99%e monthly
payment of principal and interest is $10,056. The monthly payment is calculated based grea 2amortization
schedule. The last mortgage payment is due in 2014.

The Rick's Cabaret located in Minneapolis has 15,400 square feet of space. The balarSeptesntifer 30, 2011tha
we owe on the mortgage is $Irllion and the interest rais 9%. We pay $7,500 in monthly interest payments. The last
mortgage payment is due in 2013.

The property for our XTC Cabaret nightclub in Austin has 8,600 square feet of space, which sits on 1.2 acres of land.
August 2005, we restructured the ngage by extending the terto 10 years. The balance tifis mortgage as of
September 30, 201i% $131,079with an interest rate of 11% and monthly principal and interest payments of $3,445. We
also have an additional mortgage on the property which weneltan November 2004. The principal balance of the
additional mortgage was $900,000, with an annual interest rate of 11% over a 10 year term. In June and July 2005,
obtained additional funds in the amount of $200,000, which we combined with the $9@@h@igage, and in August
2005 we restructured this additional mortgage. The monthly principal and interest payment is $15,08eptsmber

30, 2011 the balance of thedditional mortgage was $571,99e last payments for both mortgages are due1%.20

We own the property for our XTC Cabaret nightclub in San Antonio, which has 7,800 square feet of space. In Novemb
2004, we obtained a mortgage using this property as collateral. The principal balance of the new mortgage was $590,(
with an anmial interest rate of 10% over a 10 year term. The money received from this new note was used to finance t
acquisition and renovation of the New York club. AsSefptember 30, 2011he balane of this mortgage was $499,402

The monthly principal and intest payment is $5,694. The last mortgage payment is due in 2014.

We own an 8,000 square foot Houston propeittych is being prepared to opes @ non sexualtpriented nighttub. In
November 2004, this property, together with property in Austin, wsasl as additional collateral to secure the $900,000
mortgage referenced in paragraph 4 above.

On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. completed the acquisition of real property located a
9009 Airport Blvd., Houston, Texashere we previously operated Club Onyx South and Divas Latinas. Pursuant to the
terms of the agreement, we paid a total sales price of $1,300,000, which consisted of $500,000 in cash and 160,
shares of our restricted common stodkis property is cuently leased by a tenant for $®0 per month through
November 2012.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of the interest in the improved real property upc
whi ¢ h o tSan ARtonD ks dosated. The total purchasefor the business and real property was $2.9 million.
Under terms of the agreement, the Company paid the owners of the club and property $600,000 in cash at the time
closing and signed promissory notes for the remaining bal@ihéenote was paid offi 2011.

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary, acquired the real property located at 7101 Calmon
Fort Worth, Texas for a total purchase price of $2.5 million which consisted of $100,000 in cash and $2.4 millior
payablein a six year promissory note to the sellers which will accrue interest at the rate of 7.25% for the first two years
8.25% for years three and four and 9.25% thereafter. The promissory note is secured by a Deed of Trust and Secu
Agreement. Further, ® Holdings, Inc. entered into an Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement with the sellers
to assume the | ease agreement for the real property
September 30, 201 1he balancef the promissoy note was $1.4nillion.

As part of the acquisition of The End Zone in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, we acquired 51% of the issued and outstand
partnership interest of the partnership that owns the real property at 2908 S. Columbus Blvd., Ribij&Eipsylvania.

At closing, we paid a purchase price of $3.5 million in cash for the partnership intdrestgproperty is currently
operated as Club Onyx.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

As part of the transaction to acquire Hotel Development, Ltd. which operated the #xeClib in Dallas, RCI
Holdings, Inc. acquired the related real property located at 8550 N. Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas from DF
Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company. As consideration for the purchase of the real property, RCI Holdings,
Inc. paid total consideration of $5.6 million, which was paid (i) $4.3 million, payable $610,000 in cash and $3.6 million
through the issuance of a five year promissory note and (ii) the issuance of 57,918 shares of our restricted common st
to be valued a$23.30 per share ($1.4 million). The promissory note bears interest at a varying rate at the greater of (
two percent (2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) seven anehalfigoercent (7.5%), and is guaranteed by us and Eric
Langan, our Chief Executive Offic, individually. As ofSeptember 30, 2011the balancef the promissory note was
$3.3million. This property is currently operated as XTC Cabaret.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Club Il in Dallas, we acquired the real property latdt@857 Wire Way

Place (at Northwest Highway), Dallas, Texas from Wire Way, LLC, a Texas limited liability company. Pursuant to a
Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 10, 2008, we paid total consideration of $6 million, which was p
$1.6 milion in cash and $4.4 million through the issuance of a five (5) year promissory note. The promissory note bea
interest at a varying rate at the greater of (i) two percent (2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) sevenhatidpeneent
(7.5%), which is guanteed by us and by Eric Langan, our Chief Executive Officer, individually. Agpfember 30,

2011, the balancef the promissory note was $fllion. This property is currently operated as Club Onyx.

As part of the acquisition of Joy Club of gtin on December 18, 2009, we acquired the real property located on IH 35 in
Austin, Texas from North IFBB 5 | nv e st me n thsconnéction with thédipgurchade wé issued two promissory
notes to the sellers and assumed another bank fibeenotesaggregated $2.5 million at the date of purchalee notes

bear interest at rates ranging from 4.75% to 7.25% and are payable at an aggregate of $42,461, including interest,
month. As of September 30, 201the balance of the promisganotes was aaggregate of $1.&illion. This property

is currently operated as Rickdés Cabaret.

In April 2010, we purchased the land and building which is occupied by one of our clubs in Austin, Texas (formerly
Ri ck 6s amxi no@la 4d0840owfed club investmapn We paid $2.5 million for the property, which was paid
$300,000 in cash and though the issuance of a $2.2 million promissory note. The note bears interest at the prime rate
two points and is payable over 36 monthly installments (currently $1%@74nonth).The balance of the note at
September 30, 20Mas $2.1million. We lease this propertp the 40%owned entity for $10,000er month.

Wepurchasda new gentl emends <cl ub adj -&tcWanth IntermationtalhAgort swra the h e
purchase of the underlying real propernyJanuary 2011. The land, building and contents were assigned an aggregate
value of $3.1 million in the purchasé&his propertyic ur rent |l y oper ated as Rickds Ce

As part of the acquisitio of theGold Club of Indy, LLCin April 2011, we acquired the real property in Indianapolis,
Indiana. At closing, we paid a purchase price of $850,000indashi s property is currently

As part of the acquisition of theessets o6 c hi e k 8 s Pia MianeapolisR Mignasbta July 2011 we acquired
the real property. At closing, weajdl a purchase price of $3.25 milli@m cash. This property is currently operated as
Downtown Cabaret

PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, where our XTC North is located. The lease term was for five years, beginni
March 2004, and is currently on a moitithmonth lease. The monthly rent is now $9,500.

We lease the property in New York City, New Yprk wher e our Rickds Cabaret NYC i
lease, which will terminate in April 2023. Theonthly rent is currently 48,074 Under the term of the existing lease, the
base rent will increase by approximately 3% each year.

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Carolina, where our Club Onyx Charlotte is located. We executed an amend
lease in February 2007, which will terminate in February 2017. The monthly rent is $18,500 until February 2013, ¢
which time the rent will esd¢ate to $20,000 until February 2017.

We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, where our XTC South is located. The lease term is for 79 montl
beginning May 1, 2006, and terminates in December 2022. The monthly rent is $3,000 until DecemkeeaE2500
until December 2014 then $4,000 until December 2019 and $4,500 for the remaining three years of the lease.

We | ease the property in Miami G a r tddewitls montiyl rent of 86400 wh ¢
Under the Assignent of Lease, the original lease term continues through June 30, 2014, with two option periods whicl
give us the right to lease the property through June 30, 2034.
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6. We acquired a club in Fort Worth, Texas on September 30, ZI® property is leasefdom a third party for $30,000
per month until 2018. We also received an option to purchase thadieeproperty on which the club sits within 19
months for approximately $2.4 millioriThis property is currently operated as Cabaret North.

7. We acquird another club in Fort Worth, Texas on June 1, 200ite property is leased from a third party for $22,000
per month until 2015. We also received an option to purchase the property on which the club sits within 120 months f
approximately $4.5 million,scalating to $5.2 million by the end of the terfrhis property is currently operated as XTC
Cabaret.

8. We acquired another club in Fort Worth, Texas on July 16, 2l& acquired the building in the purchaSéhe land is
leased from a third party 20,000 per month until 2015 with four fiyear options thereafter. We also received an
option to purchasthe land at any time after the twelfinniversary of the lease for fair market value, but in no event less
than $3 million. This property is cuantly operated as Cabaret East.

9. We acquired another club in Fort Worth, Texas on October 5, 2ZlHé4.property is leased from a third party for
$10,000 per month until 2016.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Beginning January 1, 2008ur Texas clubs becae subject to a new state law requiring each club to collect and pay a $5
surcharge for every club visitoA | awsuit was filed by the Texas Entertaini
we are a member, alleging the fee amounts to be apnatitutional tax.On March 28, 2008, a State District Court Judge in
Travis County, Texas ruled that the new state law violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution dockis there
invalid. The judgeds order eledtingiomassgssingtlhe taheat 8t dtreo magmwmd al énd t h
Texas, when cities or the State give notice of appeal, it supersedes and suspends the judgment, including
injunction. Therefore, the judgment of the District Court cannot beoreefl until the appeals are complet&iven the
suspension of the judgment, the State has opted to collect the tax pending the outcome of hsitaapeal no affirmative action

to enforce that decisiorOn June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeals forthé@ i r d Di str i ct (Austin) a
judgment t hat the Sexwually Oriented Business (AS.HtoB. 0)
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversed the judgment of the Coupeaisipuling that the SOB Fee does not
violate the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remanded the case to the District Court to determine whether the
violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEAhasappeatdthe Texas Supreme Court's decistorthe U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutionality of the fee
under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitutiofsiditionally, our claims regarding the Texas Constitution have not yet been
addressed by the court®/e do not plan to make anyyaents of these taxes while the case is pending in the courts. However,
we will continue to accrue and expense the potential tax liability on our finataiaments, so any ultimate negative ruling will
not have any effect on our income statement anidowiy affect our balance shedtthe decision is ultimately found in our favor,

as we believe it will be, then we will have a dirae gain of the entire amount previously expensed.

The Company has paid the tax for the first five calendar quarters pnoiest and expensed the tax in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, except for two locations in Dallas where the taxes have not been paid, but the Compan
accruing and expensing the liabilitizor the subsequent quarters, asarestlt t he Third Courtdés deci
the fee, but did not pay the Statés of September 30, 201the Company has approximatel§.&million in accrued liabilities

for this tax. The Company has paid more than $2 million to the State cdsTsixce the inception of the taQur Texas clubs

have filed a separate lawsuit against the State in which we raise additional challenges to the statute imposing tkedieé or ta
demand repayment of the taxes. The courts have not yet addresseatittitsral claims.1 f t he St atebds app
or we are successful in the remaining litigationt he Companyds current amount paid u
future admission tax and other Texas state tax liabilities.

In Sepe mb e r 2011, the Companybés subsidiary, RCI Entertainm
International were sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas for breach of contract and other issues relating to RC& lsa$ Ve
lease. RCILa¥egas has no assets and, therefore, is not able tc

I f the plaintiff should attempt to claim that the hdasdhef i c
legd basis upon which to refute this claim as the parent company is not liable for the debts of its subsidiaries. Therefore, |
Company does not believe that this contingency will ultimately result in a liability and, therefore, no accrual has béethmade
accompanyingonsolidatedinancial statements.

The Companyds club in Las Vegas has recently been audite
other taxes.The audit period was from the date of opening in Septembert@é@@gh July 31, 2010As a result of the audit, the
Department of Taxation contends that the Companyds Las V
and interest, for Las Vegas Live Entertainment Taxd®e Company does nbelieve it is subject to the Live Entertainment Tax
and is protesting the audit resultsccordingly, the Company has not accrued the contingent liability in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements$.is unknown at this time whether the ragadn of this uncertainty will have a material effect
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on the Companyédés operations.
In September 201 ve and our CEO were sugdDistrict Court in Travis County, Texdxwy a shareholder for damages as a result
of the plaintiff dsharea dnlthe gp=rdmarket dule to Irestiictive legendsswhich the plaintiff alleges that the
defendants failed to remove in a timely manner. No specific damages have been alleged. We deny any liability in #mslmatter
with our insurance company, are @igusly defending the allegations.
Item 4. Removed and Reserved

PART II

ltem 5. Market for Registrantédés Common Equity, Related S

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market utlkersymbol "RICK". The following table sets forth the
quarterly high and low of sales prices per share for the common stock for the last two fiscal years.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year Ended September 2011
First Quarter
Second Quarter $ 871 $ 6.8
Third Quarter $ 11.48 % 7.82
Fourth Quarter $ 11.2¢ $ 7.61

$ 9.2t $ 6.2(C
Fiscal Year Ended September 3M10
First Quarter $ 9.0 $ 6.7¢
Second Quarter $ 16.0t % 8.6(
Third Quarter $ 13.0¢ % 7.61
Fourth Quarter $ 8.8/ % 5.9¢

On Decembet, 2011 the last sales price for the common stock as reportedeoNASDAQ Global Market was779 On
Decemberl, 2011 there wereapproximately194 stockholders of record of our common stock (excluding shares held by
shareholders in street name).

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stockfefr&ngrust Company, 6201 ibAvenue,
Brooklyn, NY 11219.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.tOur cur
policy is to retain all earnings, if any, to prdeifunds for operation and expansion of our business. The declaration of dividends,
if any, will be subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors, which may consider such factors as our resultsiarf,operat
financial condition, capital needs and aisition strategy, among others.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of our common stock. Duri
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, we psexh283,384 shares of common stock in the open market at prices ranging
from $6.45 to $8.96 During the fiscal year ended SeptemberZm,.Q we purchase87,450shares of common stock in the open
market at prices ranging fro$5.98 to $6.41

During thethree months endesleptember 30, 201 e also purchase®B,000shares of common stock from put option holders at
prices ranging fromk04to $3.53per share.

Following is a summary of our purchases by month:

(in thousands, except per share data)
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Peiod: (a) (b) (c) (d)
Maximum
Total Number (or
Number of  Approximate
Shares (or Dollar Value)
Units) of Shares (o1
Purchased : Units) that
Total Part of May Yet be
Number of Publicly Purchased
Shares (or Average Announced Under the
Units) Price Paid Plans or Plans or
Month Ending Purchased  per Share Programs Programs
Jukl1l 23 % 8.3¢ 12 % 2,91z
Aug-11 91 $ 7.52 8C $ 2,32(
Septll 38 3% 6.7¢ 27 % 2,14:
Total for the three months ended Sept 30,1201 15z % 7.4¢€ 11¢ %

Included in the shares purchased w&3d)00shares at a cost 0262,680purchased in connection with our obligations under the

exercise of put optionduring the quarter.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compensation plans &epfember 30, 2011

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
securities tc  Weighted- under
be issued average equity
upon exercise compensati
exercise of price of on plans
outstanding outstanding  (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights  column (a))
Plan category (@) (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 52C $ 10.01 0
Equity compensation plans napproved by security holders - $ - -

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successfalattracting and retaining qualified personnel, we believe that our future success will depend in
part on our continued ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel. We pay wages and salaries that we believe .
competitive. We also believe thequity ownership is an important factor in our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel. We
have adopted stock option plans (the fAPlanso) for ®wSmowl oy
subsidiaries and ourtackholders by providing incentives in the form of stock options to key employees and directors who
contribute materially to our success and profitability. The grants recognize and reward outstanding individual perfontiances &
contributions and will givesuch persons a proprietary interest in us, thus enhancing their personal interest in our continue
success and progress. The Plans also assist us and our subsidiaries in attracting and retaining key employees ahdedirector:
Plans are administered byetiBoard of Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclusive power to select the participants in the
Plans, to establish the terms of the options granted to each participant, provided that all options granted shall be aymanted
exercise price equab tat least 85% of the fair market value of the common stock covered by the option on the grant date and
make all determinations necessary or advisable under the Plans.

I n August 1999, we adopted the 1999 0Sharescakthozeditd be granted amdsold t
under the 1999 Pl an. I n August 2004, sharehol ders appr
increased the total number of shares authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholders appfoweddment to the 1999 Plan
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(the AAmendmentd), which increased the total number of s
in July 2009. Our Board of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Option Pléint h e 2 Oof SepteéPnbe8® 20)D. The 2010

Plan was approved byhe shareholders of the Company for adoption at the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As o
September 30, 2011here are 520,00&tock options outstanding.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During thequarter ende&eptember 30, 201 We completed no transactions in reliance upon exemptions from registration under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act").

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following chart compares theygar cumulative total st@&cperformance of our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite
Index and a peer group consisting BfJ &estaurant Group, New Frontier Media, Ark RestaurantsBuffalo Wild Wings. The
graph assumes that $100 was invested at inception in our common stockesaudh iof the indices and that all dividends were
reinvested. The measurement points utilized in the graph consist of the last trading day as of September 30 eacheyang repres
the last day of our fiscal year. The historical stock performance prddseeligw is not intended to and may not be indicative of
future stock performance.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Among RCIl, NASDAQ, and PEER GROUP INDEX
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth certain of the Compgiadapd s
as of September 30, 2014nd 2010 and for the years ende&feptember 30, 2012010 and 2009 have been derived from the
Companyb6s audited consolidated financi al statements and
consolida¢d financial data as of September 3009, 2008and 2007and for the years ended September 30820@ 200 have
been derived from the Companybds audited financi al staten
Form 10K. The selected historical consolidated financial data set forth are not necessarily indicative of the results of futur
operations and should be read in conjunction with the di

Financial Conditm and Results of Operations, 0 and the historical
included herein. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in any future period.

(in thousands, except pshare data)

Year Ended September 30, 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenue $83,491 $74,063 $65,415 $57,390 30,087
Income from continuing operations $10,252 $ 3905 $ 7,948 $ 8,474 $2,957
Fully diluted incomdrom continuing operations per
common share $ 1.01 $038 $ 081 $ 090 $0.35
Total assets $153,377 $148,371 $145,077 $137,069 $42.588
Total Rick's stockholders' equity $76913 $69,939 $70,092 $63,003 $24,043
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Long-term debt $35554 $42,686 $37,812 $33,557 $14,387

Pl ease read the following selected consolidated financi ¢
Financi al Condition and Redlidated inancaf sta@empeats and ithe mnefatéd natesdappeating
elsewhere in this Annual Report on FormK@or a discussion of information that will enhance understanding of this data.

ltem 7. Management s Discussi onnd®Resdlts# Oeratporssi s of Financi a

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the eslated not
the financial statements included in this FormKkLO

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statement in this ForrK 10 make applicable and take advantage of the safe harbor
provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for any ford@oking statements made by us or on behalf of

us. Forwardooking statements include statements concerning plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future events or performa
and underlying assumptions and other statements, which are other than statements of historical facts. Certain stat@ments ir
Form 10K are forwardlooking statements. Words such as "expects,” "believes,” "anticipates,” "may," and "estimates" and simila
expressions are intended to identify forwswdking statements. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertaintiesilthat ¢
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Such risks and uncertainties are set forth below. Qimmexpecta
beliefs and projections are expressed in good faith and we believe that they have a reasonable basis, includiimitattboyt

our examination of historical operating trends, data contained in our records and other data available from third pegtis Th

be no assurance that our expectations, beliefs or projections will result, be achieved, or be accompéshithnirto other
factors and matters discussed elsewhere in this Forig, 108e following are important factors that in our view could cause
material adverse affects on our financial condition and results of operations: the risks and uncertaintet relatduture
operational and financial results, the risks and uncertainties relating to our Internet operations, competitive faiturey tife

the openings of other clubs, the availability of acceptable financing to fund corporate expansionoeffaépendence on key
personnel, the ability to manage operations and the future operational strength of management, and the laws governing
operation of adult entertainment businesses. We have no obligation to update or revise theséofuingrdatements to reflect

the occurrence of future events or circumstances.

GENERAL INFORMATION
We operate in three businesses in the adult entertainment industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubs serving primarily businessmen andgmales6iur nightclubs offer
live adult entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Through our subsidiaries, we currently ewsparate a total
of twentythreeadult nightclubs that offer live adult entertainmemstaurant and bar operation&ight of our clubs

operate under the name "Rick's Cabaret?"; four operat
customers but cater especially to urban professionals, businessmen and professional athletes; six operate under the |
"XTC Cabaret"; one <c¢club operates as fAiTootsiedbs Cabare

ADownt own Cabareto, on,e a@amperane so@mesr dtGedbicnally wé omasgDioa t i
interest ind T h e  Maniglstdlub im Austin, Texas. Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Dallas and
Fort Worth, Texas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesota; New York, New York; Miami Gardens, Florida;
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Indianapolis, Indiada.seual contact is permitted at any of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Web sites at www.CoupleTouch.com and
www.xxxpassword.com. We acquire xxxpassword.com site content from \alerkes

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBids.com. This site provides our customers with the
opportunity to purchase adult products and services in an auction format. We earn revenues by charging fees
each transaction conducted on thiboanated site.

3. In April 2008, we acquired a media division, including the leading trade magazine serving thbillioritidollar adult
nightclubs industry. As part of the transaction we also acquired two industry trade shows, two other industry trac
publications and more than 25 industry websites.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the sale of liquor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover charges, membership fi

independent contractors' fees, commissions from vending and ATM machines, wdleg pad other products and services. Our

Internet revenues are derived from subscriptions to adult content Internet websites, traffic/referral revenues, and m@mmissi
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earned on the sale of products and services through Internet auction sites, aradtofities. Media revenues include sale of
advertising content and revenues from an annual Expo convention. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

For several years, we have greatly reduced our usage of promotional pricing for membership fees forentedadiriment web
sites. This reduced our revenues from these web sites.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management 86s di scussion and analysis of financial condit
which have been preparedn accor dance with United States ¢erGaAkPxonbisfs ac
of a set of standards issued by the FASB and other authoritative bodies in the form of FASB Statements, Interpretations, FA
Staff Positions, Emerging Isss Task Force consensuses and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statements
Position, among othersThe FASB recognized the complexity of its standsetting process and embarked on a revised process
in 2004 that culminated in therals e on Jul y 1, 2009 of the Ac cThaASC daegnotSt a
change how Company accounts for its transactions or the nature of related disclosureRatiaetethe ASC results in changes

to how the Company references accounsitandards within its reportd his change was made effective by the FASB for periods
ending on or after September 15, 200%e Company has updated references to GAAP in this Annual Report on Fétrtol10
reflect the guidance in the ASThe preparatio of these consolidated financial statements requires our management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and retated disclos
contingent assets and liabilitie®n a regula basis, we evaluate these estimates, including investment impairiesge
estimates are based on managementés historical i ndustry
reasonable under the circumstancAstual results madiffer from these estimates.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub operation is primarily comprised of credit card charges, which are genersdly conv
to cash in two to five days after a purchase is mdde med a di vi si onés accounts recei
receivabl es for advertising sales and Expo registration
advances and other miscellaneous receivables. Thetdomgportion of ntes receivable are included in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes interest income on notes receivable based on the ter
the agreement and based wupon manag e mibterdastdircome wilh bewcalleéciech mhe t h
Company recognizes allowances for doubtful accounts or notes when, based on management judgment, circumstances ind
that accounts or notes receivable will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcatlic beverages, food, and Company merchandise. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost, avera
cost, which approximates actual cost determined on arirfitstout ( AFI FO0) basi s, or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment aretsich at cost. Provisions for depreciation and amortization are made using din@ghtes over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets and the shorter of useful lives or terms of the applicable leases for leasel
improvements. Buildings havestimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 years. Furniture, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives between five and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals and bettermemds that e
the useful lives are capitalized. Expendes for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. The cost of assets sc
or abandoned and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any gains or losses are char
credited in the accompanying consoletastatement of income of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350]ntangibles- Goodwill and Otheaddresses the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under FASB
ASC 350, goodwill and intangible assets with ificiee lives are no longer amortized, but reviewed on an annual basis for

i mpairment. Al of the Companyds goodwi I and intangdgo bl e
the media segmenDefinite lived intangible assetsea amortized on a straighihe basis over their estimated liveBully
amortized assets are writteff against accumulated amortization.

Impairment of LoneLived Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment and intangible assets with defiestefdivimpairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these asse
measured by comparison of its carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash flows the asspectae to generate. If property
and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognthed equal
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amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair vassets are groupeat the lowest level for which there are
identifiable cash flows, principally at the club level, when assessing impairment. Cash flows for our club assets @@ &entif
the individual club levelT he Companydés annual e v &Béepenaberi30, R0l \assd omp & prdjectedme c
discounted cash flow method using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent ir
current business model. Certain of our recent acquisitions, specifically Las Vegas, Pliiladelph nd t he o aretni nal
Austin (now a 40%owned investmeit have been underperforming, principally due to the recent general economic downturn,
especially in Las Vegas, but also due to certain specific operational issues, such as thefat@rggpt in Philadelphia and the

cab fare marketing issues in Las Vega&e have determined that there is a net asset impairm8&ep&mber 30, 201 relating

to these three nightclub operation¥he Las Vegas club was closed during the year endpte®ber 30, 2011See Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

None of our other reporting units were at risk of failing step one of the impairment test (i.e. that fair value wasardtadiytist
excess of carrying value) in either year.

Fair Vdue of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instruments and includes tt
additional information in the notes to consolidated financial statements when the fair valuaésdiffan the carrying value of
these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilitregeapprox
their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Thegaelyia of short and longrm debt

also approximates fair value since these instruments bear market rates of interest. None of these instruments amdhejd for tr
purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instrurtsethat are indexed to and potentially settled in, its own stock, including stock put
options, in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC-8Q05Derivatives and Hedging Cont racts i n Er
Equity. Under certain circumstances that would reguilre Company to settle these equity items in cash, and without regard to
probability, FASB ASC815-40 would require the classification of all or part of the item as a liability and the adjustment of that
reclassified amount to fair value at each reporting t e , with such adjustments reflecte
of income. The first instrument to meet the requirements of FASB 83640 for derivative accounting occurred in the quarter
ended June 30, 2009 when the Company renegotia¢epayback terms of certain put options and agreed to pledge as collateral
to certain holders a second lien on certain property.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages, food and merchandise, otberarelspuwvices at the
point-of-sale upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from monthly subscriptions to its online entertainment sites when notificagien of a n
or existing subscription and its retat fee are received from the third party hosting company or from the credit card company,
usually two to three days after the transaction has occurred. The monthly fee is not refundable. The Company recogeizes Inte
auction revenue when payment is ree€i from the credit card as revenues are not deemed estimable nor collection deeme
probable prior to that point.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertising content are recognized when the issue is published afRbebimppeed.
and externalgxenses related to the Company6s annual Expo conven
August.

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes paid as revenues and an equal expense in accordance with 60%B ASC
45,Revenue RecognitianPrincipal Agent ConsiderationsTotal sales and liquor taxes aggregatédnillion, $5.6 million and
4.5million for the yeas endedSeptember 30, 2012010and2009 respectively.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising aad marketing expenses are primarily comprised of costs related to public advertisements and giveaways, which «
used for promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing expenses are expensed as incurred and are included in oper:
expenses in the accoanying consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes
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Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability method in accordance with FASB ASGcoffe Taxe Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequendagtaite to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liab#éidisgrade m
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income yedrein which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in liecper®ih t
that includes the enactment date. In addition, a valuatiowance is established to reduce any deferred tax asset for which it is
determined that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to address accounting for ungeitaitéx positions by prescribing a minimum
recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FASB A8C 740 ¢
provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest anigpemadbunting in interim periods, disclosure
and transition. There are no unrecognized tax benefits to disclose in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues restricted common sharesialscpasideration for acquisitions of certain businesses

or assetsPursuant to the terms and conditions of the governing acquisition agreements, the holder of such shares has the ri
but not the obligation, to put a fixed number of the shares omghigdasis back to the Company at a fixed price per shre.
Company may elect during any given month to either buy the monthly shares or, if management elects not to do so, #re holder
sell the monthly shares in the open market, and any deficleateyeen the amount which the holder receives from the sale of the
monthly shares and the value of shares will be paid by the Compé&eyCompany has accounted for these shares in accordance
with the guidance established by FASB ASC ABistinguishing Labilities From Equity,as a reclassification of the value of the
shares from permanent to temporary equidg. the shares become due, the Company transfers the value of the shares back t
permanent equity, less any amount paid to the holldr.s 0 eriev &tDi ve Fi nanci al l nstr ument

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per share in accordance with FASB ASEa26ifgs Per ShareFASB ASC 260
provides for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings pee sBasic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed
by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilutioncofrgies that could share in the earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of shares that may arise from outstanding dilutive common stock options andhevarrants
number of which i s computed u somrogstahdmg corivdrtible debenturgs (tre tnambde of m
which is computed wusing the #Aif converted methodod) . Di |
Companydés outstanding common st ock erpcdonvertedinto cenanomn stockithat thann d
shared in the Companyds earnings (Il oss) (as adjusted fo
converted).

Stock Options

The Company has adopted the fair value recognition provisioR8SB ASC 718Compensatiod Stock Compensation

The compensation cost recognized for the yeadedSeptember 30, 2012010and2009was 8,254 $405,229and 6,171,
respectively. There were25,00Q 20,000 and300,000stock options exercises forelyears ende8eptember 30, 2012010and
2009 respectively.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011AS COMPARED TO THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

For the fiscal year endeskeptember 30, 201 Wwe had cordidated tdal revenues of &3.5million, compared to comdidated total
revenues of 4.1 million for the year ended September 201Q This was an increasof $.4 million or 12.®%. The increase in
total revenues was primarily due to revenues generated in ouclobsacquired in 2011%1.6 million in 2011), a full year of
revenues from clubs pchased in 2010 (increase of $4tllion) and increases in revenues from certain of our existing clubs,
especially from our New York locatiorRevenues from nightclub opsions for saméocaion sameperiod increased b4.9%

Our operating margin (income (loss) from operations plus impairment of assets, divided by total jevasP2%%b for the year
endedSeptember 30, 201dompared t@0.2% for the prior year.

Our income (loss) from operations for our Internet businesses (excluding corporate overhead|8&®5%)for the year ended
September 30, 201tompared with $6,067 for the year ended September 2M1Q Our income from operations for our
nightclub operatins for the saméocationsameperiod increased bi8.3%.
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Our net income (loss) wak .8 million for the fiscal year endefeptember 30, 201dompared to 8.0 million) for the previous
year. The inrease in our net income was primarily a result of theaimpent of nightclub asseis 201Q along with a growth in
the operations.

Foll owing is a comparison of t he Co ngememied 30, 20Thod®046 witls t a t
percentages compared to total revenue:
2011 % 2010 %

Sales of alcoholic beverages $ 32,575 39.0% $ 28,532 38.5%
Sales of food and merchandise 7,402 8.9% 6,327 8.5%
Service Revenues 38,178 45.7% 34,179 46.1%
Internet Regenues 470 0.6% 562 0.8%
Media 1,248 1.5% 1,440 1.9%
Other 3,618 4.3% 3,023 4.1%

Total Revenues 83,491 100.0% 74063 100.0%
Cost of Goods Sold 10,427 12.5% 9,136 12.3%
Salaries & Wages 18,321 21.9% 16,305 22.0%
Stockbased Compensation 8 0.0% 405 0.5%
Taxes and permits 12,542 15.0% 11,452 15.5%
Charge card fees 1,361 1.6% 1,229 1.7%
Rent 2,988 3.6% 2,737 3.7%
Legal & professional 2,289 2.7% 3,002 4.1%
Advertising and marketing 3,471 4.2% 3,167 4.3%
Depreciation and amortization 3,904 4.7% 3,225 4.4%
Insurance 1,157 1.4% 985 1.3%
Utilities 1,605 1.9% 1,507 2.0%
Impairment of assets - 0.0% 3,574 4.8%
Other 6,624 7.9% 5,948 8.0%
Total operating expeses 64,697 77.5% 62,672 84.6%

Income fromoperations 18,794 22.5% 11,391 15.4%
Interest income 118 0.1% 19 0.0%
Interest expense (3930) -4.7% (4,023) -5.4%
Interest expenseloan origination costs (359) -0.4% (450) -0.6%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivative instruments 129 0.2% (31) 0.0%
Gain on settlement of debt 903 1.1% - 0.0%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets and other - 0.0% 3) 0.0%
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 15,655 18.8% $ 6,903 9.3%

Following is an explanation of significant variances in the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned, video games and other vending and certain promotion fees charged to
entertainers.The Company recognizes revenue from other revenues and services at tiod-pali@tupon receipt of cash, check,
or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-alapholic beverages, food, cigars and cigarettesrchandise, media
printing/binding, media postage and internet traffic purchases and webmaster p&uutast of goods sold for the nightclub
operations for the year end&éptember 30, 20ias12.4% of our total revenues fromub operations compad t012.3% for

the year ended September 2010 Cost of goods sold for san@cation-sameperiod dereased tdl2.1% for the year ended
September 30, 201dompared to 12% for the year ended September 3010 We continued our efforts to achieve retilogs in

cost of goods sold of the club operations through improved inventory management. We are continuing a program to imprc
margins from liquor and food sales and food service efficiency. Our cost of sales from our Internet operations for nidedyear e
September 30, 20Mas2.0% compared t@.3% of related revenues for the year ended Septemb&030Q,

The increase in payroll and related costs, stated aus fiSa
in 2010and 2011 Payroll for samdocationrsameperiod of club contining operations increased ta30 million for the year
ended September 30, 201from $12.6 million for the previous yearManagement currently believes that its labor and
management staff levelseaappropriate.
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The derease in stockased compensation in 2Dtesults from the issuance of 465,000 optionsSeptember 30, 201t
employees and Board of DirectorEhese options were exercisable immediately, resulting in the related cost beingzeatogn
entirelyduring the 2010 fiscal year.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payroll taxes, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxes, licenses and peerpitgrand th
tax in our nightclubs in Tes. The increase in 201fesults principally fromhe new clubsacquired Patron taxesraounted to
$2.9 million and $2.8nillion for the years endeSeptember 30, 201dnd201Q respectively.

Rent expense increased principally due to new leagesinew clubs in Fort Worth

Legal and professional penses daeased principally due #® decrease in theosts related to litigation involving claims under
the Fair Labor Standards AcWWe incurredapproximately $100,000and$88,000 in legal fees related to new acquisitionz0ihl
and201Q respectively

Depreciation and amortizatiancreased approximately $6080from the year ende8eptember 30, 20@] due to the new clubs
purchased.

Utilities increased due to new clubs and the heat and drought in Texas in 2011.

The derease in interest expense vasgibutable tothe continued decrease in debt as we amortize the lo&iss. included in
interest expense in 2010 is the write off of the unamortized portion of certain loan origination costs relating to owdredeem
convertible debt, amounting to $272% As of September 30, 2011he baance of longerm debt was 36.6 million compared

to $427 million a year earlier.

Gain on settlement of debt in 2011 represents the gain from settlement of certalitigediss with the former sellers of the Las
Vegas club.

See fiDerivative Financi al I nstrument o above f orSeptemiden30,ma t
2011

Following is our adjusted EBITDA for the years ended September 30:

(in thousands, except per share data)
2011 2010 2009
Adjusted EBITDA $ 23,637 $ 17,915 $ 17,890

In the table above, we have included a financial statement measure that was not derived in accordance with GAAP. We
adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interespense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairment charges) as a non
GAAP performance measure. In calculating adjusted EBITDA, we exclude our largest recurrcgsharharge, depreciation,
amortization and impairment charges. Adjusted EBITprAvides a core operational performance measurement that compares
results without the need to adjust for Federal, state and local taxes which have considerable variation between dome
jurisdictions. Also, we exclude interest cost in our calculation anfjusted EBITDA. The results are, therefore, without
consideration of financing alternatives of capital employed. We use adjusted EBITDA as one guideline to assess ourdinlevera
performance return on our investments. Adjusted EBITDA is also the taegehimark for our acquisitions of nightclubs.
Reconciliations from net earnings from continuing operations to adjusted EDITDA are provided below for the years ende
September 30:

2011 2010 2009
Income from continuing operations $ 10,252 $ 3,905 $ 7,948
Net income from noncontrolling interests (211) (260) (294)
Income taxes 5,403 2,998 4,013
Interest expense 4,289 4,473 3,417
Depreciation and amortization 3,904 3,225 2,806
Impairment of assets - 3,574 -
Adjusted EBITDA $ 23,637 $ 17,915 $ 17,890

Our adjusted EBITDA does not include interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairment charg
Because we have borrowed money in order to finance our operations, interest expareseessary element of our costs and our
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ability to generate revenues. Because we use capital assets, depreciation, amortization and impairment charges asarglso nec
elements of our costs. Also, the payment of income taxes is a necessary elenuertpafrations. Therefore, any measures that
exclude these elements have material limitations. To compensate for these limitations, we believe that it is appropsiterto ¢
both net earnings (loss) determined under GAAP, as well as adjusted EBITBMgltate our performance. Also, we separately
analyze any significant fluctuations in interest expense, depreciation, amortization, impairment charges and income taxes.

Discontinued Operations

In March 2011, wenade the decisioto sell ouLas Vegas loation and, in April 2011, sharply reduced its operatiormdier to
eliminate losses as we soughbuyer for the propertyWe believethat wehave done everything possible to make this location
viable since its acquisition in 2008 and now bel@itevasinours har ehol der sdé best interests
club was shuttered and the landlord took over the property in June 2011. Therefore, this club is recognized as a dliscontin
operation in the accompanying financial statements te®drecognized a loss on the closure of $2.0 million in discontinued
operations.

In August 2011, we sold 60%f the membership interest in the ignthat previously operated olri c k 6s Cabar et
Texas. Accordingly, we have deconsolidate the sibsidiaryas of August 31, 2014and have cariied it as an equigmethod
investment. Accordingly, the club is recognized as a discontinued operation in the accompanying financial stdterperitsds

prior to August 31, 2011

The Company sold one ofinightclubs, Encounters in San Antonio, on March 1, 2009 for $40,000, including $5,000 in cash anc

a $35,000 note payable monthly for one yeBne Company recognized an impairment of $221,563 for this club during the
quarter ended December 31, 2008e actual loss at date of sale was $226,175.

We closed our Divas Latinas club in Houston during September 208 .club is also recognized in discontinued operations.

Following is summarized information regarding these discontinued operations:

Revenus of discotinued operations amounted to $2.6 million and $#8r9the years ende&eptember 30, 201and 201Q
respectively.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the following as discontinued operations as of and for the per
endal September 30, 2011 and 2010:

(in thousands) Year Ended Septemba0,
2011 2010 2009
Loss from discontinued operations $ (1,10 $ 914 % (2,719
Loss on sale of discontinued operations (2,270 (16,937) (1,049
Income tax discontinued operations 1,182 6,24¢ 1,317
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (2,19 $ (11,609 $ (2,44¢)

Major classes of assets and liabilities included as assets and liabilitissaftthued operations as of:

SeptembeB0,
2011 2010
Current assetsncluding deferred tax assets $ 33 $ 1,09t
Property and equipment 76 2,88¢
Other assets 3 867
Current liabilities (144) (278)
Long-term liabilities (33 (310
Net assets (liabilities) $ (65 $ 4,26:

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 AS COMPARED TO THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009

For the fiscal year ended Septeen 30,2010, we had consolidated total revenues p4 3 million, compared to consolidated total
revenues of @5.4million for the year ended September 2009 This was arincrease 0f8.6 million or 13.2%6. The increase in

total revenues was primarilyud to revenues generated in our new clubs and increases in revenues from certain of our existir
clubs, especially from our New York location. Revenues from nightclub operations fol@zatien sameperiodincreasedyy

10.2%6 and for Internet businessescdeased b$2.3%
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Our operating margin (income from operatiopisis impairmentdivided by total revenues) wa&0.26 for the year ended
September 3®010 compared t@3.0% for the prior year.

Our income from continuing operations before income taxethe year ended September 3010 was $.9 million compared to
$12.0 million for the year ended September 2W0A The decrease was primarily due to the same factors discussed in the
previous paragraphnd an impairment of our Philadelphia club in #mount of $3.6 million Our income from operations for

our Internet businesses (excluding corporate overhead) W&9&¥ for the year ended September 210 compared with
$162,071for the year ended September 3009 Our income from operations fouonightclub operations for the sadweation
sameperiodincreasedy 4.5%.

Our net lossvas($8.0) million for the fiscal year ended September 3010compared to $.2 million for the previous year. The
decrease in our net income waswatrily a resulbf the impairment of three clubs in 2010

Foll owing is a comparison of t he Co nSememed 30, 20racd@00@ witls t a t
percentages compared to total revenue:

(in thousands) 2010 % 2009 %

Sales of alcoholibeverages $ 28,532 385% $ 23,641 36.1%
Sales of food and merchandise 6,327 8.5% 5,615 8.6%
Service Revenues 34,179 46.1% 31,786 48.6%
Internet Revenues 562 0.8% 641 1.0%
Media 1,440 1.9% 1,404 2.1%
Other 3,023 4.1% 2,328 3.6%
Total Revenues 74,063 100.0% 65,415 100.0%
Cost of Goods Sold 9,136 12.3% 7,884 12.1%
Salaries & Wages 16,305 22.0% 14,799 22.6%
Stockbased Compensation 405 0.5% 96 0.1%
Taxes and permits 11,452 15.5% 8,351 12.8%
Charge card fees 1,229 1.7% 1,300 2.0%
Rent 2,737 3.7% 2,166 3.3%
Legal & professional 3,002 4.1% 2,848 4.4%
Advertising and marketing 3,167 4.3% 2,588 4.0%
Depreciation and amortization 3,225 4.4% 2,806 4.3%
Insurance 985 1.3% 894 1.4%
Utilities 1,507 2.0% 1,390 2.1%
Impairment of assets 3,574 4.8% - 0.0%
Other 5,948 8.0% 5,258 8.0%
Total operating expenses 62,672 84.6% 50,380 77.0%
Income from operations 11,391  15.4% 15,035 23.0%
Interest income 19 0.0% 16 0.0%
Interest expense (4,023) -5.4% (3,352) -5.1%
Interest expenseloan origination costs (450) -0.6% (65) -0.1%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivative instruments (31) 0.0% 145 0.2%
- - 0.0%

Gain (loss) on sale of assets and other 3 0.0% 182 0.3%
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 6,903 9.3% $ 11,961 18.3%

Taxes and permits consists principally of payroll taxes, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxes, licenses and peerpitgrand th
tax in our nightclubs in TexaRatron taxes amounted t@.8 million and $.8 million for the years ended Septber 30,2010
and2009 respectively.The percentage of taxes to revenues has increased duentntldubs we have added in the Dalfast
Worth area in 2010 and 2011.

Rent expense increased principally due to significant newedaasmew clubs acqed in 2010

Legal and professional expensasreasedorincipally due tothe addition of new clubs and costs related to litigation involving
claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act.
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The increasean the percentage of advertising and marketiogtotal evenue is principally due tocreases in our overall
marketing campaign to attempt to increase volume of customer traffic to all locations.

Depreciation and amortization increased due toéwe clubs purchased during the tfigcal yeas.

Impairment epense represents the 2010 impairment of our club in Philadelphia.

The increasén interest expense was attributable to our obtaining new debt during the year ended Septe20i€afd2009to

finance the purchase of the new clubs and related reat esabf September 3®010Q the balance of lonterm debt was42.7

million compared to $7.8 million a year earlier, but a substantial portion of the new debt was entered into during the quarte
ended September 32010

See fiDeri vat iuwneenktionaanhcovad flonrstirnf or mati on on the Company
2010

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2011ve had working capital of250 million compared to working capital of9$L million as of Septmber
30,2010 The decrease is principally due to the acquisitions we made during 2011, all wittBegsiuse of the large volume of
cash we handle, stringent cash controls have been implemekit&kptember 30, 2A1 our cash and cash equivalents evéd.7
million compared to $8.6million at September 3@2010.

Our depreciation for the year end8dptember 30, 2QIwas 8.5 million compared to .9 million for the year ended September
30, 2010. Our amortization for the year end&kptember 30, 2A1lwas $19,000compared to $67,000for theyear ended
September 3@®010.

The following table presents a summary of our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities:

Years ended Septemh&0,

2011 2010 2009
Netcash provided by operating activities $ 18,81 $ 17,34 % 8,967
Net cash used in investing activities (16,340 (12,897 (3,790
Net cash provided bfused in)inancing activities (11442) 1,757 2,2@
Net increasddecreasein cash and cash equivalents $ (8,901) $ 6,20 $ 7,37¢

The increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to the increase in cash flows from the op&@tions in
(net loss plus noncash impairment amgbigbciation) and from the nonpayment of Texas Patron Taxes. The increase in cash use
in investing activities relates primarily to acquisitions of businessgse cash used in financing activities in 2011 relates to
purchase of treasury stock and put ops without any proceeds of lotbgrm debt.

We require capital principally for the acquisition of new clubs, renovation of older clubs and investments in technology. We
also utilize capital to repurchase our common stock as part of our share repyrabgram.

Debt Financing:

On August 6, 2009, we completed the sale of an aggregate
certain accredited investors (theH o | d &he Débenturebearinterest at the rate of 10% pemam and mature on Augt 4,

2012. The Debentures wergayable with one initial payment of interest only due February 4, 2010, and, thereafter in ten equa
quarterly principal payments, plus accrued interest therAbthe option ofthe Holders, the Dedmtures coulde converted into
shares of t he Co mp a nbypérsharebhenbDebenturestwenedeemaltie by & at7any time if the closing
price of its common stock for 20 consecutive trading days is at leag0$ér shareThe Debenture provide that an event of
defaultwould occurif: we should fail to pay any principal or interest when due; we should fail to convert any Debenture when
required; we should fail to observe or perform any covenant or agreement contained within the Bethentuare cross defaults

to other indebtedness in excess of $1,000,000; there is a reorganization, liquidation, voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy
insolvency proceedings or other bankruptcy default; or a final unsatisfied judgment not coveredrémycasaggregating an
excess of $1 million occurs against us and is not stayed, bonded or discharged withirfsevdags.

I n connection with the sale of the Debentures, we alsso i
on a prerata basis.We issued each Holder a number of Warrants equal to 20% of the number of shares of common stock in
whi ch each Hol doaverbibte. TileaMareants heerare exarcsse price of $8.75 and expire on August 5, 20h2.
Warrarts provide that we hathe right to require exercise of the Warrants if the closing price of our common sto2k fo
consecutive trading days wasleast $12.25.
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On April 16, 2010, the Company sent a Notice of Redemption to all of the Holders, theeebigiag its right to redeem all of

the 2009 Debentures, including the entire outstanding principal amount of all the 2009 Debentures and any accrued but un
interest thereonUpon receipt of such Notice of Redemption, all of the Holders exercisedritjiei to convert the principal
amount plus all accrued but unpaid interest thereon of the 2009 Debentures at the conversion price of $8.75 per shére in lie
receiving a cash payment (pursuant to the terms of the 2009 Debentures), effective as pR0dy Accordingly, on May 4,

2010, the Company issued an aggregate of 842,972 shares of its common stock to these Holders, in conversion of aifi aggreg:
$7.2 million of outstanding principal and an aggregate of $176,000 of outstanding interesh @0GadebenturesAs a result

of this conversion, the Company made no cash payments to the Holders in connection with the Notice of Redaunptiorent

with the retirement of the debt, the Company was required to write off, as interest expensantbdized portion of its related

loan origination costs, amounting to $274,425.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sale of an aggregate of approximately $9.2 million in 10% Convertible Debentt
(the 2010 Debenturessfolt ® €t hThea2hi Oébentiresbalgr interast at the vate of 10% per
annum and mature on June 25, 20T8e 2010 Debentures are payable with one initial payment of interest only due December
26, 2010, and, thereafter in ten equal quarteiilycgral payments, plus accrued interest theredinthe option of the Holders, the
principal amount of the 2010 Debentures and the accrued but unpaid interest thereon may be converted into shares of
Companyds common st oTh&20B Debehtlr®s.ar2 Eedepreable by the Company at any time if the closing
price of its common stock for 20 consecutive trading days is at least $13.47 per share.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentures in June 2010, the Company also issuedjate ajdgré9,513 warrants (the

AWarrant so) t o trdtaebasid.0he €@mpany isswed eaeh Hpldewa number of Warrants equal to 20% of the
number of shares of common stock i nt o Té\Warantsava anlexetdiselprice r 6
of $10.25 and expire on June 25, 20T&e Warrants provide that the Company has the right to require exercise of the Warrants
if the closing price of the Companyds common stock for 2

The fair value of the warrants were estimated to be $434,571 in accordance with FASB A$@i82aJue Measurements and
Disclosuresusing a BlackScholes optiotpricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 68%
Expectedife 1.5 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 1.1&%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized as a discount on the related debt and will be amortized over the lite of the deb

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Dalrest and Warrants in June 2010 are intended to be utilized to make future
acquisitions, and may be utilized for working capital and general corporate purposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensation in the amount of $460,000, which was achpidbaa origination cost and

will be amortized over the life of the debt, in connection with advising the Company regarding the June 2010 sale of the 20
Debentures and Warrant$he 2010 Debentures and Warrants were sold under the exemption frotratiegisprovided by
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including Reguifitafn D.
the offers and sales of the 2010 Debentur es ssocHtenwdss defired t s
in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D) in offers and sales not involving a public offefiihg.Holders purchased the securities for their
own account and not with a view towards or for resale. There was no general solicitation oriaghgentiducted in connection

with the sales of the securities.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debentures and Warrants are intended to be utilized to make future acquisitions, and ma
utilized for working capital and general corporate purposes.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primarily in the form of operating leases and debt obligations. The following tab!
summarizes our contractual obligations and their aggregate maturities as well as futomenmiant paymentsk-uture interest
payments related to variable interest rate debt were estimated using the interest rate inSeffeetrdter 30, 2011

Payments Due by Period

(in thousands) Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter
Long-term debt $ 35554 $ 5494 $13541 $ 2416 $ 3658 $ 1,306 $ 9,139
Interest payments 10,605 3,172 2,320 1,659 1,381 1,106 967
Operating leases 2,344 2,296 2,088 1,291 5,152
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14,224 1,056

Put Options

As part of certain of our acquisition transactions, we have entered intelmtleakOut Agreements with the sellers pursuant to
which, on or after a contractual period after the closing date, the seller shall have the right, but not the obligatiorysto have
purchase from seller a certain number of our shares of common stock issued in the transactions in an amount andnat a rate c
more than a contractual number of the shares per mont h
contractual value per share (fivalue of the Rickédés Share
Monthly Shaes or, if we elect not to buy the Monthly Shares from the seller, then the seller shall sell the Monthly Shares in tt
open market. Any deficiency between the amount which the seller receives from the sale of the Monthly Shares and the value
the shareshall be paid by us within three business days of the date of sale of the Monthly Shares during that particular mon
Our obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares from the Seller shall terminate and cease at such time as the sellexchas recei
contrc t ual amount from the sale of the Rick®64p/leékOutAgeemnents] an
the seller may not sell more than a contractual number of our sharesgpex 80 per i od, regardl ess of
shaes to us or sells them in the open market or otherwise.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiation of terms of certain of our long term debt and a significant portion ¢
outstanding put optionsBefore the renegotiation, the maximum obligattbat could be owed if our stock were valued at zero
was $13.9 million and was recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temporary Efteitythe renegotiation, the
maximum obligation that could be owed if otock were valued at zero is $31#llion at September 30, 2011f we are required

to buy back any of these put options, the-bagk transaction will be purely a balance sheet transaction, affecting only Temporary

Equity or Derivative Liability aomdstaRmentekfdcithé onky incoe skatgmentt y
effect from these put options is the fAmark to mar kfdldtes v a

to Consolidated Financial Statements. Following is a schedule of thalabiigation (after the renegotiation) we would have if
our stock price remains in the future at the closing market pric&eptember 30, 201df $6.65per share, of which there can be
no assurance: (This includes the derivative financial instrumeragnized in our consolidated balance sheedegitember 30,
2011)

For the Year Ended Septemt3€x:
(in thousands)

2012 $ 2,192
2013 14¢&
Total $ 2,340

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock fvacean ggregate effect of $13800 on the total obligation.

We are not aware of any other event or trend that would potentially affect liquidity. In the event such a trend deve®igseve

our working capital and capital expenditure requirements will begusately met by cash flows from operations. In our opinion,
working capital is not a true indicator of our financial status. Typically, businesses in our industry carry currergdiabilit
excess of current assets because businesses in our industre destantially immediate payment for sales, with nominal
receivables, while inventories and other current liabilities normally carry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyors offts
remain flexible with payment terms, providing businesses in our indwain opportunities to adjust to shagrm business down
turns. We consider the primary indicators of financial status to be thetdomgtrend of revenue growth, the mix of sales
revenues, overall cash flow, profitability from operations and the tflehg-term debt.

The following table presents a summary of such indicators:
Increase Increase

2011 (Decrease) 2010 (Decrease) 2009

Sales of alcoholic beverages $32,575 14.2% $28,532 20.7% $23,641
Sales of food and merchasdi 7,402 17.0% 6,327 12.7% 5,615
Service Revenues 38,178 11.7% 34,179 7.5% 31,786
Internet Revenues 470 -16.4% 562 -12.3% 641
Media 1,248 -13.3% 1,440 2.6% 1,404
Other 3,618 19.7% 3,023 29.9% 2,328

Total Revenues 83,491 12.7% 74,063 13.2% 65,415
Net cash provided by operating activities $18,81 8.7% $17,340 93.4% $ 8,967
Adjusted EBITDA $23,637 31.9% $17,915 01% $17,890
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Long-term debt $ 35,554 -16.7% $42,686 12.9% $37,812

* See definition of adjusted EBITDA above under Results of Operations.

We have not established lines of credit or financing other than the above mentioned notes payablexatthguebt. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional financing on reasonable terms in the future, if at all, sheedd the
arise.

Share repurchase

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized us to repaurghés $5 million worth of our common stock. During

the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, we purchased 283,384 shares of common stock in the open market at prices ra
from $6.45 to $8.96During the fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, no shamespurchased under this progrdduring the

fiscal year ended September 30, 2048, purchase®7,450 shares of common stock in the open market at prices ranging from
$5.98 to $6.41.Under theBoard's authority, we have $Xdillion remaining to purchee additional shares.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impact from inflation in our operations during the past several years. Td the ext
permitted by competition, we have managed to recover increased costs througimgreéases and may continue to do so.
However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasonal factors. Historically, we have experienced reduced revenues fiooagkpril t
September with the strongest operating results occurring during October through March. Our experience indicates thaiothere ar
seasonal fluctuations in our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can icw& to grow organically and through careful entry into markets and
demographic segments with high growth potential. Our growth strategy is: (a) to open new clubs after market analysis, (b)
acquire existing clubs in locations that are consistent withgoowth and income targets and which appear receptive to the
upscale club formula we have develop@] to form joint ventures or partnerships to reduce-sarand operating costs, with us
contributing equity in the form of our brand name and manageexgertise, (d) to develop new club concepts that are consistent
with our management and marketing skills, and/or (e) to acquire real estate in connection with club operations, although so
clubs may be in leased premises.

During fiscal 2008, we acquad a media division for a total cost of $1.1 million. This acquisition was funded primarily through
issuance of our restricted common stock valued at $369,754, and $700,000 in cash. This media operatibmeveduetof
approximately $1.2nillion, $14 million and 4.4 million for fiscal years 201, 2010and 2009 respectively and net losses of
approximately $7,000, $56,000 and $42,000.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired five existing nightclub operations and 49% of an existing nightclub operatitotdbrost of
$69.8 million, including real property of $14.8 million. These acquisitions were funded primarily through indebtedness of $2
million, including real property debt of $8 million, issuance of our restricted common stock valued at $113, §illd,711 in

debt forgiveness, and $35.4 million in cash. These nightclub operétircisisive of the Las Vegas club closed in 2011 and the
Austin club in which we sold 60% in 201tiad totalrevenues of approximately $341dllion, $41.6million and $0.7 million for

fiscal years 201, 2010and2009 respectively, and pretax incenof approximately $11.0 milliqr$9.4 million and .2 million.

During fiscal 2009, we acquired one nightclub operation for cash of approximately $2.4 milfienclosing ocurred on
September 30, 2009 his acquisition was funded with cash of $2.3 million. This nightclub operation had total revenues of
approximately $3.6 million ani3.8 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively and net income (loss) befres of approximaly
$295,000 and $[3,000) for 2011 and 2010, respectively.

During fiscal 2010, we acquired three existing nightclub operations for a total cost of approximately $9.2 million, imeklding
property of approximately $4.6 million. These acquisitions weneled primarily with cash of approximately $5.9 million, real
property debt of approximately $2.5 million, and a selle
These nightclub operations had total revenues of approxim&fey mllion and $4.5 million and net income before taxes of
approximately$609,000 and 432,000 for fiscal years 2011 and 2010, respectively
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During fiscal 2011, we acquired three existing nightclub operatimasopened anothéor atotal cost of approximake $11.3
million, including real property of approximately 84 million. These aquisitions were funded with cashThese nightclub
operations had tat revenues of approximately $1uGillion for fiscal year 2011, and net lobefore taxes of approximately
$(620,000)

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquire new nightclubs and anticipate acquiring new locations that fit ountma#hess

as we have done in the past. The acquisition of additional clubs will require us to obtain additional isieldrme of our
common stock, or both. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional financing on reasonableeterms in
future, if at all, should the need arise. An inability to obtain such additional financing could have an effeersm our growth
strategy.

In our Internet division, we plan to focus on higlargin Internet activities that leverage our marketing skills while requiring a
low level of startup cost and ongoing operating costs and refine and tune our Inteesdosibetter positioning in organic search
rankings amongst the major search providers. We will restructure affiliate programs to provide higher incentives tonbur curre
affiliates to better promote our Internet sites, while actively seeking new afiliatsend traffic to our Internet sites.

In addition to their strong cash flow, the acquisition of the Media Division has enabled us to create new marketing sjthergies
major industry product suppliers and new national advertising opportunitiéso Iprvides us with additional diversification of
our revenue and income streams while remaining within our core competency.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The only items in our financial statements applicable te $kiction are put options which are reported in our balance sheet as
derivative liabilities and temporary equitf. he di scl osure required by this section

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The infamation required by this Item begins on Page 3
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNT ING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Ri ckbés Cabaret I nternational, Il nc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance s
i Co mp any &§ptembars30, Aa0fldnd 201Q and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in permanen
stockhol dersdé equity, and cash f | owSeptentber 3¢ 20¢ hhesecbnsolidated t h
financial statements are the responsibility af th Co mp any 6 s Qurarespogsiilityeis tb express an opinion on these
consolidatedinancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unit
States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whetiodidtted
financial statements are free of material misstatem®@nt. audits of theonsolidatedinancial statements included examining, on

a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuresconiwidatedinancial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement prégentation.
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, Higingioci

of the Company, as @eptember 30, 201dand201Q and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period end&kptember 30, 201in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We also have audited, in accordangith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Companyds internal c 0 nt rSedtemioer 3®,r201 badsad amcdtéria éstablisheriinerdali Qorgroba s o
Integrated Frameworkssued by the Gamittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated
December 14, 21 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ WHITLEY PENN LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 14, 201
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Rickés Cabaret International, 1l nc.

We have audited Rickds Cabaret International, Il nc. gaad s
of September 30, 201khased on criteria estasthed inInternal Controb Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commi ssi on. T h e
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessroethe effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanyindanagement 6s Report on | nt er n &Uur re§ponsibilitydslto Ov
express an opinion on the Coreppringlyaded oniour udit nal contr ol oV e

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United State
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboeffedtistherternal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding ofointezinal ¢
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testirgjuatithgethe design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures a:
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonédlelrasgsnion.

A companyés internal contr ol over financi al reporting i
reliability of financial reporting and the preparationcoihsolidatedinancial statements for external purposeadonordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A companyob6s i

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faithe reeflasactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necess
permit preparation o€onsolidatedfinancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accountinglpena@nd that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directo
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorizieh acseljsitr
di sposition of the companyds a soensolidatedindngal stattmemts.d have a ma:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Als
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequ
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, tlke Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 201lbased on criteria established limernal Controd Integrated Frameworkissued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of theeadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
consolidated balance sheets of the Company &epfember 30, 2014nd 201Q and the related consolidatedtsiments of

operations, changes in permanent stockhol der sd e §eptentbgr an
30, 2011 and our report dated December 14, R@&pressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated finaratiahgnts.

/sl WHITLEY PENN LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 14, 201
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September30,
(in thousands, excepper share data) 2011 2010

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,69¢ $ 18,59¢
Accounts receivable:

Trade, net 77¢ 662

Other, net 1,161 204
Marketable securities 51F -
Inventories 1,174 1,082
Deferred tax asset 51% 1,504
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,02t 863
Assets of discontinued operations 112 4,851
Total current assets 19,65¢ 27,76k
Property and equipment, net 65,89: 56,78¢
Other assets:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles, net 65642 61,761
Definite lived intangibles, net 1,091 1,13¢
Other 1,09:¢ 92C
Total other assets 67,82¢ 63,82(
Total assets $ 15337 $ 148,371
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,218 $ 69¢€
Accrued liabilities 2,76¢ 4,301
Texas patron tax liability 6,83( 3,95¢
Current portion of derivative liabilities 1,20¢ 1,27¢
Current portion of longerm debt 5,49¢ 7,88:
Liabilities of discontinued operations 177 58¢
Total current lialities 17691 18,69¢
Deferred tax liability 23,03 15,28¢
Other longterm liabilities 78t 71¢
Long-term debt 30,06( 34,80:
Derivative liabilities at fair value, less current portion - 1,24:
Total liabilities 71,%9 70,752
Commitments and contingencies
Temporary equity Common stock, subject to put rigle§ and198 shares, respectively 1,58 4,36¢
PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding - -
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000 shares authorizé@4@nd9,766shares issued and outstand

respectively 96 98
Additional paidin capital 61,44¢ 62,32¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income 10 -
Retained earnings 15,36 7,51¢
Tot al Rickdbs permanent stockholdersod6 equ 76,91 69,989
Noncontrolling interests 3,308 3,31«
Tot al permanent stockholders6 equity 80,22 73,25
Tot al l'iabilities and stockholdersé equi $ 15337 $ 148371

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiarsetts.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:

Sales of alcoholic bevegas
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues

Internet revenues

Media revenues

Other

Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages
Stockbased compensation
Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits

Charge card fees

Rent

Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Insurance

Utilities

Impairment of assets

Other

Total operating expenses

Income from operations

Other income (expense):

Interest income

Interest expense

Interest expenskloan origination costs

Gan (loss) on change in fair value of derivative instruments
Gain on settlement of debt

Gain (loss) on sale of property and other

Incomefrom continuing operations before incomeda
Income taxes

Incomefrom continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net income (loss)

Less: net income attributable to noncontrollimgerests

Net income (loss) attributable

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)
Diluted earnings (loss) per
Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended Septembei30,

2011 2010 2009
$ 3257¢ $ 2853 $ 23,64
7,40z 6,321 5,61¢
38,17¢ 34,17¢ 31,78¢
47¢ 562 641

1,24¢ 1,44( 1,404
3,61¢ 3,02: 2,32¢
83,49; 74,06: 65,41F
10,42; 9,13¢ 7,88¢
18,32: 16,30¢ 14,79¢

8 40E 96

12,54: 11,45: 8,351
1,361 1,22¢ 1,30(
2,988 2,731 2,16¢
2,28¢ 3,00z 2,84¢
3,471 3,167 2,58¢
3,90¢ 3,22t 2,80¢
1,157 o8t 894
1,60¢ 1,507 1,39(

- 3,57¢ -

6,62¢ 5,94¢ 5,25¢
64,69 62,67 50,38(
18,79« 11,39: 15,03E

11¢ 19 16
(3,930 (4,029) (3,352
(35¢) (450) (65)

12¢ (31) 14¢

90z - -

- @) 182

15,65t 6,90: 11,96:
5,40% 2,99¢ 4,01:
10,25: 3,90¢ 7,94¢
(2,195) (11,609 (2,446)
8,057 (7,699 5,50z
(211) (260) (294)

$ 7846 $  (7,95) $  520¢
$ 1.01 $ 0.3t $ 0.82
(0.22) (1.20) (0.26)

$ 0.7¢ $ (082 $ 056
$ 1.01 $ 03¢ $ 0.81
(0.22) (1.20) (0.26)

$ 0.7¢ $ 082 $ 0.5¢
9,93( 9,697 9,26¢
9,93z 9,697 9,42¢




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years EndedSeptember 30, 201,12010and 2009

(in thousandg
Common Stock Treasury Stock
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Number Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Number Noncontrolling St oc k h
of Shares  Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings of Shares  Amount Interests Equity
Balance aDctober 1, 2008 9,68¢ $ 97 $ 53,94¢ $ (13) $ 10,26¢ 90¢  $ (1,299 $ 3,32¢ $ 66,32

Stock options exercised 30C 3 74t - - - - - 74¢
Change in temporary equity - - 547 - - - - - 547
Issuance of warrants - - 53¢ - - - - - 53¢
Purchase of treasury share: - - - - - 304 (1,486 - (1,486
Cancelled treasury shares (1,109 (11 (2,769 - - (1,219 2,78( - -
Stockbased compensation - - 96 - - - - - 9€
Record derivative liability - - 1,42¢ - - - - - 1,42¢
Payments to noncontrolling

interests - - - - - - - (300 (300
Change in availabléor-

salesecurities - - - 13 - - - - 13
Net income - - - - 5,20¢ - - 294 5,50z
Comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 5,51t

Balan® at September 32009 8,88( 8¢ 54,53( - 15,47: - - 3,31¢ 73,41:

Stock options exercised 20 - 56 - - - - - 5€
Change in temporary equity 29 - 1,04t - - - - - 1,04t
Common stock issued for

debt and interest 89¢ 9 7,45¢ - - - - - 7,46:
Issuance of warrants - - 43t - - - - - 43t
Purchase of treasury share: - - - - - 19¢ (1,599 - (1,599
Cancelled treasury shares (58 - (1,599 - - (19¢) 1,59¢ - -



Stockbased compensation - - 40~ - - - - 40t
Payments to noncontrolling

interests - - - - - - - (26%) (265
Net loss - - - - (7,958 - - 26( (7,698
Balance aBeptember 30, 201 9,76¢ 9¢ 62,32¢ - 7,515 - - 3,31« 73,25
Stock options exercised 25 - 18¢ - - - - - 18¢
Change in temporary equity - - 51¢ - - - - - 51¢
Common stock issued for
debt and interest 26 - 27C - - - - - 27C
Settlement of lawsuit 70 1 1,39¢ - - - - - 1,40(C
Purchase of treasury share: - - - - 41t (3,267) - (3,267
Cancelled treasury shares (28%) 3) (3,269 - - (41%) 3,261 - -
Stockbased compensation - - 8 - - - - 8
Payments to noncontrolling
interests - - - - - - - (21€) (216)
Change in availabléor-sale
securities - - - 1C - - - - 1C
Netincome - - - - 7,84¢ - - 211 8,05
Comprehensive income 8,06
Balance at September 30, 20. 9,60¢ $ 9%€ $ 61,44¢ $ 1c  $ 15,36 - 0% - % 309 % 80,22:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss)

Loss from discontinued operations

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Years Ended Septembef0,

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred taxes
(Gain) loss on sale g@froperty and other
Gain on settlement of debt
Impairment of assets
Amortization of note discount

(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivative instruments

Write-off of prepaid loan origination costs
Beneficial conversion

Deferred rents

Stock compensation expense

Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Cashprovided by(used in operating activities of discontinued operations

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of property

Acquisition of marketable securities

Additions to property and equipment

Acquisition of busnesses, net of cash acquired
Payments from notes receivable

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations
Cash used in investing actiis of discontinued operations
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from stock optie exercised
Proceeds from lorgerm debt

Purchase of put options and payments on derivative instrument

Payments on lonterm debt
Purchase of treasury stock
Distribution to minority interests

Cash provided byused in)financing activities of continuing operations

NET INCREASE(DECREASE)IN CASH
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH AT END OF PERIOD

CASH PAID DURINGPERIOD FOR:
Interest

Income taxes

Non-cash transactions:

2011 2010 2009
$ 8051 $ (769§ $ 5502
2,19t 11,60: 2,44¢
10252 3,90¢ 7,948
3,90¢ 3,22t 2,806
3,77¢ 422 852
- 3 (182)
(903) - -
- 3,57¢ -
14E 14z 3C
(12¢) 31 (145)
- 274 -
- 23 23
65 78 104
8 40E 96
- 13
(1,075) (256) 138
(91) (5) 48(
(30€) (159) (510)
2,14¢ 5,783 (1,142)
17,79( 17,44¢ 10,512
1,091 (10€) (1,545)
18381 17 34C 8,06
- - 72¢
(505) (1,009) -
(11,539 (5,927) (1,649
(4,281) (5,85)) (2,399
- - 25
(16,319 (12,782) (3,28))
(21) (115) (509)
(16,340 (12897) (3,790
189 56 745
75¢ 8,74( 7,20(
(2,08) (2,697 (1,149
(6,855) (2,479) (2,809)
(3,267) (1,599) (1,486)
(216) (26¢) (300)
(11442) 1,75 2,2
(8,901) 6,20( 737¢
18,50¢ 1239¢ 5,02
$ 969t $ 1859 $  1239¢
$ 405 $  319: $  3,21¢
$ 2617 $§ 1001 $ 2,83
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During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company purchased and retired 415,384 commoshaees. The cost of
these shares was $3.3 million.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company issued 26,320 shares of common stock for debt aggregating $269,7

During theyear endedSeptembei30, 2011, the Company transferred 70,000reshaggregating $1.4 million from temporary
equity to permanent equity in connection with the settlement of certainlitigagon.

During the year ended September 30, Rahe Company retired certain debt and accrued interest aggregating $7.5
milioni n exchange for 895,255 shares of the Companyds c¢commo

In June 2010, the Company issued detachable warrants in conjunction with debt to acquire 179,513 common shares of
the Company.The warrants were valued at $434,571 and this amount is cldsasifi@ discount on the related debt with
the offset to additional paith capital and amortized over the life of the debt.

During the year ende8eptember 30, 2@] the Company retired 197,950 shares of treasury stock at a cost aggregating
$1.6 million.

During the year ende8eptember 30, 2@] the Company incurred debt amounting to approximately $4.7 million in
connection with acquiring businesses and real estate.

In June 2009, the Company retire@ million shares dfreasury stoclat a cost of62.8million by a charge to additional
paidin capital.

In April 2009, the Company acquired 15,218 of its shares subject to put options with notes payable totaling $350,000.

In April 2009, the Company transferred $5.2 million from temporary equity and recdrddair value of the resulting
derivative financial instrument of $3.8 millio.he difference was recognized in additional gaidapital.

In March 2009, the Company sold 100% of the common stock of Texas S&l which owned and operated the Encounters
nightclub for $40,000, including a note for $35,000.

In August 2009, the Company issued $7.2 million in convertible debentures and issued common stock warrants to the
creditors. The warrants were valued at $539,178 and the unamortized portion is recbgsia discount on the related
debt in the accompanying balance sheet.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

A. Nature of Business

Rickds Cabaret I nternational, l nc. ( t h e94. Mhtoag tsasnbgidigriesties a
Company currently owns and operates nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment, restaurant, and bar operations. Th
nightclubs are located in Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Dallas and Fort Worth, Texas, as wellnaapdiis, Minnesota,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Charlotte, North Carolina, New York, New York, Miami Garéenisla, and Indianapolis, Indiana

The Company also owns and operates several adult entertainment Internet websites and a media divisianpTde §od s
corporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
America requires managentgn make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts in the financial statemer
and accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience, forecasted future events &ed various
assumptions that we believo be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates and assumptions may vary under differe
assumptions or conditions. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believe the accounting po
below are critical in the portrayaf our financial condition and results of operations.

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basig @fi accoun
accordance with accounting principles generatigepted in the United States of America.

Changes in Accounting

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted an amendment to ASCd@1islidation,which requires certain changes to the
presentation of our financial statements. This amendment requires thEa@pto classify earnings attributable to noncontrolling
interests (previously referred t o iacemefilossandto include the actumulaged t s

amount of noncontrol |l ing i nThe nektearhirsgs amsuntp \@erhave prdviousihraporeed avel ndwe
presented as " Net earnings attributable to Rickds Gabar
equity, we distinguish between equity amounts attributable todRick s har ehol der s and amounts a
interestsi previously classified as minority interest out si de

changes, this guidance provides for significant changes in @iiecguelated to noncontrolling interests; specifically, increases
and decreases in our controlling financial interests in consolidated subsidiaries will be reported in equity similarystoe&s
transactions. If a change in ownership of a cons@laubsidiary results in loss of control and deconsolidation, any retained
ownership interests are remeasured with the gain or loss reported in net earnings.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts o€dhgpany and its subsidiaries. Significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the dgtedfSt
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts in the financsal stater
and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.The Company maintains deposits in several financial institutions, which may at times exceed amounts covered by
insurance prowed by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDI¢ Company has not experienced any losses
related to amounts in excess of FDIC limits.
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accaonts receivable for the nightclub operation is primarily comprised of credit card charges, which are generally converte
to cash in two to five days after a purchase is mddb.e medi a di vi si onds accounts re
receivablesd r advertising sales and Expo registration. The Co
advances and other miscellaneous receivables. Thetdomgportion of notes receivable are included in other assets in the
accompanying consolitled balance sheets. The Company recognizes interest income on notes receivable based on the term:
the agreement and based upon managementds evalwuation th
Company recognizes allowances ftoubtful accounts or notes when, based on management judgment, circumstances indicat
that accounts or notes receivable will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, and Company merchandise. Inventories are dagitmhvatr of cost (on a first
in, frstout (AFI FO0O) basis), or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Provisions for depreciation and amortization are made usiigestatigghiver the
estimated useful lives dfhe related assets and the shorter of useful lives or terms of the applicable leases for leaseho
improvements. Buildings have estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 years. Furniture, equipment and leasehc
improvements have estimated useful libesween five and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extenc
the useful lives are capitalized. Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. The sastidf asset
or abandoned and the related accutedalepreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any gains or losses are charged c
credited in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Impairment of LongLived Assets

FASB ASC 350,Intangibles- Goodwill and Other saddresses the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under
FASB ASC 350, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized, but reviewed on an annael basis
impairment or sooner if there is an indication of impairment. The Company reviews property and equipment and intangible asst
with definite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may
be recovesble. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of its carrying amounts to future undiscounted c
flows the assets are expected to generate. If property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives aretodresidered
impaired, the impairment to be recognized equals the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fi
value. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows when assessing impairment, principally
the club level Cash flows for our club assets are identified at the individual club ldvele Company 6s annua
goodwill and indefinitdived intangible assets was performed asSeptember 30, 201based on a projected discounted cash
flow method usig a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the current busin
model.Cert ain of the Companyds recent acquisitions, speci f
Austin (nowa 40% inestmentoperated asi T h e M3, mavé meandunderperforming, principally due to the recent general
economic downturn, especially in Las Vegas, but also due to certain specific operationabisguas, the change of concept in
Philadelphia and the cdbre marketing issues in Las Vega$he value of these assets was determined utilizing a net asset value
approach since these clubs are not currently producing cash #hevsf September 30, 201@he Company recognized $20.5
million as a net asset impment on these propertied. | | of the Companyés goodwi || and
segment, except for $567,000 related to the acquisition of the media division. Definite lived intangible assets are amartized
straightline basisover their estimated lives. Fully amortized assets are witteagainst accumulated amortization.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instruments aed thitu
additional information in the notes to consolidated financial statements when the fair value is different than the ehreyfg v
these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of accounts receivable, accounts payable and acdies@pabikimate
their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The carrying value of short-terchldebt
also approximates fair value since these instruments bear market rates of interest. None of these iresteunedshtfor trading
purposes.
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments that are indexed to and potentially settled in, its own stock, incluging stock

options, in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC &lé&ijvatives and Hedging Contracts in Enti.t
. Under certain circumstances that would require the Company to settle these equity items in cash, and without regard
probability, FASB ASC 815 would require the classification of all or part of the item as a liability and the adjustment of that
reclassified amount to fair value at each reportinmgengate

of operatims. The first instrument to meet the requirements of FASB ASC 815 for derivative accounting occurred in the quarte
ended June 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiated the payback terms of certain put options and agreed to pledge as coll
to certain htders a second lien on certain property.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities when the securities became derivatives were estimated to be $3.8 milliodancacco
with FASB ASC 820,Fair Value Measurementsusing a BlackScholes optiofpricing nodel using the following weighted
average assumptions:

Volatility 73%
Expected life 3.42 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 1.3%%

The related put options were recognized in temporary equity in the amount of $502 miilkhe time they were issue@he
difference between that amount and the value of the derivative of $3.8 million, amounting to $1.4 million, was included i
additional paiein capital. The fair value of the derivative liabilities asSefptember 30,1 were estimated to bel® million in
accordance with FASB ASC 820, using a BkSitholes optiotpricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 37%
Expected life 1.00 yea
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 0.13%

The gain (loss) for the years endgeptember 30, 2012010and 2009ecognized in earnings amounted 28,944 $(31,314)
and $.45,374 respectively.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income (loss) in acumedavith the provisions of FASB ASC 22®Reporting
Comprehensive Incom€omprehensive income (loss) consists of net income and gains (losses) on afaisdlie marketable
securities and is presented in the consolidated statements of changes inpermaset oc k hol der s6 equi t vy.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages, food and merchandise, other revenues and services
point-of-sale upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company reanizes Internet revenue from monthly subscriptions to its online entertainment sites when notification of a ne\
or existing subscription and its related fee are received from the third party hosting company or from the credit cayd compa
usually two to lhree days after the transaction has occurred. The monthly fee is not refundable. The Company recognizes Inter
auction revenue when payment is received from the credit card as revenues are not deemed estimable nor collection dee
probable prior to thaboint.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertising content are recognized when the issue is published afRbebimppeed.
and external expenses related to the Companyds annumih EX
August.
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes paid as revenues and an equal expense in accordance with FASB ASC
Revenue RecognitiorTotal sales andiquor taxes aggregateds® million, $5.6 million and $.5 million for the years ended
September 30, 2012010and2009 respectively.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarily comprised of costs related to publisahaarts and giveaways, which are
used for promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing expenses are expensed as incurred and are included in oper:
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred incomeaxes are determined using the liability method in accordance with FASB ASQrittline TaxesDeferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the finaecial state
carrying amounts foexisting assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measu
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are eapected
recovered osettled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the per
that includes the enactment date. In addition, a valuation allowance is established to reduce any deferred tax adsét i®r whic
determined that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax positions by prescribing a minimu
recognition threshold a tax pition is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FASB ASC 740 als
provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim pesgds, discl
and transition. There ar@mnrecognized tax benefits to disclose in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity Method of Accounting for Investments

Investments in companies in which the company has a 20% to 50% interest are carried at cost, adjusté&tbrigvablyes
proportionateshareof their undistributed earnings or losséhe 40% investment in one company is recorded in other assets and
is @ nominal amount.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issued restricted common shares as paitierat@ms for acquisitions of certain
businesses or assefBursuant to the terms and conditions of the governing acquisition agreements, the holder of such shares |
the right, but not the obligation, to put a fixed number of the shares on a montiipéels to the Company at a fixed price per
share.The Company may elect during any given month to either buy the monthly shares or, if management elects not to do
the holder can sell the monthly shares in the open market, and any deficiency beenamotint which the holder receives from

the sale of the monthly shares and the value of shares will be paid by the ComMpargompany has accounted for these shares

in accordance with the guidance established by FASB ASCDi8tinguishing Liabilitiesfrom Equityas a reclassification of the
value of the shares from permanent to temporary egdisythe shares become due, the Company transfers the value of the shares
back to permanentequitAl so see fiDerivative Financi al I nstrumentso al
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policiesi continued
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per share in accordance with FASB ASEa2fifgs Per ShareFASB ASC 260
provides for the calculation of basic and dilutechéags per share. Basic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed
by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potedilation of securities that could share in the earnings of the Company.
Potential common stock shares consist of shares that may arise from outstanding dilutive common stock options andvarrants

number of which is computdaddodi mappdthie omt neaastraNnds hgclc om
which is computed using the Aif converted methododo) . Dil
could occur i f the Companyo6s roang and eonvdriible glebentoresnnene cosvertea ikto ©
common stock that then shared in the Company6s ear niifngs

the debentures were converted).

Net earnings (loss) applicable to comnstock and the weighted average number of shares used for basic and diluted earnings
(loss) per share computations are summarized in the table that follows:
(in thousands, except per share data) FOR THE YEAR ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30,

2011 2010 2009
Badc earnings per share:

Income from continuing operations attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 10,041 $ 3,645 $ 7,654
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (2,195) (11,603) (2,446)
Net income attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 7.846 $ (7,958) $ 5,208
Average number of common shares outstanding 9,930 9,697 9,266
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 1.01 $ 0.38 $ 0.83
Discontinued operations $ (0.22) $ (1.20) $ (0.26)
Net income (loss) attributable to Rislshareholders $ 0.79 $  (0.82) $ 0.56
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 10,041 $ 3,645 $ 7,654
Adjustment to nekarnings from assumed conversion of debentddes ( - - -
Adjusted income from continuing operations 10,041 3,645 7,654
Discontinued operations (2,195) (11,603) (2,446)
Adjusted net income (loss) attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 7,846 $ (7,958) $ 5,208
Average number of common shares outstanding:
Common shares outstanding 9,930 9,697 9,266
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercise of warrants and op#pns 2 - 162
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversioneffehtures3) - - -
Total average number of common shares outstanding used for dilution 9,932 9,697 9,428
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rick's shareholders $ 1.01 $ 0.38 $ 0.81
Discontinued operations $ (0.22) $ (120 $ (0.26)
Net income (loss) attributable to Rickisaseholders $ 0.79 $ (082 $ 0.55

*EPS may not foot due to rounding.
Additional shares for options, warrants atebentures amounting 19533for the year ende8eptember 30, 20Mere not
considered since thavould be antidilutive.

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive convertible securittesabll not occur if they were assumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were considered for the EPS computation.

(3) Convertible debentes (principal and accrued interest) outstandin§egitember 30, 2012010and 2009 totaling $7,21Q
$9,565and$7,892, respectively, were convertible into common stock at a price of $4/@d2510.00n 2011, $10.25and $12.00
per share ir2010and $8.7 and$12.00 in2002 No debentures were dilutive the three years
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
Stock Options

At September 30, 201the Company has stock options outstanding, which are described more fully in Nt Company
accounts for its stock options under the recognitionra@dsurement principals of fair value set forth in FASB ASC Topic 718
Compensatiofi Stock CompensationThe compensation cost recognized for the year eBgptember 30, 2012010and 2009
was 8,254 $405,229and 96,171 respectively. There wer25,000, 20,000 and300000 stock option exercises for the years
endedSeptember 30, 2012010and2009 respectively.

Fair Value Accounting

In December 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. (&5C 820),Fair Value MeasurementSFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition

of fair value, describes methods used to appropriately measure fair value, and expands fair value disclosure requirdoesits, bu
not change existing guidance as to whether omandhstrument is carried at fair value. For financial assets and liabilities, SFAS
No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which required the Company to adopt these provisions
fiscal 2009. For nonfinancial assets andbilities, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008,
which required the Company to adopt these provisions in fiscal 2010.

SFAS No. 157 establishes a thiter fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs usedhim taluation methodologies in
measuring fair value:

Level 17 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 21 Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observabteémmarketplace.
Level 31 Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of umobserve
inputs when measuring faralue.

The Companyés derivative | iabilities have been measured
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 1BliBiness Combinatiolsi SFAS 141 0) ,No.d60MonSt at
controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statemgntsan amend me nt of ARB No. SFAE (i
141R modifies the accounting and disclosure requirements for business combinations and broadens the scope of the pre\
standard to apply to all transactions in which one entity obtains control over another business. SFAS 160 establishes r
accounting and reporting standards for 4econtrolling interests in subsidiaries. The Company was required to apply the

provisions of te new standards in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. Early adoption was not permitted for these new standards. T
adoption of these standards did not have a material impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, new guidee was issued regarding improving disclosures about fair value measurements. This standard amer
the disclosure guidance with respect to fair value measurements for both interim andregponimig periods. Specifically, this
standard requires new dissures for significant transfers of assets or liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy; separate disclosures for purchases, sales, issuance and settlements of Level 3 fair value items on athavsaegther
basis; and moreobust disclosure of the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure Level 2 and Level 3 assets and liabiliti
Except for the detailed disclosures of chanigekevel 3 items, which wereffective as of October 1, 2011, the remainirgyv
disclosure rguirementsvereeffective as of October 1, 2010.

In September 2011 new guidance was issued regarding the goodwill impairment testing for reporting units. This guidance gi\
the entity the option to perform a qualitative assessment and determine thatdtd likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginningeafteeDe

15, 2011. The Company wilarlyadopt this guidance beginning with our FattQ for the quarter ending December, 2011.

In June 2011 new guidance was issued regarding the disclosure of the components of comprehensive income. This guidance |
the entity the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the compaineetsncome, and the components of other
comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consect
statements. In either option, an entity is required to present each component of netilocgwath total net income, each
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards continued

component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income, aaldaadont for
comprehensive income. This guidance eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as par
the statement of changes in stockholdersdéd equity. herhis
comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. This guidanc

effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and is required to be adopted retrospectively. T
Compaly will adopt this guidance beginning with our FormQor the quarter ending December 31, 201

C. Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation, particularly in relation
discontinuel operations.

D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands, except per share data) SeptembeB0,
2011 2010
Buildings and land $ 48,007 $ 39,154
Leasehold improvements 16,399 15,207
Furniture 3,933 2,958
Equipment 14,353 11,960
Total property and equipment 82,692 69,279
Less accumulated depreciation 16300 12,48
Property and equipment, net $ 65,892 $ 56,78€

E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

SeptembeB0,
2011 2010

Indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill $ 23,550 $21,@1

Licenses 42,092 40,740

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives:

Discounted leases 18 & 6 years 46 64

Unamortized noftompete agreements 5 years 1,045 1,075
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 66,733 $ 62,900
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RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets- continued

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Licenses Goodnwill Licenses Goodwill
Beginning balance $ 40,740 $ 21,021 $ 41,058 $ 20,320
Intangibles acquired 1,150 2,731 3,459 701
Impairment - - (3,574) -
Other 202 (202) (203) -
Ending balance $ 42,092 $ 23,550 $ 40,740 $ 21,021

Future amortization expense related to defihited intangible assets subject to amortizatiolseptember 30, 201fbr each of
the years in the figear period ending September 30, 2015 and thereafter is (in thousands): $1BB, 2013 - $276, 2014 -
$162 2015 - $122, 2016 - $71, and thereafter$22.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets consist of sexually oriented business licenses or goodwill, which weck asbtain
part of the acquisitions. These licenses are the result of zoning ordinances, thus are valid indefinitely, dilinjgcartoual
renewal applications, which are done at minimal costs to the Company. As cash flows are expected to continue indefinitely,
accordance with FASB ASC 35Mhtangibles- Goodwill and Otherthe licenses are determined to have indefiniteulidiees.

The discounted cash flow method of income approach was used in calculating the value of these licenses in a busir
combination. Impairment ¢ intangible assets wa#3,574,000as of September 3®01Q representing the impairment of the
Philadéphia club

F. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of:

SeptembeB0,
(in thousands) 2011 2010

Notes payable at-21%, mature August 2015 * $ 1,70: $ 1,83¢
Notes payable at 10%, maturedeenber 2014 and January 2015 * 2,46( 2,54¢
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, collateralized by assets of RCI Entert

North Carolina, Inc. 61 114
Note payable at 7.5%, maturédgust 2011 * - 82¢
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2019 * 28¢ 31z
Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2013 * 1,432 1,67¢
Notes payable at 14%, mature November 30, 2010, collateralized by stocks of Mig

Gardens Square One, Irand Stellar Management, Inc. 9,50¢ 10,00(
Note payable at 6.15%, matures February 2028, collateralized by an aircraft 1,40¢ 1,45¢
Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime or 7.5%, (7.S¥pamber 30, 20),1

matures April 2013 * 3,34¢ 3,43¢
Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime or 7.5%, (7.S¥pamber 30, 20),1

matures June 2013 * 4,01¢ 4,12¢
Convertble note payable at 10%, matui@dtober 2010 * - 12:
Note payable at 8% - 2,42
4% notes payable converted from put options - 10t
Note payable at 7%, matures April 2025 * 2,07¢ 2,16t
Note payable at 6.3%, matures June 2030, collazechliy an aircraft 502 51k
Notes payable at 4.75%25%, mature December 2014 and September 2019 * 1,81t 2,21z
10% convertible debentures 6,18¢ 8,80¢
Convertible note payabfeom a related partgt 10%, matures August 1, 2014 75C -
Total debt 35,55¢ 42,68¢
Less current portion 5,49¢ 7,88:
Total longterm debt $ 30080 $  34,80:

* Collateralized by real estate
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F. Long-term Debt i continued

Following is a summary of lonterm debt at September 30:
(in thousands)

2011 2010
Secured by real estate $ 17138 $19,272
Securedy stock in subsidiary 9,506 10,000
Other 8910 13,414
$ 35,554 $ 42,686

On October 12, 2007, the Company borrowed $1 million from an investment company under terms of a 10% convertib
debenture. Intereginly is payable quarterly until the principal plus accrued interest is due in nine equal quarterly payment:
beginning in October 2008. The deh&et wassubject to optional redemption at any time after 366 days from the date of issuance
at 100% of the pricipal face amount plus accrued interest. The debenture plus astarmlihg convertible interest was
convertible by the holder into shares of the Companyébs
price of $12 perlsare. The rote was paid off during the year ended September 30, 2011

On April 29, 2009, the Company entered into a modification to two secured promissory notes whereby the due date for the
million of principal due and payable by the Company under each notextasded by two years from November 2010 to
November 2012 All other terms and conditions of the promissory notes remain the stineeCompany paid a total of $150,000

to the holders of the notes as consideration for their agreement to extend thiemotesyears through November 201Phe
$150,000 paid will be amortized as an adjustment of interest expense over the remaining life of th&heotésmpany
accounted for this transaction in accordance with FASB ASC&ky,

On September 30, 2@] the two secured promissory notes were modified addirder the modified terms the promissory notes
become 10 year amortized facilities that provides for equal monthly payments and will be fully paid on September 30, 202
rather than a balloon paymemtr fthe entire amount that would have been due orehitrer30, 2012. Interest on the modified

note remains at 14 percerthe Company paid each holder $50,000 as consideration for entering into the extehisen.
$100,000 paid will be amortized as an wsdinent of interest expense over the remaining life of the ndtes.Company
accounted for this transaction in accordance with FASB ASCZ&0y,

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Club Il in Dallas, the Company acquired the Real ProperWifeokvay, LLC, a
Texas | imited I|iability company (fAWire Wayo). Pursuant
Agreement 0) dated May 10, 2008, the Company paid t oandal C
$4.4 million through the issuance of a five (5) yeaestpro
at a varying rate at the greater of (i) two percent (2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) seven-hall pecent (7.5%), wbh is
guaranteed by the Company and by Eric Langan, the Compan

On August 6, 2009, the Company completed the sale of an
Debenturesdagrredi tedt &ainn e a ®OnoAprd 16(2010,ehe Gdrpanydsent ssNitjce of Redemption to all
of the Holders, thereby exercising its right to redeem all of the 2009 Debentures, including the entire outstandingaproaipal

of all the 2009 Debntures and any accrued but unpaid interest therdpon receipt of such Notice of Redemption, all of the
Holders exercised their right to convert the principal amount plus all accrued but unpaid interest thereon of the 2008 Dathent
the conversiorprice of $8.75 per share in lieu of receiving a cash payment (pursuant to the terms of the 2009 Debenture
effective as of May 3, 2010Accordingly, on May 4, 2010, the Company issued an aggregate of 842,972 shares of its commo
stock to these Holdersn conversion of an aggregate of $7.2 million of outstanding principal and an aggregate of $176,000 o
outstanding interest on such 2009 Debentufesa result of this conversion, the Company made no cash payments to the Holders
in connection with the Nice of RedemptionConcurrent with the retirement of the debt, the Company was required to write off,
as interest expense, the unamortized portion of its related loan origination costs, amounting to $274,425.

In connection with the sale of tf#09 Debentures, the Company also issued an aggregate of 164,569 detachable warrants (th
AWarrant so) t o trdteebasid.dhe Campany isseed eaeh Hpldema number of Warrants ém2d% of the
number of shares of common stock into which eachéloldd s De b e nt u rTée Wasrants loavevar exércise priee. of
$8.75 and expire on August 5, 20IPhe Warrants provide that the Company has the right to require exercise of the Warrants if
the closing price of t he nsEativptading days isableashdlr.25st ock for 20 c
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F. Long-term Debti continued

The $8.75 conversion price for the 2009 Convertible Debentures was in excess of the market pricef isstatiece of $8.09.

The beneficial conversion was calculated by commpari t he fAef fective conversion pricec
at the transaction date. The fAeffective conversi dnygther i c
fair value of the debt discount due to thsuance of warrants with the debt in the amount of $539,178, by the convertible shares.
The resulting $8.09 was equal to the stock price at the transaction date; therefore, there was no beneficial conversion featu

The fair value of the warrants isgua the transaction were estimated to be $539,178 at the date of grant using-SdBlalels
optionpricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 9C%
Expected lives 1.5 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rates 1.62%

The fair value of the warrants has been recognized as a discount to the debt and was being amortized as interest ékpense ov
life of the debt.Upon conversion, the unamortized portion of the discount amounting to $404a38Sharged to additional paid
in capital.

In connection with the acquisition of Joy Club of Ausfim o w Ri ¢ k dnsDec€mbkra2008 {Npte N), the Company
assumed and entered into certain notes payable aggregating $2.5 rifilese notes bear ingst at rates ranging from 4.75% to

7.25% and are payable in monthly installments aggregating $42,461, including intéresiotes mature in December 2014 and
September 2019.

In April 2010, the Company acquired the real estate for the club in AustinaT® f or mer Il y known as
operated asi T h e Ma msonmeeation with the purchase, the Company executed a note to the seller amounting to $2.
million. The note is collateralized by the real estate and is payable in monthly instaltmenigh April 2013 of $19,774,
including principal and interest at the prime rate plus 4.5% with a minimum rate of 7%.

In June 2010, the Company borrowed $518,192 from a lender. The funds were used to purchase an aircraft. The debsbears int
at 6.3@6 with monthly principal and interest payments of $3,803 beginning July 2010. The note matures in June 2030.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sale of an aggregate of approximately $9.2 million in 10% Convertible Debentt
(the N2010G)Deémbmercteurteas n accr edi t e dhe 2OAOvDelsentweas bear(intelest at fin2 tate Of
10% per annum and mature on June 25, 201% 2010 Debentures are payable with one initial payment of interest only due
December 26, 2010, and, thafter in ten equal quarterly principal payments, plus accrued interest théitethie. option of the

2010 Holders, the principal amount of the 2010 Debentures and the accrued but unpaid interest thereon may be converted
shares of t heonGtocka $10.35(per sharehen2010 Debentures are redeemable by the Company at any time if
the closing price of its common stock for 20 consecutive trading days is at least $13.47 peiCsimmidering the cost of the
associated warrants and isaasts explained below, the effective interest rate on the 2010 Debentures is 13.1%.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentures in June 2010, the Company also issued an aggregate of 179,51 3swarrants
AWarrantso) t o t heaabdsidThe Cbmpadydssusd each Holdar a pumber of Warrants equal to 20% of the
number of shares of common stock i nt o TWé\Warantsbaaeah exerase drieer 6
of $10.25 and expire on June 25, 20The Warants provide that the Company has the right to require exercise of the Warrants
if the closing price of the Companyds common stock for 2

The conversion price for the 2010 ConverililDebentures wadeterminedby negotiation with the creditors. The $10.25
conversion price was in excess of the market pricgate of issuance of $8.73The beneficial conversion was calculated by
comparing the fneffective conversiomcpriated hef traesdeben
conversion priced was calculated by dividing the fdagtoe v a
the issuance of warrants with the debt in the amount of $462,724, by thetitbewsrares. The resulting $9.74 was above the
stock price at the transaction date; therefore, there was no beneficial conversion feature.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated to be $434,571 in accordance with FASB A&&ii8Z8lue Measuremes using
a BlackScholes optiospricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:
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F. Long-term Debti continued

Volatility 68%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 1.1&%

The cost of thevarrants has been recognized as a discount on the related debt and will be amortized over the life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Debentures and Warrants in June 2010 are intended to be utilized to make fu
acquisitions, and may hailized for working capital and general corporate purposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensation in the amount of $460,000, which was capitalized as loan origination cost
will be amortized over the life of the debt, in connection withisidg the Company regarding the June 2010 sale of the 2010
Debentures and Warrant3.he proceeds from the sale of the Debentures and Warrants are intended to be utilized to make futu
acquisitions, and may be utilized for working capital and generabcatgpurposes.

In August 2011, the Company borrowed $750,000 fronemployee. The noteeas interest at the rate of 10% per annum and
matures on August 1, 2014 The note is payable with one initial payment of interest only due January 1, 201emadftér in

ten interesonly quarterly payments.The principal is payable on August 1, 2014k the option of theholder, the princigl
amount of the notand the accrued but unpaid interest thereon may be converted into share§ of the a n y 6 s stockaatmmo r
$10.00per share. The note igedeemable by the Compaafter six monthsat any time if the closing price of its common stock

for 20 consecutivérading days is at least $13.p6r share.

Future maturities of lonterm debt consist of thefowing: (in thousands)

2012 $ 5,49¢
2013 13,54:
2014 2,41¢
2015 3,65¢
2016 1,30¢
Thereafter 9,13¢
Total maturities of longerm debt, net of debt discount $ 35,55¢

G. Income Taxes

The provision for incomé&axes on continuing operations consisted of the following for the years ended September 30:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Current $ 1,627 $ 2,576 $ 3,160
Deferred 3,776 422 853
Total income tax expense $ 5,403 $ 2,998 $ 4,013

I ncome tax expense on continuing operations differs frol
federal statutory rate of 34% to earningfobe income taxes for the years ended September 30 as a result of the following:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Computed expected tax expense $ 5,323 $ 2,347 $ 4,067
State income taxes 140 105 153
Stock option disqualifying dispositions
and other permanent differences (60) 546 (207)
Total income tax expense $ 5,403 $ 2,998 $ 4,013
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G. Income Taxes- continued
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assettieand liabili

for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Thecsignift components of
deferred tax assets and liabilities at September 30 were as follows:

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Definite and indefinite lived intangibles $ (14,373) $(8,839
Property and equipment (8,660) (6,728)
Patron tax 2,241 1,234
Net operating loss carryforward and other 2,954 548
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (17,838 $ (13,789

The net deferred taxes are recorded in the balance sheets as follows:

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Current assets $ 5,195 $ 1,504
Long-term liabilities (23,033) (15,288
Net deferred tax ligilities $ (17,839 $ (13,789

Il ncluded in the CompanSeptembat 80f 20titr appdoxinately $4K millidn irepresenting she @x
effect of indefinite lived intangible assets from club acquisitions which are nottilddufor tax purposesThese deferred tax
l'iabilities wild/l remain in the Companyds balance sheet u:

The Company may recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is at least more likely than hettthat t
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position.ehbéttax b
recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest benafigithatendban

fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities. We recognize accrued interego related
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest expense. We recognize penalties related to unrexdggrieéitstas a
component of miscellaneous income (expense) in accordance with regulatory requirements.

The Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties in oper
expenses. During the yeaesdedSeptember 30, 2012010 and 2009 the Company recognizeab interest and penaltiger
unrecognized tax benefit§he Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and
various statesThe last threegars remain open to tax examination.

For tax purposes, the Company has recognized a loss for tax purposes of approd@telmillion for the year ended

September 30, 2011 upon the closing of the Las Vegas club. The loss will result in a losspiaptses for the year of
approximately $2.3 million. This loss will be carried forward to the subsequent year for tax purposes.

57



RI CK6S CABARET I NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

H. Put Options and Temporary Equity

As part of certain of the Company 0 sklptepkQuisAgreements withitha selkes c t
pursuant to which, on or after a contractual period after the closing date, the seller shall have the right, but rgsdttor, dbli

have the Company purchase from seller a certain number of our shares ofrcstonkoissued in the transactions in an amount
and at a rate of not more than a contractual numb e share f t
equal to a contractual wval ue p e elecsoh@uringany giveranontle weonfay dithercbuyR i
the Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy the Monthly Shares from the seller, then the seller shall sell the Moethiyn Shar
the open market. Any deficiency between the amount which the sellevagdmm the sale of the Monthly Shares and the value

of the shares shall be paid by us within three (3) business days of the date of sale of the Monthly Shares duringuldwat partic
month. Our obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares from the Sellbrtetminate and cease at such time as the seller has

received a contractual amount from the sale of -UpheakORti c k &
Agreements, the seller may not sell more than a contractual number of ces pba 3&ay period, regardless of whether the
seller APutsod the shares to us or sells them in the open

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiation of terms of certain of our long term debt and a significant portion c
outstanding put optionsBefore the renegotiation, the maximum obligation that could be owed if our stock were valued at zerc
was$13.9 million andvasrecorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temporary Equity. After the renegotiation, the maximur
obligation that could be owed if outaek were valued at zerwas$3.2million at September 30, 2011f we are required to buy

back any of these put options, the Haack transaction will be purely a balance sheet transaction, affecting only Temporary
Equityo r Derivative Liability and Stockhol deThe énly Bepme statemeatn d
effect from these put options is the fimark to mar kftlotes v a
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Following is a schedule of the annual obligation (after the renegotiation) we would have if our stock price remainsuire the fu
the closing market price o8eptember 30, 201af $6.65 per share, of which there cae Imo assurance: (This includes the
derivative financial instruments recognized in our consolidated balance sBegtamber 30, 2011

For the Year Ended September 30: (in thousands)

2012 $ 2,192
2013 14¢
Total $ 2,340

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock précean aggregate effect of $133) on the total obligation.
I. Stock Options

I n 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Pl an
Coorpany adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the A1999 Pl ¢
2010 Stock Option Plan (tIié ansné 2000 PRh aas approvéddhe sharehmlers of thd y ,
Companyat the2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The options granted under the Plans may be either incentive stock optio
or nonqualified options. The Plans are administered by the Board of Directors or by a compensation committee of the Board
Directors. The Boal of Directors has the exclusive power to select individuals to receive grants, to establish the terms of th
options granted to each participant, provided that all options granted shall be granted at an exercise price equaBi§mbieas

the fair maket value of the common stock covered by the option on the grant date and to make all determinations necessary
advisable under the Plans.
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Following is a summary of options activity:
Weighted
Average Aggregate
Weighted Remaining Intrinsic
Average Contractua Value at
Exercise Term Septembel
(in thousands, except exercise prieas contractual terms) Options Price (Years) 30, 2011
Outstanding at Octobdr, 20( 42C  $ 3.8¢
Granted 60 8.7t
Forfeited (60) 8.2t
Exercised (300 2.4¢
Outstanding at Septemb&®, 2009 120 7.5%
Granted 465 10.2¢
Forfeited -
Exercised (20) 2.8(
Outstanding at Septemb&®, 2010 56E& 9.9¢
Granted 35 7.1t
Forfeited (55) 8.57
Exercised (25) 7.5t
Outstanding aSeptember 30, 2011 52C $ 10.01] 1.06 $ -
Exercisable aBeptember 30, 2011 48t $ 10.21 1.0C $ -
As of September 3@®011, the range of exercise pricéor outstanding options wag . 35- $10.25.
In July 20009, the Company issued 10,000 stock options
5,000 options to the Co 600 aptondte ancemployee. Theser optmns ¢60,8600 i total) bedame

exercisable on July 22, 2010,da strike price of $8.75 per share and expireJuly 2011.

The fair value of options issued for the year ended September 30, 2009 were estimatelV &3 &t the date of grant using a

Black-Scholes optiofpricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 90%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 1.41%

In September 2010h¢ Company issued 465,000 stock options under the 2010 Plan to Directors and certain emph@gees.
options became exercisable immediately, have a strike price of $10.25 per share and expire in Septemblee 2d2alue of
options issued for theepar endedSeptember 30, 201diere estimated to be $258,439 at the date of grant using a-Bthckes
optionpricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 47%
Expected life 1.0 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 0.27%

In August 2011, the Company issued 35,000 stock options under the 2010 Plan to Directors and certain effipésgeeptions
bemme exercisable in August 2012, have a strike price of $7.15 per share and expire in Augu3th20fh® value of options
issued for the year ended September 30, 2011 were estimated to be $49,521 at the date of grant usiSgleoBEdption
pricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 5C%
Expected life 15year:
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 0.19%
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l. Stock Options- continued

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have 1
vesting restrictions andra fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materi
affect the fair value estimati® management's opinion, the existing models dmpogssarily provide a reliable single measure of
the fair value of its employee stock optiorihe expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are
expected to be outstandinghe Company determined the initial expected life based on a simplified method in accordance witt
ASC 718 (also formerly SAB No. 11GharedBased Paymehtgiving consideration to the contractual terms, vesting schedules
and prevesting and postesting brfeitures. The Company has utilized the simplified method in accordance with ASC 718 for
the followingreasonsEar | i er i n t he Co ngrm opfodsqgererally-geardives) were issueditgemployees,
Directors and outsiders. In morecent years, option terms have generally become shorery€ar lives) and options were
issued principally to management and Directors. Then in 2010,-tehortoptions (2vear lives) were issued to Directors,
management and a substantial number ofleyees. Due to the changes in the terms of the option grants and the type of person:
receiving the options, we believe that the historical exercise data may no longer provide a reasonable basis upontivtdh to es
expected term. Therefore, the Compdmajieves that the use of the simplified method for determining the expected term of the
Companybs options has been appropriate.

During the years endegeptember 30, 2012010and2009 the Company recorded®R54 $405,229and 96,171of stockbased
compensaion, respectively. damortized stock compensation expeas®unted to $41,26at September 30, 2011

J.  Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and facilities under operating leases, of which rent expenseximatalyp.0
million, $2.7 million and $.2 million for the years endefleptember 30, 2012010and2009 respectively.Rent expense for the
Companyds operating | eases, which general |l y hmgthestragna | at
method over the initial lease term whereby an equal amount of rent expense is attributed to each period during thesterm of
lease, regardless of when actual payments are made. Generally, this results in rent expense in esttgss/oferds during the
early years of a lease and rent expense less than cash payments in the later years. The difference between rent eigeshse recc
and actual rental payments is recorded as othertkmng liabilities in the consolidated balance ghee

Future minimum annual lease obligations aSeptember 30, 201dre as follows:

(in thousands)

2012 $ 2,344
2013 2,29¢
2014 2,08¢
2015 1,291
2016 1,05¢
Thereafter 5,152

Total future minimum leasebligations $ 14,27

Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Companyds Texas clubsabec
$5 surcharge for every club visitoA lawsuit was filed by the Texas Entertainméns soci ati on (ATEAOQO) ,
which the Company is a member, alleging the fee amounts to be an unconstitutior@h tibarch 28, 2008, a State District
Court Judge in Travis County, Texas ruled that the new state law violates the First AmetadtherUnited States Constitution
and is thereforeinvalidT he judgeds order enjoined theTls¢aSerateomppeal
ruling. In Texas, when cities or the State give notice of appeal, it supersedesispahds the judgment, including the
injunction. Therefore, the judgment of the District Court cannot be enforced until the appeals are conGiletadthe
suspension of the judgment, the State has opted to collect the tax pending the outcome @il tsitaafen no affirmative action

to enforce that decisiorOn June 5, 2009, the Court of
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J.  Commitments and Contingencies continued

Legal Matters - continued

Appeals for the Third District (AusSBSéerbabhfyi Omedntbd Bus
violated the First Amendment to the U.S. ConstitubahonAugust 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversed the judgment of
the Court of Appeals, ruling that the SOB Fee does not violate the First Amendmieatlidst Constitution, and remanded the
case to the District Court to determine whether the fee violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEAhasappeatdthe Texas Supreme Court's decision to the U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutionality of the fe
under the First Amendment of the U.S. ConstitutioAjiditionally, our claims regarding the Texas Constitution have not yet been
addressed by the courtg/e do not plan to make any payments of these taxes while the case is pending in the courts. Howeve
we will continue to accrue and expense the potential tax liability on our finataiaments, so any ultimate negative ruling will

not have any effect on our income statement and will only affect our balancelfstieetiecision is ultimately found iour favor,

as we believe it will be, then we will have a eirae gain of the entire amount previously expensed.

The Company has paid the tax for the first five calendar quarters under protest and expensed the tax in the accompan
consolidated financlestatements, except for two locations in Dallas where the taxes have not been paid, but the Company
accruing and expensing the liabilitFor t he subsequent quarters, as a result
the fee, but did ngpbay the StateAs of September 30, 201the Company has approximatel§.&million in accrued liabilities

for this tax. Patron tax expense amounted B%million, $2.8 million and $18 million for the years ende8September 30, 2011
2010and2009 regectively. The Company has paid more than $2 million to the State of Texas since the inception of the tax. Th
Companybs Texas clubs have f i lirewhichawe saise alditianalechallergesstalthet statatg a
imposing the fee otax anddemand repayment of the taxeBhe courts have not yet addressed these additionalscl#irthe

St at eds appe aoftweark succesaftl im thg remaming lisgationt he Companyds current ¢
would be repaidioapplied to future admission tax and other Texas state tax liabilities.

I n September 2011, the Companyb6s subsidiary, RCI Entert
International were sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas foeach of contract and ot her
| ease. RCI Las Vegas has no assets and, therefondlaw. i s

I f the plaintiff shoulidenactytoe nipst a ol icabaiilm ttyh aotf tthhee fpdaerfe nc
legal basis upon which to refute this claim as the parent company is not liable for the debts of its subsidiaries. e, Therefor
Company does not believe that this contingenilyultimately result in a liability and, therefore, no accrual has been made in the
accompanying financial statements.

In September 2011he Company and its CEO were suedistrict Court in Travis County Texds/ a shareholder for damages
asaresuof t he plaintiffdéds alleged inability to sell shares
that thedefendants failed to remove in a timely manner. No specific damages have been alleged. The Company denies
liability in this matter and, with its insurance company, is vigorously defending the allegations.

Tax Matters

T he Co mgulsidigrptbat operated tlotub in Las Vegas has recently been audited by the Department of Taxation of the
State of Nevada for salesd other taxesThe audit period was from the date of opening in September 2008 through July 31,
2010. As a result of the audit, the Department of Taxation contends that the CdmpanyL a s Vegaoses sub
approximately 8.1 million, including pendles and interesfor Las Vegas Live Entertainment TaxéBhe Company does not
believe it is subject to the Live Entertainment Tax and is protesting the audit résedtsrdingly, the Company has not accrued

the contingent liability in the accompanyicognsolidated financial statements.is unknown at this time whether the resolution

of this uncertainty wil!/l have a material effect on the C

K. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordance witlBBAASC 280 Segment Reportinghe Company is engaged in adult
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nightclubs, adult entertainment websites (filnternetodo) an:
Company has identified such segments based on management responsibilityame nat ur e of the Compe
and costs. There are no major distinctions in geographical areas served as all operations are in the United Statesnifhe Compa
measures segment profit (loss) as income (loss) from operations. Total estetsa assets controlled by each reportable

segment.

The following table sets forth certain information Gbout
(inthousands) 2011 2010 2009

Business segment revenues:

Nightclubs 81,773 72,06 63,370

Internet 470 562 641

Media 1,248 1,440 1,404

$ 83,491 $ 74,063 $ 65,415

2011 2010 2009
Business segment operatiimcome (loss):
Nightclubs 22,47 15,351 17,838
Internet (86) 76 162
Media (67) (156) (241)
General corporate (3,524) (3,880) (2,724)

$ 18,794 $ 11,391 $ 15,035

2011 2010 2009
Business segment capital expenditures:
Nightclubs 11,378 4,455 1,487
Internet 4 3 5
General corprate 151 1,464 156
$ 11,533 $ 5,922 $ 1,648
2011 2010 2009
Business segment depreciation and amortization:
Nightclubs 3,341 2,782 2,056
Internet 4 8 14
Media 20 20 20
General corporate 539 415 746
$ 3904 $ 3,225 $ 2,80
2011 2010 2000
Business segment assets:
Nightclubs 125,48 112,154 104,393
Internet 107 471 205
Media 773 818 903
Discontinued operations 112 4,851 22,242
General corporate 26,959 30,077 17,333
$ 153,377 $148,371 $145,076

General corporate expenses include corporate salaries, health insurance and social security taxes for officers)htigal sacto
information technology employees, corporate taxes and insurance, legal and accounting fees, depreciation and other corpc
costs such as automobile and travel costanagement considers these to be-albocable costs for segment purposes.
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L. Common Stock

During the year ended September 30, 2009, the following common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 300,000 shares were exercised by employees and directors for proceeds of It&r Cofpany
acquired 303,959 sharescommon stock for the treasury at a cost of $1.5 millibhese shares were subsequently retired.

During the year endefleptember 30, 2@ the following common stock transactions occurred:
Stock options totaling 20,000 shares were exercised by gagd@and directors for proceeds of $56,000.

The Company acquired 197,950 shares of common stock for the treasury at a cost of $1.6 Thitlgen.shares were
subsequently retired.

The Company issued 895,255 shares for principal and accrued inteeséonrconvertible debt amounting to $7.5 million.

The Company transferred 29,000 shares from temporary equity to permanent equity as a result of the shares being sold by
holders into the open market.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, theviilg common stock transactions occurred:
Stock options totalin@5,000 shares were exercised by employees and directors for proce&88 59

The Company acquired15,384 shares of common stock for the treasury at a cost308 #illion. These shas were
subsequently retired.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company issued 26,320 shares of common stock for debt aggregating $269,7

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company transferred 70,000 shares aggregatingo@lfrdrmitémporary
equity to permanent equity in connection with the settlement of certainlitigaton.

M. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple I RA plan (the APl anoalowswhi
the corporate employees to contribute up to the maximum amount allowed by law, with the Company making a matchi
contribution of 3% of the employeebds sal ary. Exp &5080k s r

$47,000 and 47,000 for the years end&keptember 30, 2012010and2009 respectively.
N. Acquisitions

2009 Acquisition

On September 30, 2009, the Companyds subsidiary, RCI Ent
the outstanding commos h ar e s of Cabaret Nort h, | GNt owns aad opesates an aduti r p
entertainment cabaret known as fACabaret Northo (theThé@ Cl u
Company paid the sellers total aggregatc onsi der ati on of $ 2. 3TherRurthhse Brice wad payablefa® u
follows:

0] $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for the payment of outstanding liabilities;

(i) $2 million to the Sellers; and

(iii) $160,000 to be held in as@ow account to pay any liabilities or obligations of CNI which were incurred but

unpaid as of Closing and to be held in connection with the outcome of certain pending litigation.

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered into a five yearQdonpettion Agreement, and CNI obtained a consent from its
landlord to the sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellers to the purchaser and enteredddindaom to the lease agreement by
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N.  Acquisitions and Dispositionsi continued

and between the CNI and ttendlord of the premises where the Club is located.

The Company incurred $85,228 in costs in connection with the acquisition.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the acigtésition
based on a preliminary valuatioBubsequent adjustments may be recorded upon the completion of the valuation and the finz
determination of the purchase price allocation.

(in thousands)

Net current assets $ 24

Property and equipment 20C

Non-compete agreement 20C

SOB license 1,961

Net assets acquired $ 2,38t
The results of operations of this acquired entity wnagl | k
October 1, 2009This acquisitorwas made to further the Companyds growth o
contribute to the Companyds earnings per share Proftor ma

deemed material to the consolidafethncial statements.

2010 Acquisitions

Joy of Austin

On December 18, 2009, the Companyds wh@bl)y owmed (FRICI 04|
closed a Stock Purchase Agr eementdo(nt iKearfR@ll eRwrsc H a@iKea r Aagrs
of Austin, I nc. -3(5 JIOhYvoe)s tammedn tNso, r tihncl.H (ANI I 1 6), whereby R
and 49% of the outstanding stock of NIIOY is the owner and operator of the adult ght cl ub busi ness
Austino which | eases and occupies the r e3,|Roynd RogkeTexay7866sh d
(t he A P MNblgse¢he owner pf the Property and leases the Property to J»itemporaaously with entry into the RCI
Pur chase Agreement , RCI and Kar amal egos entered i nto a
Agreement o) , whereby Karamal egos assigned to RCI JYWandri g
the remaining 51% of the outstanding stock of NI, which right Karamalegos obtained pursuant to a Purchase Agreement ente
into between Karamal egos, Evangel os Polycrates (fiPustaycr a
to the RCI Purchase Agreement and the Assignment Agreement, RCI acquired and owns 100% of the outstanding stock of .
and 100% of the outstanding stock of NiIII.

Pursuant to the terms of the RCI Purchase Agreement and the Assignment Agreement, B@drpgate consideration of $4.5
million, plus assumption of a promissory note with First State Basky | or (t he #APurchase Priceo)
NIIl. The Purchase Price was payable as follows:

0] $1.8 million by wire transfer to Karaaegos;
(i) $880,000 by wire transfer to Polycrates;

(iii) $530,000 evidenced by a five (5) year secured promissory note to Karamalegos, bearing interest at the rate of
4.75% per annum and payable in sixty (60) equal monthly installments of principaterest of $9,941 (the
i Kar amal e gTbesKarbdnoatego® Note is secured by a third lien in favor of Karamalegos against the
Property and improvements located thereon and a second lien on all of the shares of JOY and NIlI;

(iv) $1.3 million evidened by a five (5) year secured promissory note to Polycrates, bearing interest at the rate of
4.75% per annum and payable in sixty (60) equal monthly installments of principal and interest of $24,759 (the
i Pol ycr atThesPoly¢rateseNote is individily guaranteed by Karamalegos for the first thirty (30)
months and is secured by a second lien in favor of Polycrates against the Property and improvements located
thereon and a first lien on all of the shares of JOY and NIlI; and
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(v) The assumption of a Promissory Note dated September 10, 2004, in the original principal amount of $850,000,
executed by NIl and payable to First State Bamalylor, which Promissory Note had a current balance of
$652,489 as of thdate of acquisition, and is secured by the Property and improvements located tiiaeeon.
note bears interest at the rate of 7.25%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest of$1&761.
interest rate is subject to adjustment on Saptr 10, 2014 to the rate of prime plus 2.5¥he note is due and
payable on or before September 10, 2019.

Also pursuant to the agreements described above, Karamalegos entered into a four (4) y@ampétition Agreement with
RCI, and Polycrates enterénto a three (3) year Ne@ompetition Agreement with RCI.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the adgtasition

(in thousands)

Net current assets $ 44
Property and equipent and other assets 2,95¢
Non-compete agreement 20C
Goodwill 2,031
SOB licenses 2,004
Deferred tax liability (2,030
Net assets acquired $ 5,20:

The Company incurred approximately $43,000 in legal costs assowigtedhe acquisition, which are included in legal and
professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offset to the deferred tax liability recorded as a result of the difféhenioasis of the

net assets for tax and financial purpos€be goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposéke results of operations of this
entity are included in the Companyds ¢ on Stoslaguisiion aas made ©ou | t
further the Companyds growtthhathjwicltli vguiodklaxquomi nigb wti g
share.Proforma results of operations have not been provided, as the amounts were not deemed materiahsolittetecb
financial statements.

Fort Worth Gentlemendéds Club

On June 1, 2010, the Companydés wholly owned subsidiary R
compl eted the acquisition of c Restaurarit Assoaiates, dric.s a Texah aorpoifafon (the h
ASell erodo) pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the A
l'imited Iiability company (fAVol darral,t ySnhsekrird) Monfd dJ dmieMso fI
Purchase Agreement was executed and closed on June 1,S¥llH0.owned and operated an adult entertainment cabaret known
as AFort Worth Gentlemandés Clubo ( tWeer tAihC| uThedX) a s | 7o6clal e d( tah

At closing, Purchaser paid Seller $2.2 million cash by swaesfer for the Purchased AssePurchaser also entered into two

| ease agreements, a | ease agr eementeafsero)t hmen dReaa Il eRarscep eargtr
property adjacent to the Real Property ( tHach ledisd agieaner has a P 1
term of five years with one five year option to extend at the discretion of Purclizssdr.lease agreement also grants Purchaser
an option to purchase the respective properties from Voldar and Maficchaser may exercise the options to purchase any time
after the twelfth month but before the expiration of the lease agreements (indidingptional extensions)The option to
purchase the Real Property and the option to purchase the Adjacent Property must be exercised contemporaneously. The pur
price upon exercise of the option to purchase the Real Property will range fromithié:2 tm $5.2 million during the fiveyear

term. The purchase price upon exercise of the option to purchase the Adjacent Property will range from $500,000 to $575,C
during the fiveyear term.

Also pursuant to the agreements described above, Mofid/aluthr entered into a fivgear NonCompetition Agreement with
RCI.
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The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the adgtasition

(in thousands)

Net current assets $ 42
Property and equipment and other assets 1,301
Non-compete agreement 20C
Goodwill 612
Net assets acquired $ 2,15¢

The Company incurred approximately $23,000 in legal costs associated wilegtisition, which are included in legal and
professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The results of operations of this entity are includbkdgd in
acquisition was made to further the Companydés growth ob
Company6s e ar PRroforrgasresyt® af opsrdtiens leve not been provided, as the amounts were not deemed mater
to theconsolidated financial stateme@slden Productions JGC Fort Worth, LLC

On July 16, 2010, the Companyds wholly owned subsidiar
Purchaserodo) completed the acegdi AssebsanopfotceGbohdenaBsetsc
Texas | imited |iability company (fiGolden Productionso) a

an Asset Purchase Agreement (t he Goléen Producicnse andALGHE lee rParchase ) l
Agreement was executed and closed on July 16, 2Gblden Productions owned and operated an adult entertainment cabaret
known as fAJaguards Gold Club Fort Wortho (ForhWorth Tkas, y@040, I
(the APrveCndiHs eoswon)e.d t he i mprovements on the Premises, incl

At closing, RCI Fort Worth paid aggregate consideration to Golden Production and/or VCGH for the Puisisetedf (1) $1
million cash by wiretransfer and (2) 467,497 shares of common stock of VCGH with a fair market value of $794,745, which wer:
held by the CompanyRCI Fort Worth also entered into a ground lease agreement for the land where the Rsdodagsd with
Bryan S. Foster, the current oTelease Agfeentertt leas d tarm df five yehrs witlfi foue a
options to extend the lease for five years, at the discretion of RCI Fort Widréhinitial monthly rental rat during its term is
$20,000 per monthThe Lease Agreement also grants RCI Fort Worth or its assigns an option to purchase the land from M
Foster, which option may be exercised any time after the 12th anniversary date of the Lease Agreement émgl dgioetion

of the Lease Agreement (including its option term) at a purchase price of fair market value, but in no event less than
million. As a result of the purchase, the Company recorded a bargain purchase gain on the transaction of app$@tidaasly
which was offset by a loss on the VCGH sharééso at closing, RCI Fort Worth entered a NGompetition Agreement with

Mr. Foster. The term of the Noit€Competition Agreement ends on September 17, 2012.

The following information summarizes tlhdocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Property and equipment and other assets $ 1,95¢
Non-compete agreement 50
Net assets acquired $ 2,00¢

The Company incurred approxitely $22,000 in legal costs associated with the acquisition, which are included in legal and
professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The results of operations of 't hi s resoltsofbperatianssince Julg 16,u2618isl i n
acquisition was made to further the Companydés growth ob
Company6s e ar PRroforrgasresydt® af opsrdtiens leve not been proyidedhe amounts were not deemed material

to the consolidated financial statements.
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2011 Acquisitions and Openings

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)

On Janwuary 3, 2011, t hei ddoampiaensy,6 sRGMh oDilnyi nogw nSeedr vsiucbess ( Ai r
RCI Hol di ngs, I nc. (ARCIO) completed the purchasdétWdith a n
International Airport and the purchase of the underlyiagl property, for an aggregate price of $4,565,000Purchase
Agreement and Buildo-Suit Turnkey Construction Agreement had previously been entered into in December 2009, which
agreement provided for the construction of the new club and the purdhtheereal property located at 15000 Airport Freeway
(Highway 183), Fort Worth, Texas.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair values assigned to the assets and liabilities at the puechase dat

(in thousands)

Building, land and catents $ 3,12¢
Equipment and signs 289
SOB license 1,19
Net assets $ 4,56¢

Gold Club of Indy, LLC

The Companydéds wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Di nlimag. S(ffR

Hol dingsd), entered into a Third Amendment to Purchase A
of I ndy, LLC (AGClo), the Estate of Albert Pfeifferert dec
Pfeiffer, deceased, and sole member of GEIC | owned and operated an adult entert

located at 3551 Lafayette Road, Indianapolis, Indiana 46@&%2A. also owned the real property where The Gold Club is
located. The Amended Purchase Agreement transactions closed on April 22, 2011, whereby (i) RCI Indiana acquired fro
Pfeiffer all assets which are used for the business of The Gold Club for $825,000 and (ii) RCI Holdings acquired from GCI tl
real property wher&he Gold Club is located, including the improvements thereon, for $850,000, for total aggregate consideratio
of $1,657,000, net of certain accrued property taxes.

Also at closing of the Amended Purchase Agreement, Lori Pfeiffer entered into-@dvwapettion Agreement with RCI Indiana,
pursuant to which she agreed not to compete with The Gold Club within Indianapolis, Indiana or any of the adjacenbc@unties f
period of five years.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair valuegyasd to the assets and liabilities at the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and contents ¢ $ 75C
Equipment and furniture a0
Noncompete 10C
Goodwill 708
Net assets g $ 1,648
The results of operations ofits ent ity are included in the CompanydsThisons

acquisition was made to further the Companyds growth ob
Company6s e ar PRroforrgasresydt® af opsrdtiens leve not been provided, as the amounts were not deemed mater
to the consolidated financial statements.
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2011 Acquisitions and Openings

Schiekés Palace Royale

Our wholyowned subsidiary, RCI Dining Services MN (4th Stree
into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Classic Affairs, |
Colorado corporatiofl i V C G I€laskic is a wholly owned subsidiary of VCGH and owned and operated an adult entertainmen
cabaret known as fASchiekbs Palace Royal e, 0 The pattiastamehded the 1 1
Asset Purchase Agreement oprih 14, 2011 and on May 31, 2011, which amendments reduced the purchase price and extende
the closing date of the transactiohhe Asset Purchase Agreement, as amended, closed July 28, 2011, whereby RCI Minnesot
acquired substantially all of the assats soci at ed or used in connection with t
purchase price of $2,875,000.

I n connection with the Asset Purchase Agreement, on Marc
Ho |l di n greddnto,a ReahEsstate Purchase Agreement with 4th Street Partnership LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limitec
partnership (fidth Streeto), which owned tTheeartieganendqu the Realr t

Estate Purchse Agreement on May 31, 2011 and on July 26, 201 Real Estate Purchase Agreement, as amended, closed on
July 28, 2011, whereby RCI Hol dings acquired the reaf pr
$3,250,000.

At closing of the above transactions, VCGH, Classic, Troy Lowrie (the Chief Executive Officer of VCGH) and Micheal Ocello
(the Chief Operating Officer and President of VCGH) each entered into €Chimpetition Agreement pursuant to which each
agreed notto compee wi t h RCI Mi nnesot a, Schiekds Palace Royale or
county, twincity metropolitan area of Minneapol@&t. Paul, Minnesota.

The following information summarizes the allocation of fair valustgaed to the assets and liabilities at the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and contents $ 3,80
Equipment and furniture 526
Noncompete 300
Goodwill 2,027
Net assets $ 6,12

The results of operationsbfhi s entity are included in the Coupp&20MdEs cor
acquisition was made to further the Companydés growth ob
Companyds e ar Rroformgasresyite af operdtiens leave not been provided, as the amounts were not deemed mater
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company incurred approximately $100,000 in legal costs associated with the 2011 acquisition, which arenrielgaled
and professional expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

O. Discontinued Operations

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the following as discontinued operations as of and forrided/ears e
Septenber 30, 2015nd2010

The Company closed its Divas Latinas club in Houston in late September PROL ompany owns the building location and the
location is currently leased to a tenafihere was no gain or loss on the closing of the club.

In March2011, wemade the decisioto sell ourLas Vegas location and, in April 2011, sharply reduced its operaticrsién to
eliminate losses as we soughbuyer for the propertyThe club was shuttered and the landlord took over the property in June
2011. Therefore, this club is recognized as a discontinued operation in the accompanying financial statements and has recogn
a loss on the closure of $2.0 million in discontinued operations.
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In August 2011, we sol60% of the membership interest in the igntthat previously operated oli ¢ k 6 s

ONAL, I NC.

Cabaret

Texas. Accordingly, wehavedeconsolidate the subsidiary andavecariedit as an equitymethod investmentAccordingly, the

club is recognized as asdiontinued operation in the accompanying financial statements.

Following is summarized information regarding the discontinued operations:

Revenues of discontinued operations amounte@16 &illion, $8.9 million and $.0.8 million for the years endeSegember 30,

2011, 2010and2009 respectively.

(in thousands)

Year Ended Septembab,

201 2010 2009
Loss from discontinued operations $ (1,10 $ 919 $ (2,719
Loss on sale of discontinued operations (2,270 (16,937) (1,049
Income tax discontinued operations 1,182 6,24¢ 1,317
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (2,19 $ (11,609 $ (2,44¢)
Major classes of assets and liabilities included as assets hititldsof discontinued operations as of:
SeptembeB0,
2011 2010
Current assefsncluding deferred tax assets $ 33 $ 1,09t
Property and equipment 76 2,88¢
Other assets 3 867
Current liabilities (144) (27¢)
Long-term liabilities (33 (310
Net assets (liabilities) $ (65 $ 4,26:

Loss on sale of discanued operations above represents actualdogspairment of the Las Vegas aAdstin clubs
Impairment of the Phladelphia club is included in continuing operations in the year ended September 30, 2010.
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P. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)
Fiscal Year 201
Quarters Ended
Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30

Revenues $ 19,66¢ $ 2158 $ 20,79. $ 21,45:
Income from continuing operations $ 2348 % 3,85 % 253C % 2,08¢
Net income $ 2,07¢ % 2,927 % 888 $ 1,95¢
Basic income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 023 % 0.3 $ 025 $ 0.21

Net income $ 021 $ 029 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.2C
Diluted income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 023 % 0.3 $ 025 $ 0.21

Net income $ 021 % 029 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.2C
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 10,04: 9,937 9,924 9,81¢
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 10,04 10,771 9,91 9,817

Fiscal Year2010
Quarters Ended
Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30

Revenues $ 16,84 $ 20,06¢ $ 18,02: $ 19,131
Income(loss)from continuirg
operations $ 1,194 $ 295¢ % 1128 $ (1,370
Net income(loss) $ 783 $ 2,94t % 857 $ (12,54%)
Basic incoméloss)per share:

Income(loss)from continuingoperations $ 012 % 031 $ 011 $ (0.1%

Net incomg(loss) $ 0.0¢ $ 031 % 009 $ (1.2
Diluted incomg(loss)per share:

Income(loss)from continuing operations $ 012 % 031 $ 011 $ (0.19

Net income(loss) $ 0.0¢ $ 031 $ 009 $ (1.29
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 9,370 9,31« 9,90t 10,15:
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 9,38t 9,48¢ 9,95¢ 10,15:

Fiscal Year2009
Quarters Ended
Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30

Revenues $ 15,53 $ 16,60t $ 16,61¢ $ 16,65¢
Income from continuing operations $ 143¢ $ 213: % 214t $ 2,231
Net income $ 791 $ 83¢ $ 1,78t $ 1,79:
Basic income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 015 $ 022 $ 0.3 % 0.23

Net income $ 008 $ 009 $ 01¢ ¢ 0.19
Diluted income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 015 $ 022 $ 0.3 $ 0.23

Net income $ 008 $ 009 $ 019 $ 0.1¢
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 9,36¢ 9,31« 9,18¢ 9,198
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 9,60( 9,48¢ 9,41( 9,21¢

The operating results for the quarter ended September 30, 2010 were materially affected by the impairmerarexpetisg, to
approximately $20.5 million.
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Q. Gain on Settlement of Debt

In April 2011, the Company settled certain criisgation with the former sellers of the Las Vegas club. As a result of the
settlement, the Company paid the sellers apgprately $1.6 million in cash as full settlement of its obligation under a debt
instrument with a remaining principal and interest balance at the time of $2.5 million. The Company has recorded a gain
approximately $900,000 in thgear endedSeptembeB0, 2011 as a result of the settlement. In addition, the Company and the
sellers agreed to cancel the Lag/Leako ut Agr eement and the Companydés obligat
remaining 70,000 shares which the sellers hold. This resultd@ Company transferring $1.4 million from Temporary Equity to
Permanent Equity in thgearendedSeptembeB0, 2011.

R. Subsequent Events

The Companybdés wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Di ni ndgarréer v i
Countyo), entered into an Agreement for Purchase and Sal
of 100% of the membership unit 529 €BWlorkd dnd dpdated anladulCenteriaibrdent 9
caba et known as fAiThe New West o | ocat edhe Agreeniet OPLUrch@sae ang Sakemfw i

Membership Units closed October 5, 2011, whereby RCI Tarrant County acquired the membership units of 12291 CBW for t
purchase price of $88, 0 0 O . The Company now operates the BYOB cl ub =&

On November 17, 2011, h e C o myhalynowvided subsidiaries, RCI Dining Services (Stemmons), Inc. ("RCI Stemmons"),
RCI Dining Services (Inwood), Inc. ("RCI Inwood") and RCI Dining Sersi¢8temmons 2), Inc. ("RCI Dining"), entered into a
Stock Purchase Agreement with Mr. Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, Inc. ("Green Star"), Fine Dining Club, Inc. ("Fine Dining") ar
Blue Star Entertainment Inc. ("Blue Star"). Green Star owns and operateslbapradrtainment cabaret known as "Silver City
Cabaret," located at 7501 N. Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75247. Fine Dining has a concession to provide alcohol sales
services to Green Star at the Silver City Cabaret. Blue Star holds a licenserateagm adult cabaret at 1449 Inwood Road,
Dallas, Texas 75247. Mr. Mantas owns 100% of the stock of Green Star, Fine Dining and Blue Star.

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Mr. Mantas will sell all the stock of Green Star, Fine Dining atal Blue@
Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Inwood, respectively, for the aggregate purchase price of $2,000,000 in the form of thr
promissory notes. Each of the promissory notes will be payable over 11 years and have an adjustable interest rate ®f 5.5%.
transaction will close on the later of January 2, 2012 or five business days af@ontipany hasbtained all required licenses
needed to operate the Silver City Cabaret and an adult cabaret to be located at 1449 Inwood Road.

Adelphi Group Ltd. ("Adelpi") owns the real properties where the Silver City Cabaret is located, and PNYX Limited Partnership
("PNYX") owns certain real properties at and adjacent to 1449 Inwood Road. In transactions related to the Stock Purch:
Agreement, Adelphi and PNYX eachtered into a real estate purchase agreementwitre C o nvpddlynowried subsidiary,

RCI Holdings, Inc. ("RCI Holdings"), whereby (i) Adelphi agreed to sell the real properties where the Silver City Cabaret i
located to RCI Holdings for the aggregatachase price of $6,500,000, including $300,000 in cash and $6,200,000 in the form of
an adjustable 5.5% promissory note that is payable over 11 years, and (ii) PNYX agreed to sell certain real properties at
adjacent to 1449 Inwood Road for the agategourchase price of $3,500,000, including $1,200,000 in cash and $2,300,000 in the
form of an adjustable 5.5% promissory note that is payable over 11 years. The real estate transactitms
closecontemporaneously with the Stock Purchase Agreement.

At closing of the above transactions, Mr. Mantak enter into a NorCompetition Agreement providing for him to not compete

with our subsidiaries by owning, participating or operating an establishment featuring adult entertainment within Datyas Coun
andall contiguous counties.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

There have been no changes in or disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedues.

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

In accordance with Rule 13Eb(b) of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered b&rthisal Report on Form 1R,
management evaluated, with the participation of our principal exeafficer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the Companyds -Ib(e)sunderdhe Exchange o n
Act). Based on their evaluation of these disclosure controls amgures, they have concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the date of such evaluation.

Management 6s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Fina

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaeuieguate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 1-3&(f). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of amjuation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectivermss iotfiernal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2011n making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsorir
Organizations of the Tr e dnttwa QontOb ImegiatedsHrateworkq .fi CEOSOSJ om fHhi
we believe that, as @eptember 30, 201 bur internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. Our
internal control over financial reporting as &ptember 30, 201has been audited by Wy Penn LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

During the three months end&gptember 30, 20]1there have been no changes im imternal control over financial reporting
that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None

PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our Directors are elected annually and hold office until the next annual meeting of our stockholders or until their S@reessor
elected and qualified. Officers are appointed by the Board of Direatorsally and serve at the discretion of the Board of
Directors (subject to any existing employment agreements). There is no family relationship between or among any obrsur direct
and executive officers. Our Board of Directors consists of six perstestollowing table sets forth our Directors and executive
officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langan 43 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presiden
Phillip Marshall 62 Chief Financial Officer

Travis Reese 42 Director andExecutive Vice Praedent

Robert L. Watters 60 Director

Steven Jenkins 54 Director

Luke Lirot 54 Director

Nour-Dean Anakar 54 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 and our President since March 1999. He has been involved in the a
entertainment busess since 1989. From January 1997 through the present, he has held the position of President of XTC Caba
Inc. From November 1992 until January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of Bathing Beauties, Inc. Since 1989, Mr. Lang
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has exercised manager@ntrol over more than a dozen adult entertainment businesses. Through these activities, Mr. Langan h
acquired the knowledge and skills necessary to successfully operate adult entertainment businesses.

Phillip Marshall has served as our Chief FinahG#icer since May 2007. He was previously controller of Dorado Exploration,
Inc., an oil and gas exploration and production company, from February 2007 to May 2007. He previously served as Ch
Financial Officer of CDT Systems, Inc., a publicly held evatechnology company, from July 2003 to September 2006. In 1972,
Mr. Marshall began his public accounting career with the international accounting firm, KMG Main Hurdman. After its mergel
with Peat Marwick, Mr. Marshall served as an audit partner at KRdiGeveral years. After leaving KPMG, Mr. Marshall was
partner in charge of the audit practice at Jackson & Rhodes in Dallas from 1992 to 2003, where he specialized in dgall publi
held companies. Mr. Marshall is also a trustee of United Mortgage dmdst/nited Development Funding 1V, publicly held real
estate investment trusts.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been our Director gmcegption Mr. Watters was our President and our Chief
Executive Officer from 1991 until March 1999. Since919 , Mr . Watters has owned and o
entertainment club in New Orleans, Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was also a founder in 1989 and operatoofintil 199
the Colorado Bar & Grill, an adult club located in Houston, Bexiad in 1988 performed site selection, negotiated the property
purchase and oversaw the design and permitting for the club that became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mr. Wal
practiced law as a solicitor in London, England and is qualified &atige law in New York. Mr. Watters worked in the
international tax group of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Co. (now succeeded by Deloitte & Touche) from 1979 to 19¢
and was engaged in the private practice of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 tonvh@86he became involved in our ftilihe
management. Mr. Watters graduated from the London School of Economics and Political Science, University of London, in 19
with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 with a Master of Laws degree frood®3$¢pll Law School, York
University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since June 2001. Since 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certified public accountant
Pringle Jenkins & Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mr. Jenkins is the Presidennar of Pringle Jenkins &
Associates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins has a BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr. Jenkins is a member of the AICPA ar
the TSCPA.

Travis Reese became our Director @&acutive Vice Presidemh 1999. From 1997 through 199Mr. Reese had been a senior
network administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa Fe, New Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a computer syste!
engineer with Deloitte & Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Vice President with Digital Pgldskivurces, Inc.,

an Internet service provider. From 1994 until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continental Airlines. From 1992 until 1994, M
Reese was a pilot with Hang On, I nc., an airl i rBeence famp a n:
Texas State Technical College.

Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mr. Lirot received his law degree from the University of San Francisco in 198
After serving as an intern in the ShimtreumedrocFlorsda and é3taldisheda LC
private law practice where he continues to practice and specializes in adult entertainment issues. He is a past Erediient of

Amendment Lawyersd Associati on aaadandfederal lagaltmatiers.l v parti ci p.

Nour-Dean Anakar became a Director on September 14, 20t0Anakar has over 20 years of experience in senior positions in
the development and management of betting and gaming, sports and entertainment, and hospittyr@igerations in the
United States, Europe, and Latin America. From 1988 until 2000 he held executive management and business developn
positions with Ladbrokes USA and Ladbrokes South America. In 2001, Mr. Anakar became the managing partieiLofCLCl

and LCIN S.A., San Diego and Buenos Aires based gaming companies, which were contracted by Grupo Codere of Spair
oversee the development of all new technology gaming projects and operations in Latin America. He received his BA
Management Scieecfrom Duke University and CHA in Hospitality Management from the Conrad Hilton College at the
University of Houston.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee whose members are Steven JenkinBgidouinakar and Luke Lirot. Mr. Jenkins, Mr.
Anakar and Mr. Lirot are independent Directors. The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Company
financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee meetsyprntiteour Chief Financial
Officer and with our independent registered public accounting firm and evaluates the responses by the Chief Financial Offi
both to the facts presented and to the judgments made by our outside independent registered quilitgafdan. Our Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed our audited financial statements for the yeaBeptdetber 30, 201With our
management. Steven L. Jenkins serves as the Audit Commit
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In May 2000, our Board adoptedCharter for the Audit Committee. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter was attached to our
Proxy Statement as Exhibit AA0 filed with the U.S. Sec
establishes the independence of our Audit Conemitind sets forth the scope of the Audit Committee's duties. The Purpose of the
Audit Committee is to conduct continuing oversight of our financial affairs. The Audit Committee conducts an ongoingfreview ¢
our financial reports and other financial infortioa prior to their being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
otherwise provided to the public. The Audit Committee also reviews our systems, methods and procedures of internai control:
the areas of: financial reporting, audits, tregsaperations, corporate finance, managerial, financial and SEC accounting,
compliance with law, and ethical conduct. A majority of the members of the Audit Committee will be independent. The Audi
Committee is objective, and reviews and assesses theoivork independent registered public accounting firm and our internal
audit department.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the matters required by SAS 61 and our audited financial statements for the fi
year endedseptember 30, 201dith manag@ment and our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee
has received the written disclosures and the letter from our independent registered public accounting firm required
Independence Standards Board No. 1, and the Audit Céeentits discussed with the independent registered public accounting
firm the independent registered public accounting firm's independence. The Audit Committee recommended to the Board
Directors that the Company's audited financial statements for tfaé fisarSeptember 30, 2014e included in our Annual Report

on Form 16K for the fiscal year endeSeptember 30, 2011

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nominating Committee whose members are Steven Jenkiride&loénakar and Luke Lirot. In JuRk004,

the Board unanimously adopted a Charter with regard to the process to be used for identifying and evaluating nominees
director. The Charter establishes the independence of our Nominating Committee and sets forth the scope of the Nomina
Comnmittee's duties. A majority of the members of the Nominating Committee will be independent. A copy of the Nominating
Commi tteebds Charter can bewiwrioknegbmon t he Companyds websit

COMPENSATION COMMITEE

The Company has a Compensation Committhose members are Steven Jenkins, Niman Anakar and Luke Lirot. Decisions
concerning executive officer compensation for the fiscal year eSagdember 30, 201tvere made by the Compensation
Committee. Eric S. Langan and Travis Reese are the onlgtaliseof the Company who are also officers of the Company. The
primary purpose of the Compensation Committee is to evaluate and review the compensation of executive officers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Section16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who ov
beneficially more than ten percent of our common stock, to file reports of ownership and changes of ownership withttee Securi
and Exchang€ommission. Based solely on the reports we have received and on written representations from certain reporti
persons, we believe that the directors, executive officers, and greater than ten percent beneficial owners have coraflied witt
applicable filng requirements during the fiscal year en8egtember 30, 2011

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Principal Executive and Senior Financial Officers, which is attached as Bxthilsit 14 t
Form 10K.

Item 11. Executive Compensaon.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This compensation discussion and analysis describes the
relate to our executive officers who are listed in the compensation tables appearingTihédoeompensation discussion and
analysis focuses on the information contained in the following tables and related fooffwesdividuals who served as the
Companybs Chief Executive Offi cer l aswdl asttdatherfindiRduatsanaludédanithe Of
Summary Compensation Table, are referred to as the finame

Overview of Compensation Committee Role and Responsibilities
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The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors oversees our compeptati® and policies, reviews and approves all
decisions concerning the named executive officersé compe
our stock option and equity plans, including reviewing and approving stock op#ints gnd equity awards under the plans. The
Compensation Committeeds membership is determined by the

Management plays a role in the compensasietting process. The most significant aspects of m@ame nt 6 s r ol e al
employee performance and recommend salary levels and equity compensation awards. Our Chief Executive Officer often me
recommendations to the Compensation Committee and the Board concerning compensation for other dfieergivewr Chief
Executive Officer is a member of the Board but does not participate in Board decisions regarding any aspect of his o
compensation. The Compensation Committee can retain independent advisors or consultants.

Compensation Committee Prase

The Compensation Committee reviews executive compensation in connection with the evaluation and approval of an employn
agreement, an increase in responsibilities or other factors. With respect to equity compensation awarded to other #mployees
Compensation Committee or the Board grants stock options, often after receiving a recommendation from our Chief Execut
Officer. The Compensation Committee also evaluates proposals for incentive and performance equity awards, and ot
compensation.

Compensation Philosophy

The Compensation Committee emphasizes the i mportant I in
stockhol der value, and the compensation of its exensatdni ve
policy is to try to align the interests of the executive officers with the interests of the stockholders. In order tatldshgees,

the Company attempts to, (i) offer compensation opportunities that attract and retain executives wheseaakilgkills are

critical to the longterm success of the Company and reward them for their efforts in ensuring the success of the Company, (
align the Companyds compensat iteombuginess sfrategidsandiobjectivest(@gerovideo mp a
variable compensation opportunities that are directly 1

equity stake in the Company. Qur named executdibase satgfahdi c er
long-term equity compensatiod to achieve these goal#dditionally, the Compensation Committee may award discretionary
bonuses to certain executives based on the individual 6s

Setting Executive Compensation

We fix executive base compensation at a level we believe enables us to hire and retain individuals in a competitivergnvironn
and to reward satisfactory individual performance and a satisfactory level of contributiondeeoall business goals. We also
take into account the compensation that is paid by companies that we believe to be our competitors and by other companies
which we believe we generally compete for executives.

In establishing compensation packages Executive officers, numerous factors are considered, including the particular

executivebds experience, expertise and performance, our ¢
the marketplace for similar positions. In arriviagamounts for each component of compensation, our Compensation Committee
strives to strike an appropriate balance between base compensation and incentive compensation. The Compensation Comr
also endeavors to properly allocate between cash andadbrompensation and between annual and-teng compensation.

The Role of Shareholder Sap-Pay Votes

At our annual meetingf shareholders held ohugust 16 2011,approximately 97@% of t he shar ehol der s
onp a yroposal approvethecompensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in the proxy statétiemiigh this
advisory shareholder vote on executive compensation ibimaiing, theCompensatiofCommittee will consider the outcome of
the vote when making futuempensation decisions for named executive officers.

Base Salary

The Company provides executive officers and other employees with base salary to compensate them for services rendered d
the fiscal year. Subject to the provisions contained in eynpdoit agreements with executive officers concerning base salary
amounts, base salaries of the executive officers are established based upon compensation data of comparable companies
mar ket , the executiveds | obindivicua pesfermande iard icdntrirution to the wsress. dfe
believe it is important for the Company to provide adequate fixed compensation to highly qualified executives in ouiveompetit
industry. In making base salary decisions, the Compensation Cemmies its discretion and judgment based upon personal
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knowledge of industry practice but does not apply any specific formula to determine the base salaries for the exeetsive offic
Equity-Based Awards Equity Compensation Plans

The Compensation Comttee uses equity awards, usually in the form of stock options, primarily to motivate our named
executive officers to realize benefits from longemm strategies that increase stockholder value, and to promote commitment and
retention. Equity awards vespon the achievement of performance criteria that the Company believes are critical to-i€sriong
success.

The Compensation Committee believes that stock options are an important form-tdrlonigcentive compensation because

they align the executive f f i cer 6s i nterests with the interests of stoc
increases over time. From time to time, the Compensation Committee may consider circumstances that warrant the grant of
value awards such asstricted stock units. Examples of these circumstances include, among others, attracting a new executive

the team; recognizing a promotion to the executive team; retention; and rewarding outstandiegrarantributions.

Our equity grant practicegquire that stock options and other equity compensation have prices determined based on at least t
fair market value on the date of grafthe fair market value of our stock option awards has historically been the NASDAQ
closing price on the date ofagt.

Retirement Savings Plan

The Company maintains a retirement savings plan for the benefit of our executives and employees. Our Simple IRA Plar
intended to qualify as a defined contri but i darticipants raay glectme n
to defer a percentage of their eligible pretax earnings each year or contribute a fixed amount per pay period up touifme maxin
contribution permitted by the Code. Al p a r datsiotaurpSanple IRA p |
Plan are currently invested, subject to particigdirgcted elections, in a variety of mutual funds chosen from time to time by the
Pl an Administrator. Distribution of a parodaemploymentincluding bbye s t
reason of retirement, death or disability. We make certain matching contributions to the Simple IRA Plan.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

The Companyds executive officer s msantheisame peans & othen emplbyees. Cleesep
plans include medical, dental, life and disability insurance. Relocation benefits also are reimbursed and are indigotizibdne
when they occur. The Company reimburses each executive officer for althabées business and other expenses incurred by them
in connection with the performance of their duties and obligations under their employment agreements. The Company does
provide named executive officers with any significant perquisites or otherpefsonb enef i t s except for a
business use.

The following table reflects all forms of compensation for services to us for the fiscal yearsSepdeahber 30, 2012010and
20090f certain executive officers.

Summary CompensationTable

Non- Nonqualil

Equity ied
Incentive  Deferred
Plan Compens  All other
Name and Stock Option Compens ation compens
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards ation Earnings tion Total
Position Year %) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

C)) (b) (c) (d) (e) ® 9) (h) (i) )
Eric S. 2011 600,00( -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 11,49: 611,49:
Langan, 2010 600,00 -0- -0- 86,14¢(1) -0- -0- 11,51 697,65¢
President/C
EO 2009 623,07 -0- -0- 2,44€(1) -0- -0- 11,637 637,16(
Phillip 2011 204,61! 30,00((4) -0- -0- -0- -0- 3,261 237,87¢
Marshall,

CFO 2010 200,00 10,00((4) -0- 11,11¢2) -0- -0- 5,27¢ 226,39:
2009 189,42: 20,00((4) -0- 47,2742) -0- -0- 2,441 259,13°
Travis 2011 200,00 -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 5,76¢ 205,76¢



Reese,

Executive

Vice

President 2010 197,26( -0- -0- 13,8953) -0- -0- 5,78¢ 216,94:
2009 194,20« -0- -0- 2,44€(3) -0- -0- 5,75: 202,40

1 Mr. Langan received 5,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $9.40 as Director
compensation in August 2007. Mr. Langaceived 5,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise
price of $8.75 in July 2009Mr. Langan also received 155,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercis
price of $10.25 on September 30, 20These are n@mounts paid to or realized by the executiessumptions used in the
calculation of these compensation costs are included ir
Form 10K.

2 Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to peaise shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $9.40 as a performance
bonus in August 2007. Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price
$10.25 on September 30, 201Dhese are not amountsig&o or realized by the executiveAssumptions used in the
calculation of these compensation costs are included ir
Form 10K.

3 Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase shams abmmon stock at an exercise price of $9.40 as Director
compensation in August 200®Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise pri
of $8.75 in July 2009Mr. Reese also received 25,000 options to purcbhaees of our common stock at an exercise price of
$10.25 on September 30, 20IDhese are not amounts paid to or realized by the execufigsumptions used in the
calculation of these compensati on c ofsdnsal slatements inctutled id thid i 1
Form 10K.

4  Mr. Marshall received a bonus $80,000 in 2011, $10,000 in 2010 a$id0,000 in 2009 for outstanding performance.

2010 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table sets forth information regardimg 2010 annual option incentive programs and performbased awards.
No nonequity incentive plan awards were made in 2€dr officers

Estimated Future Payouts Under Eq
Incentive Plan Awards

Threshold Maximum
Grant Dat¢ #(1) Target#(1) #(1)
Eric Langan 9/30/201C 155,00( 155,00( 155,00(
Phillip Marshall 9/30/201C 20,00( 20,00( 20,00(
Travis Reese 9/30/201C 25,00( 25,00( 25,00(
(1) The stock option awards descre d i n this chart were granted pur sluthisnt t

case, the named executives were not required to reach any specific performance level to receive thesRativeardie
Compensation Committee granted these awtrdeward overall outstanding performance of the named executives during fiscal
year 2010.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at

Fiscal Year End

OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan
Plan Awards:
Awards:  Market ot
Number Equity Number Payout
of Incentive of Value of
Securities Plan Unearnec Unearnet
Underlyin Awards: Number Market Shares Shares,
g Number of of Shares Value of Unitsor  Units or
Number of Unexercis  Securities or Units  Shareso Other Other
Securities ed Underlying of Stock  Units of Rights Rights
Underlying  Options  Unexercise  Option that have Stock tha that have that have
Unexercise (#) d Unearner Exercise  Option not have not not not
Options (#) Unexercis Options Price  Expiration  Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name  Exercisable able #) %) Date #) (%) (%) ($)
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (e) 9) (h) 0) )
Eric S.
Langan 155,00( 0 0 10.28 9/30/2012 0 0 0 0
Phillip
Marshall 20,00( 0 0 9.40 8/24/2012 0 0 0 0
20,00( 0 0 10.2¢ 9/30/2012
Travis Rees 25,00( 0 0 10.25  9/30/2012 0 0 0 0

OPTION EXERCISES

Oneof the named executive officers exercised stock options ifhi.201

Option Awards

Number of
Shares
Acquired Value Realized
Name on Exercise on Exercise
Travis Reese 5,00( $ 14,41

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' fees, but we pay the expenses of our directorsrg &tband meetings. In August
2011, we issued 78 stock options teach Director who is n@ member of managemeiithese optios beome exercisable in
August 2012, have a strike price of $7dd¥ share and expire August 2013.

Non-Equity
Incentive Nonqualifie
Fees Earne Plan d Deferred All Other
or Paid in Stock Option Conpensatt Compensat Compensat
Cash Awards Awards on on Earnings on Total

Name (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) ® (9) (h)
Robert Watters -0- 0 % 1,76¢ -0- -0- 0 % 1,76¢
Nourdean Anakar -0- 0 % 1,76¢ -0- -0- 0 % 1,76¢
Steve Jenkins -0- 0 % 1,76¢ -0- -0- 0 % 1,76¢
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Luke Lirot -0- -0- $ 1,76¢ -0- -0- 0- $ 1,76¢

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a two year employment agreement with Eric S. Lan
2012 and provides for an annual b a sAgreesnant aso yrovidetk fordpértiipation ;O .
al |l benef it pl ans maintained by wus for salaried empl oye

provision and an agreement by Mr. Langan not to compete with us upon the expiratioBrapligment Agreement.

We also entered into a two year Employment Agreement with Phillip K. Marshall to serve as our Chief Financial Officer. Mr
Mar shall 6s Empl oyment Agr 23 providex foramahraual baker salarygibfoo] Ryrsuadito |,
t o Mr. Mar shall 6s Empl oyment Agreement, Mr . Mar shal lr i s
salaried employees. Under the terms of his Employment Agreement, Mr. Marshall is bound to a confidentialitynpaadisi
cannot compete with us upon the expiration of his Employment Agreement.

We also have a twg e a r empl oyment agreement with Travis Reese. M
February 1, 2012, and provides for an annual base salaryOOfCGED. Mr . Reesebdbs Employment Agr
participation in all benefit plans maintained by us for salaried employees. Mr. Reese is bound to a confidentiality pralision
cannot compete with us upon the expiration of his Employment Agree

We have not established lotgrm incentive plans or defined benefit or actuarial plans.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, we believe that our future success vitll depent
part on our continued ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. We pay wages and salaries that we believe itive.compet
We also believe that equity ownership is an important factor in our ability to attract and retain skilled personneé deiad
stock option plans (the APl anso) for employees andpady,rec
our subsidiaries and our stockholders by providing incentives in the form of stock options to key employeesctond aino
contribute materially to our success and profitability. The grants recognize and reward outstanding individual perfonttances &
contributions and will give such persons a proprietary interest in us, thus enhancing their personal interesbritinoed
success and progress. The Plans also assist us and our subsidiaries in attracting and retaining key employees ahdedirector:
Plans are administered by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclusive power to selectphetpantihe

Plans, to establish the terms of the options granted to each participant, provided that all options granted shall hé amanted
exercise price equal to at least 85% of the fair market value of the common stock covered by the optignani dlage and to

make all determinations necessary or advisable under the Plans.

I n August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (t

under the 1999 Plan. In August 2004, shareholde appr oved an Amendment to the 1¢
increased the total number of shares authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholders approved an Amendment todhe 1999

(the AAmendment o), whi ch i radthoreeddoeld milidneThe 18699 #Ian wasutemrbirated by faw s
in July 2009. Our Board of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Option Plan on September 30,T2@12010 Planvasapproved

by the shareholders of the Company for adoption at the 2011 Anrektig of Shareholders. As 8eptember 30, 2011here

are 520000 stock options outstanding.
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The following table sets forth all equity compensation plans &spfember 30, 2011

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
secuitiesto  Weighted- under
be issued average equity
upon exercise compensati
exercise of price of on plans
outstanding outstanding  (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights  column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 52C $ 10.01 0

COMPENSATION POLICIES AND PRACTICES AS THEY RELATE TO RISK MANAGEMENT

We attempt to make our compensatiorograms discretionary, balanced and focused on the long term. We believe goals anc
objectives of our compensation programs reflect a balanced mix of quantitative and qualitative performance measures to a\
excessive weight on a single performance suea Our approach to compensation practices and policies applicable to employees
and consultants is consistent with that followed for its executives. Based on these factors, we believe that our campensa
policies and practices do not create risks #natreasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

Compensation Committee Report
We have reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis to be included in this Form

K. Based on the reviews and discussioeferred to above, we recommend to the Board of Directors that the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis referred to above be included in this report.

The foregoing has been furnished by the Compensation Committee.

Steven L. Jenkins
Luke Lirot
Nour-Dean Anakar

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The Compensation Committee is comprised of Messrs. Jenkins, Lirot and Anakar. No interlocking relationship exists between ¢

member of the Compensation Committee and any memberyf ant her companyo6s Board of
committee.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth certain information at Decenthe2011, with respetto the beneficial ownership of shares of
commonctock by (i) each person known to us who owns beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding sbanemarfistock,

(i) each of our directors, (iii) each of our executive officers and (iv) all of our eixecofficers and directors as a group. Unless
otherwise indicated, each stockholder has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown. As oflDecemb
2011, there werd®,717,307shares of common stock outstanding.

Number of Percent of
Name/Address shares Title of clas:  Class (7)

Eric S. Langan
10959 Cutten Road Common
Houston, Texas 77066 1,36342<(1) stock 1381%
Phillip K. Marshall
10959 Cutten Road Common
Houston, Texas 77066 46,755(2) stock 0.48%
Robert L. Watters
315 Bourbon Street Common
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 32,50((3) stock 033
Steven L. Jenkins
16815 Royal Crest Drive
Suite 160 Common
Houston, Texas 77058 17,50((4) stock 0.18¥
Travis Reese
10959 Cutten Road Common
Houston,Texas 77066 40,33((5) stock 041%
Nour-dean Anakar
3978 Sorrento Valley Drive, #100 Common
San Diego, Californie92121 17,50((6) stock 0.18%
Luke Lirot
2240 Belleair Road, Suite 190 Common
Clearwater, GL 33764 17,50((7) stock 0.18%

Common
All of our Directors and Officers as a Group of seven (7) persons 1,535,51¢8) stock 15349
E. S. Langan. L.P.
10959 Cutten Road Common
Houston, Texas 77066 578,63. stock 5.959

(1) Mr. Langan has sole votirand investment power for 629,797 shares of common stock he owns directly. Mr. Langan has
shared voting and investment power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectly through E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan
the general partner of E. S. Langan, L.P. Thimant also includes options to purchase ups®d00 shares of common
stock that are presently exercisable.

(2) Includes6,755shares of common stock he owns directly and options to purchase up to 40,000 shares of common stock
that are presently exeraisle.

(3) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock he owns directly and options to purcha&&,6p@shares of common stock
that are presently exercisable.

(4) Includes options to purchase uplff,500shares of common stock that are presently exadslds

(5) Includesl5,330shares of common stock he owns directly and options to purchasoyf®®® shares of common stock
that are presently exercisable.

(6) Includes options to purchase uplff,500shares of common stock that are presently exadslgs
(7) Includes options to purchase upli,500shares of common stock that are presently exercisable.

(8) These percentages exclude treasury shares in the calculation of percentage of class.
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The Company isiot aware of any arrangements that caekllt in a change in control of the Company.
The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of Regulatigf iS set forth in Item 5 herein.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Our Board of Directors has adogta policy that our business affairs will be conducted in all respects by standards applicable tc
publicly held corporations and that we will not enter into any future transactions and/or loans between us and our office
directors and 5% shareholders esd the terms are no less favorable than could be obtained from independent, third parties ar
will be approved by a majority of our independent and disinterested diretdt@surrently hae three independent directors,
Steven Jenkins, NoutDean Anakar iad Luke Lirot. We know of no related transactions for the years estgdember 30, 2011
and2010

Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions

Currently, we rely on our Board of Directors to review related party transactions on an ongointp lpaeigent conflicts of
interest. Our Board of Directors reviews a transaction in light of the affiliations of the director, officer, or employee and the
affiliations of such personds i mmedi at e factioniifitgetermi@asthatthe ar
transaction is consistent with our best interests and the best interests of our shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees paid or accrued fesgiarfal serviceand the aggregate fees paid or accrued
for auditrelated services and all other serviceisdered by Whitley Penn LLP for the audit of our annual financial statements for
fiscal yeas 2011, 2010 and 2009

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Audit fees $ 261 % 26C % 28¢
Audit-related fees - - 23
Tax fees 67 65 61
All other fees - - -
Total $ 328 % 328 $ 373
Thecat egory of AAudit feesd includes fees for our annual

regulatory filings with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfort letters and consents.
The cat egorregl atfe di Afuahpldyde benefit dlan audits, internal control reviews and accounting consultation.
The category of ATax feesd includes consultation related

All above audit services, auditlated services and tax services weregmeroved by the Audit Committee, which concluded that
the provision of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was
conduct of its auditing funct i ons .dendehpelicyAdrovdestfor Bapprovel of dlle e 6 «
services performed by the outside auditors.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
Exhibit 14- Code of Ethics
Exhibit 21 - Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit31.1-Cer t i fi cati on of Chi ef Executive Officer of Ri cko6s
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14(1) or Rule 15d 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the -Sadesnisst
of 2002.

Exhibit31.2-Cer ti fi cation of Chief Financi al Oof ficer of Rickos
14(1) or Rule 15d 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Eaxlegnast
of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of ChiefExedui ve Of fi cer of Ri ckbs Cabaret I nternat
of the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

Exhbit32.2-Cer ti fi cation of Chief Financi al Of ficer of Ri cko6s
the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of t®Ret 13 of 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant has caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on Decembef.14, 201

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.

/s/ Eric S. Langan
By: Eric S. Lamgan
Chief Executive Officer and President

/s/ Phillip K. Marshall
By: Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this report has been signed\b#henfollowing persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langan Director, Chief Executive Officer, and President December 14, 201

/sl Travis Reese
Travis Reese Director andExecutive Vice President December 14, 2011

/s/ Robert L. Watters
Robert L. Watters Director December 14, 2011

/s/ NourDean Anakar
Nour-Dean Anakar Director December 142011

/sl Steven Jenkins
Steven Jenkins Director December 14, 2011

/sl Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot Director December 14, 2011
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Exhibit 14
RI CK6S CABARET | NTERNATI ONAL, I NC.
Code of Etics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial Officers
I. Introduction and Purpose

This Code of Et hics for Principal Executive and Seni
mai ntain Ricks Cabéareteihmtfeematriedralred no. @s ( he fACompan
compliance with legal requirements, specifically, but not limited to, Section 406 of the Sa@bdeg#\ct of 2002 and SEC rules
promulgated thereunder.

In addition to seuring compliance with legal requirements, the purpose of the Code is to deter wrongdoing and promot
ethical conduct, and full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure of financial information in the pedddiofrep
the Company.The maters covered in this Code are of the utmost importance to the Company, our stockholders and our busine
partners, and are essential to our ability to conduct our business in accordance with our stated values.

Financial executives hold an important an@veted role in corporate governance and are uniquely capable and
empowered to ensure that stockholders' interests are appropriately balanced, protected and pkeserdewly, this Code
provides principles to which financial executives are expectealdi®re and advocat@his Code embodies rules regarding
individual and peer responsibilities, as well as responsibilities to the company, the public and others.

II. Application

This Code is applicable to the following persons (hereinafter referredsto t he A Of fi cer so) :

1. The Companydés principal executive officers;
2 The Companyds principal financial officers;
3. The Companyds principal accounting officer or control

4. Persons performing similar functions.
lll. Code of Ethics:

Each Offcer shall adhere to and advocate the following principles and responsibilities governing professional and ethic
conduct:

1. Act with honesty and integrity, avoiding actual or apparent conflicts of interest in personal and professional relationship
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2. Provide information that is full, fair, accurate, complete, objective, relevant, timely, and understandable to the
Companybés Board of Directors, the Securities and Exch

3. Comply with appicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations.

4. Actin good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence, without misrepresenting material facts or
allowing your independent judgment to be subordinated.

5. Take all reasonable measutegprotect the confidentiality of ngpublic information about the Company acquired in the
course of your work except when authorized or otherwise legally obligated to disclose such information and to not use
such confidential information for personal adtage.

6. Assure responsible use of and control over all assets and resources employed or entrusted to you.
7. Promptly report to the Chairman of the Audit Committee:
a. any information you may have regarding any violation of this Code;

b. any actuabr apparent conflict of interest between personal and/or professional relationships involving
management or any other employee with a role in financial reporting disclosures or internal controls;

c. any information you might have concerning evidence mig#erial violation of the securities or other laws, rules
or regulations applicable to the Company and its operations;

d significant deficiencies in the design or operat:.
ability to record process, summarize or report financial data; or

e. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role i
the Company's financial reporting, disclosures or internal controls.

IV. Reporting Procedre, Process and Accountability

As discussed above, Of ficers shall promptly report a
Committee.
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Reports of violations under this Code received by the Chairman of the Audit Commitiiebeshevestigated by the
Audit Committee. If the Audit Committee finds a violation of this Code, it shall refer the matter to the full Board of Directors.

In the event of a finding that a violation of this Code has occurred, appropriate action gh&brb¢hat is reasonably
designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote accountability for adherence to this Code, and may include written notices to
individual involved of the determination that there has been a violation, censure by the Board, demetassignment of the
individual involved, suspension with or without pay or benefits, and up to and including, if appropriate, termination of the
individual's employment. In determining what action is appropriate in a particular case, the Boardtofjoeche independent
directors of the Board as the case may be) shall take into account all relevant information, including the nature grud geverit
violation, whether the violation was a single occurrence or repeated occurrences, whethelatioa @ppears to have been
intentional or inadvertent, whether the individuals in question had been advised prior to the violation as to the pespef cour
action and whether or not the individual in question had committed other violations in the past.

V. Anonymous Reporting

Any violation of this Code and any violation by the Company or its directors or officers of the securities laws, rules, o
regulations, or other laws, rules, or regulations applicable to the Company may be reported to the Giiaihmasudit
Committee anonymously.

VI. No Retaliation

It is against the Companyébés policy to retaliate in a
Code.

VII. Waiver and Amendment

The Company is committed to continuoustyiewing and updating its policies and procedurBserefore, this Code is
subject to modificatonAny amendment or waiver of any provision of th
Board of Directors and promptly disclosed pursuartgdplicable laws and regulations.

VIII. Acknowledgment Of Receipt Of Code Of Ethics For Principal Executive And Senior Financial Officers

| have received and read the Company's Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial Officers (tt
i @ d e bunderstand the standards and policies contained in the Code and understand that there may be additional policie
laws applicable to my jobl agree to comply with the Code in all respects.
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If I have questions concerning the meaningppligation of the Code, any Company policies, or the legal and regulatory
requirements applicable to my job, | know that | can consult with the Chairman of the Audit Committee, knowing that m
guestions or reports will remain confidential to the fulleserkpossible.

| understand that my agreement to comply with this Code does not constitute a contract of employment.

Officer Name

Signature

Date

Pl ease sign and return t hitbhe Alidt Committee. t he Companyds Chai r m
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Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name
12291 CBW, LLC
Adult Store Buyer Magazine LLC
Bobby's Novelty, Inc.
Broadstreets Cabaret, Inc.
Cabaret North Parking, ¢
Citation Land LLC
ED Publications, Inc.
Global Marketing Agency, Inc.
HD Texas Management, LLC
Hotel Development Texas, Ltd.
lllusions Dallas Private Club, LLC
Joint Ventures, Inc.
Miami GardensSquare One, Inc.
New Spiros, LLC
North IH 35 Investments, Inc.
Peregrine Enterprises, Inc
Pl aymates Gentl emenés
PNC Marketing, Inc.
RCI Billing, Inc.
RCI Dating Services, Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway), Inc.
Rci Dining Services Charlotte
RCI Debit Services, Inc.
RCI Dining Services DFW, Inc.
RCI Dining Services Indiana, Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Inwood), Inc.
RCI Dining Servies MN (4" Street), Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Round Rock), Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Stemmons), Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Stemmons 2), Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Superior Parkway), Inc.
RCI Dining Services (Tarrant Caty), Inc.
RCI (New) Entertainment Fort Worth, Inc.
RCI Entertainment (310535), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (3315 N. Freeway FW), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (Austin), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (Dallas), Inc.

RCI Entertainmat (Fort Worth), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (Media Holdings), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Inc.

RCI Entertainment MN (300 Soutt' Btreet), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (New YojkInc.

RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (North Fort Worth), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Northwest Highway), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (San Am®), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (Texas), Inc.

RCI Holdings, Inc.

RCI Internet Holding, Inc.

RCI Internet Services, Inc.

RCI Leasing LLC

RCI Management Services, Inc.

RCI Wireway, Inc.

Spiros Partners Ltd

SRD Vending Company

Stellar Management, Inc.

Cl

ub
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State of Organization
Texas
Georgia
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Texas
Texas

New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

North Carolina
Texas
Texas
Indiana
Texas

Minnesota
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Nevada
Texas

Minnesota

Minnesota

New York

North Carolina
Texas
Texas

Philadelphia
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida



StorErotica Magazine, Inc.
Tantra Dance, Inc.

Tantra Parking, Inc.
Teeze International, Inc.
Texas S&l, Inc.

TEZ Management, LLC
TEZ Real Estate LP

The End Zone, Inc.

Top Shelf Entertainment LLC
Trumps Inc.

TT Leasing, Inc.

W.K.C., Inc.

XTC Cabaret, Inc.

XTC Cabaret (Dallas), Inc.

Texas
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Texas
Pennsylvania
Pennsylvania
Pennsylvania
North Carolina
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of Rick©oés
1. | have reviewed this annual reporton FormklO of Ri ckds Cabaret I nternational,
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, n
misleading wih respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present i
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations andi@astof the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant'sther certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules1B{a)and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13&(f) and 15€15(f)) for the registrant and have:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and poobedures t
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is beingrppared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the pparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(© Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
conclusions abouhe effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting thadoccurr
during the registrant's most recent fiscal year that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disaobased on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivaleniofusjc

€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report finacial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role i
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 14, 201 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langan
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip K. Mar shall, Chief Financi al Of f inalglrc,, and F
certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporton FormKlO of Ri ckds Cabaret I nternational,
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessarip make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information dniclubis report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant'sther certifying officer and | are respobig for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules1Ba) and 15d.5(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13&(f) and 15€l15(f)) for the registrantd have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiarieis, made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designg under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the efféiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal year that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registratstinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control ove
financial reporting, to the registrant's independent registered public dicapfinm and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial informeon; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role i
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 14, 201 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 1344(b) OR
RULE 15d14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANE®XLEY ACT OF 2002

Inconnection with the annual report of Rick?oéKkfor@aywar et |
endedSeptember 30, 201ds filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Eric S.
Langan, Chief Execime Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, that:

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Excharfge Act o
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 14, 201 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langan
Chief Executie Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 1344(b) OR
RULE 15d14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANE®XLEY ACT OF 2002

I n connection with the an tionah Inc. {the [Company"ooh FoRn 40fartheyed@ a b ar ¢
endedSeptember 30, 201ds filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Phillip K.
Marshall, Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of @mmpany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&nédsy Act of 2002, that:

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: December 14, 201 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Offier/Principal Accounting Officer
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